
�
�

v1�2015�

AGENDA����
�

Meeting� Police�and�Crime�Committee�

Date� Thursday�22�October�2015�

Time� 10.00�am�

Place� Chamber,�City�Hall,�The�Queen's�
Walk,�London,�SE1�2AA�

Copies�of�the�reports�and�any�attachments�may�be�found�at��
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee��
�
Most�meetings�of�the�London�Assembly�and�its�Committees�are�webcast�live�at�
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts�where�you�can�also�view�past�
meetings.�
�
Members�of�the�Committee�
Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair)�
Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair)�
Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair)�
Tony�Arbour�AM�
Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM�

Kemi�Badenoch�AM�
Andrew�Dismore�AM�
Len�Duvall�AM�
Roger�Evans�AM�

�

A�meeting�of�the�Committee�has�been�called�by�the�Chair�of�the�Committee�to�deal�with�the�business�

listed�below.��
Mark�Roberts,�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Wednesday�14�October�2015�
�
Further�Information�
If�you�have�questions,�would�like�further�information�about�the�meeting�or�require�special�facilities�
please�contact:�Joanna�Brown�or�Teresa�Young;�Telephone:�020�7983�6559;��
E-mail:�joanna.brown@london.gov.uk/teresa.young@london.gov.uk;�Minicom:�020�7983�4458�
�
For�media�enquiries�please�contact�Mary�Dolan,�External�Relations�Officer�on�020�7983�4603.���
Email:�mary.dolan@london.gov.uk.��If�you�have�any�questions�about�individual�items�please�contact�
the�author�whose�details�are�at�the�end�of�the�report.��
�
This�meeting�will�be�open�to�the�public,�except�for�where�exempt�information�is�being�discussed�as�
noted�on�the�agenda.��A�guide�for�the�press�and�public�on�attending�and�reporting�meetings�of�local�
government�bodies,�including�the�use�of�film,�photography,�social�media�and�other�means�is�available�
at�www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.��
�
There�is�access�for�disabled�people,�and�induction�loops�are�available.��There�is�limited�underground�
parking�for�orange�and�blue�badge�holders,�which�will�be�allocated�on�a�first-come�first-served�basis.��
Please�contact�Facilities�Management�on�020�7983�4750�in�advance�if�you�require�a�parking�space�or�
further�information.�



�

�
Certificate�Number:�FS�80233�

If�you,�or�someone�you�know,�needs�a�copy�of�the�agenda,�minutes�or�reports�
in�large�print�or�Braille,�audio,�or�in�another�language,�then�please�call�us�on�
020�7983�4100�or�email�assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.���
�

�
�



�

3�
�

Agenda�
Police�and�Crime�Committee�
Thursday�22�October�2015�
�
�

1 Apologies�for�Absence�and�Chair's�Announcements��
�
� To�receive�any�apologies�for�absence�and�any�announcements�from�the�Chair.�

�
�

2 Declarations�of�Interests�(Pages�1�-�4)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:��Joanna�Brown,�joanna.brown@london.gov.uk�and�Teresa�Young,�

teresa.young@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�6559�

�

The�Committee�is�recommended�to:�

�

(a) Note�the�list�of�offices�held�by�Assembly�Members,�as�set�out�in�the�table�at�

Agenda�Item�2,�as�disclosable�pecuniary�interests;�

�

(b) Note�the�declaration�by�any�Member(s)�of�any�disclosable�pecuniary�interests�

in�specific�items�listed�on�the�agenda�and�the�necessary�action�taken�by�the�

Member(s)�regarding�withdrawal�following�such�declaration(s);�and�

�

(c) Note�the�declaration�by�any�Member(s)�of�any�other�interests�deemed�to�be�

relevant�(including�any�interests�arising�from�gifts�and�hospitality�received�

which�are�not�at�the�time�of�the�meeting�reflected�on�the�Authority’s�register�

of�gifts�and�hospitality,�and�noting�also�the�advice�from�the�GLA’s�

Monitoring�Officer�set�out�at�Agenda�Item�2)�and�to�note�any�necessary�

action�taken�by�the�Member(s)�following�such�declaration(s).�
�
�

3 Minutes�(Pages�5�-�60)�
�
� The�Committee�is�recommended�to�confirm�the�minutes�of�the�meeting�of�the�Police�

and�Crime�Committee�held�on�24�September�2015�to�be�signed�by�the�Chair�as�a�

correct�record.�
�

� The�appendix�to�the�minutes�set�out�on�pages�11�to�60�is�attached�for�Members�and�officers�

only�but�is�available�from�the�following�area�of�the�GLA’s�website:�www.london.gov.uk/mayor-

assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee�
�
�

� �
�
�



�

4�
�

4 Summary�List�of�Actions�(Pages�61�-�66)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:�Joanna�Brown,�Joanna.brown@london.gov.uk�and�Teresa�Young,�

teresa.young@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�6559�

�

The�Committee�is�recommended�to�note�the�outstanding�actions�arising�from�

previous�meetings�of�the�Committee,�as�listed�in�the�report.�
�
�

5 Question�and�Answer�Session�with�the�Mayor's�Office�for�Policing�and�
Crime�and�the�Metropolitan�Police�Service�(Pages�67�-�88)�

�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:�Matt�Bailey,�matt.bailey@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4014�

�

The�Committee�is�recommended�to:�

�

(a) Note,�as�background�to�the�question�and�answer�session�with�the�Deputy�

Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime�and�the�Metropolitan�Police�Service,�the�

monthly�report�from�MOPAC�attached�at�Appendix�1;��

�

(b) Note,�as�background�to�the�question�answer�session�with�the�Deputy�Mayor�

for�Police�and�Crime�and�the�Metropolitan�Police�Service,�a�summary�table�

(attached�at�Appendix�2)�setting�out�the�impact�of�the�recommendations�in�

the�Committee’s�report,�Tightening�the�Net;�and�

�

(c) Note�the�report�and�answers�given�by�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�

Crime�and�the�Metropolitan�Police�Service�to�the�questions�asked�by�

Members.�
�
�

6 Police�and�Crime�Committee�Work�Programme�(Pages�89�-�92)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:�Janette�Roker,�janette.rokr@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�6562�

�

The�Committee�is�recommended�to�note�the�work�programme,�as�set�out�at�

paragraph�4.1�of�the�report.�
�
�

7 Date�of�Next�Meeting��
�
� The�next�meeting�of�the�Committee�is�scheduled�for�Thursday,�12�November�2015�at�10.00�

am�in�the�Chamber,�City�Hall.�
�
�



�

5�
�

8 Any�Other�Business�the�Chair�Considers�Urgent��
�
�
�



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk
 
 v7/2015�

 

Subject:�Declarations
of
Interests�


Report
to:
 Police
and
Crime
Committee




Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat 



Date:
22
October
2015�



This
report
will
be
considered
in
public

 





1.
 Summary



�
1.1 This�report�sets�out�details�of�offices�held�by�Assembly�Members�for�noting�as�disclosable�pecuniary�

interests�and�requires�additional�relevant�declarations�relating�to�disclosable�pecuniary�interests,�and�

gifts�and�hospitality�to�be�made.�




2.
 Recommendations
�


2.1 That
the
list
of
offices
held
by
Assembly
Members,
as
set
out
in
the
table
below,
be
noted


as
disclosable
pecuniary
interests1;


2.2 That
the
declaration
by
any
Member(s)
of
any
disclosable
pecuniary
interests
in
specific

items
listed
on
the
agenda
and
the
necessary
action
taken
by
the
Member(s)
regarding


withdrawal
following
such
declaration(s)
be
noted;
and


2.3 That
the
declaration
by
any
Member(s)
of
any
other
interests
deemed
to
be
relevant

(including
any
interests
arising
from
gifts
and
hospitality
received
which
are
not
at
the


time
of
the
meeting
reflected
on
the
Authority’s
register
of
gifts
and
hospitality,
and


noting
also
the
advice
from
the
GLA’s
Monitoring
Officer
set
out
at
below)
and
any

necessary
action
taken
by
the
Member(s)
following
such
declaration(s)
be
noted.




3.
 Issues
for
Consideration�

�
3.1 Relevant�offices�held�by�Assembly�Members�are�listed�in�the�table�overleaf:�

                                                 
1�The�Monitoring�Officer�advises�that: Paragraph�10�of�the�Code�of�Conduct�will�only�preclude�a�Member�from�
participating�in�any�matter�to�be�considered�or�being�considered�at,�for�example,�a�meeting�of�the�Assembly,�
where�the�Member�has�a�direct�Disclosable�Pecuniary�Interest�in�that�particular�matter.�The�effect�of�this�is�
that�the�‘matter�to�be�considered,�or�being�considered’�must�be�about�the�Member’s�interest.�So,�by�way�of�
example,�if�an�Assembly�Member�is�also�a�councillor�of�London�Borough�X,�that�Assembly�Member�will�be�
precluded�from�participating�in�an�Assembly�meeting�where�the�Assembly�is�to�consider�a�matter�about�the�
Member’s�role�/�employment�as�a�councillor�of�London�Borough�X;�the�Member�will�not�be�precluded�from�
participating�in�a�meeting�where�the�Assembly�is�to�consider�a�matter�about�an�activity�or�decision�of�London�
Borough�X. 

�

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



        

�
 

Member
 Interest

Tony�Arbour�AM� Member,�LFEPA;�Member,�LB�Richmond�
Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM� Committee�of�the�Regions��
Gareth�Bacon�AM� Chairman�of�LFEPA;�Chairman�of�the�London�Local�

Resilience�Forum;�Member,�LB�Bexley�
Kemi�Badenoch�AM� �
Mayor�John�Biggs�AM� Mayor�of�Tower�Hamlets�(LB);�Member,�LLDC�Board�
Andrew�Boff�AM� Member,�LFEPA;�Congress�of�Local�and�Regional�

Authorities�(Council�of�Europe)�
James�Cleverly�AM�MP� Member�of�Parliament�
Tom�Copley�AM� Member,�LFEPA�
Andrew�Dismore�AM� Member,�LFEPA�
Len�Duvall�AM� �
Roger�Evans�AM� Deputy�Mayor;�Committee�of�the�Regions;�Trust�for�

London�(Trustee)�
Nicky�Gavron�AM� �
Darren�Johnson�AM� Member,�LFEPA�
Jenny�Jones�AM� Member,�House�of�Lords�
Stephen�Knight�AM� Member,�LFEPA;�Member,�LB�Richmond�
Kit�Malthouse�AM�MP� Member�of�Parliament�
Joanne�McCartney�AM� �
Steve�O’Connell�AM� Member,�LB�Croydon;�MOPAC�Non-Executive�Adviser�for�

Neighbourhoods�
Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM� �
Murad�Qureshi�AM� Congress�of�Local�and�Regional�Authorities�(Council�of�

Europe)�
Dr�Onkar�Sahota�AM� �
Navin�Shah�AM� �
Valerie�Shawcross�CBE�AM� �
Richard�Tracey�AM� Chairman�of�the�London�Waste�and�Recycling�Board;�

Mayor's�Ambassador�for�River�Transport������
Fiona�Twycross�AM� Member,�LFEPA�

 

[Note:�LB�-�London�Borough;�LFEPA�-�London�Fire�and�Emergency�Planning�Authority;��
LLDC�–�London�Legacy�Development�Corporation;�MOPAC�–�Mayor’s�Office�for�Policing�and�Crime]�

�
3.2 Paragraph�10�of�the�GLA’s�Code�of�Conduct,�which�reflects�the�relevant�provisions�of�the�Localism�

Act�2011,�provides�that:��
�

- where�an�Assembly�Member�has�a�Disclosable�Pecuniary�Interest�in�any�matter�to�be�considered�
or�being�considered�or�at��

�

(i)� a�meeting�of�the�Assembly�and�any�of�its�committees�or�sub-committees;�or��
�

(ii)� any�formal�meeting�held�by�the�Mayor�in�connection�with�the�exercise�of�the�Authority’s�
functions��

�

- they�must�disclose�that�interest�to�the�meeting�(or,�if�it�is�a�sensitive�interest,�disclose�the�fact�
that�they�have�a�sensitive�interest�to�the�meeting);�and��

�

-� must�not�(i)�participate,�or�participate�any�further,�in�any�discussion�of�the�matter�at�the�
meeting;�or�(ii)�participate�in�any�vote,�or�further�vote,�taken�on�the�matter�at�the�meeting�

�

UNLESS�

Page 2



        

�

-� they�have�obtained�a�dispensation�from�the�GLA’s�Monitoring�Officer�(in�accordance�with�
section�2�of�the�Procedure�for�registration�and�declarations�of�interests,�gifts�and�hospitality�–�
Appendix�5�to�the�Code).����

�

3.3 Failure�to�comply�with�the�above�requirements,�without�reasonable�excuse,�is�a�criminal�offence;�as�is�
knowingly�or�recklessly�providing�information�about�your�interests�that�is�false�or�misleading.�

3.4 In�addition,�the�Monitoring�Officer�has�advised�Assembly�Members�to�continue�to�apply�the�test�that�

was�previously�applied�to�help�determine�whether�a�pecuniary�/�prejudicial�interest�was�arising�-�
namely,�that�Members�rely�on�a�reasonable�estimation�of�whether�a�member�of�the�public,�with�

knowledge�of�the�relevant�facts,�could,�with�justification,�regard�the�matter�as�so�significant�that�it�

would�be�likely�to�prejudice�the�Member’s�judgement�of�the�public�interest.��

3.5 Members�should�then�exercise�their�judgement�as�to�whether�or�not,�in�view�of�their�interests�and�

the�interests�of�others�close�to�them,�they�should�participate�in�any�given�discussions�and/or�

decisions�business�of�within�and�by�the�GLA.�It�remains�the�responsibility�of�individual�Members�to�
make�further�declarations�about�their�actual�or�apparent�interests�at�formal�meetings�noting�also�

that�a�Member’s�failure�to�disclose�relevant�interest(s)�has�become�a�potential�criminal�offence.�

3.6 Members�are�also�required,�where�considering�a�matter�which�relates�to�or�is�likely�to�affect�a�person�
from�whom�they�have�received�a�gift�or�hospitality�with�an�estimated�value�of�at�least�£25�within�the�

previous�three�years�or�from�the�date�of�election�to�the�London�Assembly,�whichever�is�the�later,�to�

disclose�the�existence�and�nature�of�that�interest�at�any�meeting�of�the�Authority�which�they�attend�
at�which�that�business�is�considered.��

3.7 The�obligation�to�declare�any�gift�or�hospitality�at�a�meeting�is�discharged,�subject�to�the�proviso�set�

out�below,�by�registering�gifts�and�hospitality�received�on�the�Authority’s�on-line�database.�The�on-
line�database�may�be�viewed�here:��

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.��

3.8 If�any�gift�or�hospitality�received�by�a�Member�is�not�set�out�on�the�on-line�database�at�the�time�of�
the�meeting,�and�under�consideration�is�a�matter�which�relates�to�or�is�likely�to�affect�a�person�from�

whom�a�Member�has�received�a�gift�or�hospitality�with�an�estimated�value�of�at�least�£25,�Members�

are�asked�to�disclose�these�at�the�meeting,�either�at�the�declarations�of�interest�agenda�item�or�when�
the�interest�becomes�apparent.��

3.9 It�is�for�Members�to�decide,�in�light�of�the�particular�circumstances,�whether�their�receipt�of�a�gift�or�

hospitality,�could,�on�a�reasonable�estimation�of�a�member�of�the�public�with�knowledge�of�the�
relevant�facts,�with�justification,�be�regarded�as�so�significant�that�it�would�be�likely�to�prejudice�the�

Member’s�judgement�of�the�public�interest.�Where�receipt�of�a�gift�or�hospitality�could�be�so�

regarded,�the�Member�must�exercise�their�judgement�as�to�whether�or�not,�they�should�participate�in�
any�given�discussions�and/or�decisions�business�of�within�and�by�the�GLA.�

�

4.
 Legal
Implications




4.1 The�legal�implications�are�as�set�out�in�the�body�of�this�report.�



5.
 Financial
Implications

�

5.1 There�are�no�financial�implications�arising�directly�from�this�report.�

Page 3



        

�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�None�

Contact�Officer:� Joanna�Brown�and�Teresa�Young,�Senior�Committee�Officers�

Telephone:� 020�7983�6559�
E-mail:� joanna.brown@london.gov.uk�and�teresa.young@london.gov.uk��

�

Page 4



�
�

�
�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk�

MINUTES


�

Meeting:
 Police
and
Crime
Committee

Date:
 Thursday
24
September
2015

Time:
 10.00
am

Place:
 Chamber,
City
Hall,
The
Queen's


Walk,
London,
SE1
2AA

�
Copies�of�the�minutes�may�be�found�at:


http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee�





�
Present:

�
Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair)�
Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair)�
Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair)�
Tony�Arbour�AM�
Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM�
Kemi�Badenoch�AM�
Andrew�Dismore�AM�
Len�Duvall�AM�
Roger�Evans�AM�
�
�

1 Apologies
for
Absence
and
Chair's
Announcements
(Item
1)�



1.1 There�were�no�apologies�for�absence.�

�

1.2� The�Chair�welcomed�Kemi�Badenoch�AM�to�her�first�meeting�of�the�Police�and�Crime�

Committee.�





2 Membership
of
the
Committee
(Item
2)�




2.1� Resolved:





(a) That,
further
to
the
decisions
on
committee
memberships
agreed
by
the


London
Assembly
at
its
Extraordinary
Plenary
Meeting
on
16
September
2015,


Agenda Item 3

Page 5



Greater
London
Authority

Police
and
Crime
Committee

Thursday
24
September
2015


�

�
�

the
appointment
of
Kemi
Badenoch
AM
as
a
Member
of
the
Committee,
be


noted.







(b) That
it
be
noted
that
the
Membership
of
the
Committee
is
now
as
follows:





Joanne
McCartney
AM
(Chair);


Jenny
Jones
AM
(Deputy
Chair);


Caroline
Pidgeon
MBE
AM
(Deputy
Chair);


Tony
Arbour
AM;


Jennette
Arnold
OBE
AM;


Kemi
Badenoch
AM;


Andrew
Dismore
AM;


Len
Duvall
AM;
and


Roger
Evans
AM.






3 Declarations
of
Interests
(Item
3)�




3.1� Resolved:





(a) That
the
list
of
offices
held
by
Assembly
Members,
as
set
out
in
the
table
at


Agenda
Item
3,
be
noted
as
disclosable
pecuniary
interests.






(b) That
Andrew
Dismore
AM’s
declaration
of
a
non-pecuniary
interest
in


relation
to
Agenda
Item
6
(Question
and
Answer
Session
with
the
Mayor’s


Office
for
Policing
and
Crime
and
the
Metropolitan
Police
Service),
and
in


particular
the
discussion
relating
to
the
Notting
Hill
Carnival,
be
noted.







4 Summary
List
of
Actions
(Item
4)�




4.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�

4.2� Resolved:�

�

That
the
outstanding
and
completed
actions
arising
from
previous
meetings
of
the


Committee,
as
listed
in
the
report,
be
noted.
�





�
�
�

Page 6



Greater
London
Authority

Police
and
Crime
Committee

Thursday
24
September
2015


�

�
�

5 Action
Taken
by
the
Chair
Under
Delegated
Authority
(Item
5)�



5.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�



5.2� Resolved:


�

That
the
recent
action
taken
by
the
Chair
of
the
Police
and
Crime
Committee,


Joanne
McCartney
AM,

under
delegated
authority,
in
consultation
with
the
party


Group
Lead
Members,
be
noted
as
follows:





(a) To
agree
the
terms
of
reference
and
scope
for
the
Committee’s
investigation


into
transport
crime;
and





(b) To
agree
a
response
to
the
Home
Office
Consultation
on
reform
of
police


funding
arrangements
in
England
and
Wales
by
the
deadline
of
15
September


2015.





5.3� Following�the�conclusion�of�this�item,�the�Chair�stated�that�in�accordance�with�Standing�

Order�2.2D�and�with�the�consent�of�the�Committee,�she�would�take�the�remainder�of�the�

agenda�in�a�different�order�to�that�set�out�on�the�agenda.�





6 Police
and
Crime
Committee
Work
Programme
(Item
7)�




6.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�

6.2� Resolved:





That
the
work
programme
as
set
out
in
paragraph
4.1
of
the
report,
be
noted.






7 Date
of
Next
Meeting
(Item
8)�




7.1� The�date�of�the�next�meeting�was�scheduled�for�Thursday,�8�October�2015�at�2pm�in�the�

Chamber,�City�Hall.�





�
�
�

Page 7



Greater
London
Authority

Police
and
Crime
Committee

Thursday
24
September
2015


�

�
�

8 Any
Other
Business
the
Chair
Considers
Urgent
(Item
9)�



8.1� There�was�no�other�business�the�Chair�considered�urgent.�





9 Question
and
Answer
Session
with
the
Mayor's
Office
for
Policing
and


Crime
and
the
Metropolitan
Police
Service
(Item
6)�



9.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat,�as�background�to�

the�question�and�answer�session�with�the�Mayor’s�Office�for�Policing�and�Crime�(MOPAC)�

and�the�Metropolitan�Police�service�(MPS).�

�

9.2� The�Chair�welcomed�Stephen�Greenhalgh,�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime,�Sir�

Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM,�Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis,�and�Craig�

Mackey�QPM,�Deputy�Commissioner,�MPS,�to�the�meeting.�

�

9.3� A�transcript�of�the�discussion�is�attached�at�Appendix
1.�

�

9.4� During�the�discussion,�the�Commissioner,�MPS,�undertook�to�provide�the�Committee�with:�

• An�update�on�the�shortfall�in�the�budget�of�£1.6�million�related�to�transport�policing;�

and�

• An�analysis�of�how�the�various�strands�of�Operation�Omega�contributed�to�tackling�

violence.�

�

9.5� During�the�discussion�on�the�future�funding�of�the�MPS,�the�Commissioner,�MPS,�proposed�

that�the�Committee�meet�informally�with�him�and�the�Deputy�Commissioner�to�receive�a�

briefing�on�the�options�that�the�MPS�was�considering�to�deal�with�a�potential�reduction�in�its�

future�funding.�

�

9.6� The�Commissioner�and�Deputy�Commissioner,�MPS,�left�the�meeting�at�12.15pm�and�the�

Chair�thanked�them�for�their�attendance�and�contributions�to�the�discussion.�

�

9.7� During�the�discussion,�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime�undertook�to:�

• Find�out�and�inform�the�Committee�as�to�why�the�Community�Development�

Foundation�had�been�engaged�to�support�boroughs�on�implementing�Shield;��

• Provide�the�Committee�with�the�number�of�Safer�Neighbourhood�Boards�(SNBs)�that�

had�bank�accounts;��

• Examine�and�report�back�to�the�Committee�on�the�issues�raised�regarding:�(a)�the�

level�of�core�funding�for�SNBs;�and�the�difficulties�SNBs�had�experienced�in�accessing�

available�funding;�and�

• Report�back�to�the�Committee�about�the�reasons�for�the�collective�enforcement�

undertaken�in�Lambeth.��

Page 8



Greater
London
Authority

Police
and
Crime
Committee

Thursday
24
September
2015


�

�
�

�

9.8� Resolved:





(a) That
the
report
and
discussion
be
noted.





(b) That
the
Chair
writes
to
the
guests
requesting
the
follow-up
action,
as


outlined
above.






10 Close
of
Meeting
�




10.1� The�meeting�ended�at�12.37pm.�





�
�
�
�
� � � �
Chair� � Date�
�
Contact
Officer:
 Joanna�Brown�or�Teresa�Young;�Telephone:�020�7983�6559;��

E-mail:�joanna.brown@london.gov.uk/teresa.young@london.gov.uk;��
Minicom:�020�7983�4458�

�

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Appendix 1 
�

Police�and�Crime�Committee�–�24�September�2015�
Transcript�of�Agenda�Item�6�-�Question�and�Answer�Session�with�the�Deputy�Mayor�

for�Policing�and�Crime,�Commissioner�and�Deputy�Commissioner�of�the�
Metropolitan�Police�Service�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��We�are�going�to�start�today�by�talking�about�the�thorny�problem�of�police�

funding.��Grey�clouds�seem�to�be�gathering�apace�over�this�issue�at�the�moment.�

�

Perhaps�I�can�start�the�questioning�to�the�Commissioner,�if�I�may.��It�is�the�Comprehensive�Spending�Review�

(CSR)�I�am�going�to�be�asking�about�first�of�all.��With�the�spending�review�less�than�two�months�away,�how�are�

you�fighting�the�Metropolitan�Police�Service’s�(MPS)�corner,�as�you�have�said�that�you�will�be�doing,�in�respect�

of�potential�funding�reductions?��You�have�previously�said�that�you�estimated�that�a�further�£800�million�

would�be�taken�from�the�police�grant.��Do�you�believe�that�is�still�an�accurate�estimate?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��First�of�all,�Chair,�I�just�

wondered�if�it�might�be�helpful�very�briefly�to�set�out�how�our�funding�is�done�broadly�-�and�I�know�many�

Members�are�previous�members�of�the�[Metropolitan�Police]�Authority�(MPA)�-�just�to�set�out�where�we�start�

from.�

�

Broadly,�about�62%�or�approaching�two-thirds�of�our�funding�comes�from�grant.��Precept�locally�and�taxation�

is�about�18%.��We�have�an�add-on�because�we�have�national�work�and�we�are�the�capital�city�-�things�happen�

here�that�do�not�happen�in�the�rest�of�the�country�-�which�is�called�NICC�[National,�International�Capital�City�

grant].��I�will�not�bore�you�with�what�it�means,�but�the�broad�idea�is�that�it�is�about�6%�of�our�funding.��We�get�

11%�of�the�budget�for�counterterrorism�(CT),�which�includes�protective�work.��We�get�CT�officers�who�go�out�

and�try�to�stop�terrorism�and�then�we�have�officers�who�are�dedicated�to�protecting�either�people�or�places.��

Finally,�we�have�separate�streams�of�funding�like,�for�example,�Transport�for�London�(TfL),�which�is�a�very�big�

contract�under�which�we�get�paid�to,�obviously,�keep�the�buses�safe.��There�are�some�other�bits�and�pieces,�but�

they�are�the�big�numbers.�

�

Broadly,�there�are�three�elements�of�that�under�threat�at�the�moment.��One�is�around�the�grant.��In�the�first�

sense,�the�CSR�is�setting�out�what�will�happen�over�the�next�four�years.�

�

Secondly,�this�year�the�Home�Office�also�wants�to�address�the�issue�of�the�funding�formula�and,�regardless�of�

what�that�grant�is,�how�it�will�allocate�it�around�the�country.��Our�concern�has�been�over�these�last�few�months�

that�in�fact�we�will�suffer�badly�as�a�result�of�that�as�well�because�it�still�looks�as�though�there�is�a�potential�for�

moving�money�from�cities�to�more�rural�areas.��Of�course,�we�are�the�biggest�city�and�so�the�risk�is�that�we�lose�

the�most.��We�are�worried�that�if�you�do�that�at�the�same�time�as�you�reduce�the�grant,�the�joint�effect�gets�

worse.�

�

Then�the�third�area�is�around�this�NICC�payment.��Other�places,�because�they�are�suffering�the�same�

consequences,�are�starting�to�eye�the�NICC�payment�with�glee.��Apparently,�Manchester�believes�that�it�is�part�

of�the�capital;�the�City�of�London�definitely�does,�and�Cardiff,�etc.��People�are�saying,�“We�are�under�pressure�

around�money.��Why�can�we�not�have�some�of�this�money,�which�seems�to�regard�things�as�a�nationally�

significant,�different,�unique�area?”��Those�three�things�together�are�worrying.�

�

The�£800�million�that�we�are�talking�about�is�only�about�the�grant.��We�have�been�asked�to�model,�as�the�rest�

of�the�Home�Office�has,�two�broad�options:�a�25%�reduction�or�a�40%�reduction.��The�25%�is�the�£800�million�

Page 11



 

 

and�I�am�going�to�explain�very�briefly�that�that�is�not�all�cash.��I�will�be�very�open�about�that.��Then�the�40%,�

obviously,�is�quite�a�bit�more.�

�

Bear�in�mind�that�we�have�already�taken�out�15%�of�grant�already.��We�say�that�adds�up�to�about�£540�million�

to�£600�million,�depending�how�you�count�it.��We�have�already�made�those�savings;�yet�we�are�the�only�force�

in�the�country�that�has�kept�our�police�officer�numbers�high.��Everybody�else�has�dropped�their�numbers�with�

the�existing�cuts�we�have�had.��This�is�over�and�above�that.�

�

The�25%,�which�we�say�is�about�£800�million�if�it�is�only�25%,�is�made�up�of�cash�of�around�£400�million�and�

then�we�have�other�things�we�have�to�pay�whether�we�want�to�or�not.��We�have�inflation�on�pay,�which�is�

about�another�£100�million.��We�have�inflation�on�non-pay,�which�is�about�£40�million.��There�is�a�pension�

issue,�which�I�will�not�bore�you�with�and�I�would�probably�get�confused�about,�but�the�fundamentals�are�that�

we�have�to�pay�more�through�National�Insurance�as�the�employer�for�pensions,�of�around�£50�million.��We�

have�to�put�some�contingency�in�there�of�about�a�further�£100�million�for�anything�we�cannot�predict.��You�

might�say�that�£100�million�is�a�lot�and�we�have�to�discuss�what�we�should�put�into�contingency,�but�out�of�a�

£3�billion�budget�we�need�some�in�an�emergency�service.��You�can�always�argue�about�that�quite�a�lot.��There�

are�further�things�we�have�to�look�at�like�reserves.��Therefore,�it�is�something�in�the�order�of�£800�million.�

�

If�it�is�a�40%�cut,�then�the�cash�change�goes�from�£400�million�to�£613�million�and�correspondingly�the�overall�

amount�goes�nearer�to�£1�billion.��That�is�what�underpins�that�number�that�we�have�talked�about.�

�

Of�course,�the�difficulty�at�the�moment�is�that�we�do�not�know�until�December�whether�that�is�£800�million�or�

£1�billion.��We�believe�it�should�be�far�less.��Over�and�above�that,�there�is�the�potential�for�cuts�as�a�result�of�

the�funding�formula�change�and�any�reductions�that�might�happen�as�a�result�of�any�changes�in�NICC.��It�is�the�

compound�effect�that�is�worrying�because�we�do�have�some�plans�and�we�may�end�up�discussing�it�today.��I�

say�‘plans’;�we�have�options�as�to�how�to�make�savings,�but�with�that�scale�of�saving�none�of�them�are�

attractive.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��No:�I�do�not�envy�your�position.��It�is�going�to�be�extremely�difficult�for�

whoever�is�in�the�mayoralty�as�well�next�May.�

�

Then,�together,�both�in�the�MPS�and�in�the�Mayor’s�Office�for�Policing�and�Crime�(MOPAC),�what�

representations�are�you�making�to�the�Government�and�do�you�think�they�are�actually�meeting�with�any�

success?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��First�of�all,�I�am�sure�the�

Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime�will�talk�about�the�political�side,�but�from�the�policing�side�we�are�doing�

it�together�because,�obviously,�as�you�say,�it�is�not�a�partisan�thing.��It�is�that�we�want�to�keep�London�safe.�

�

We�are�working�with�the�civil�servants�in�the�Home�Office�to�understand�what�is�possible.��Of�course,�they�have�

to�articulate�back�to�HM�Treasury�what�we�and�they�say�is�the�impact�of�these�various�cuts�if�they�are�made.��

We�are�working�with�them�to�explain�what�will�happen.��Equally,�they�will�challenge�us�about�whether�or�not�

what�we�say�is�accurate.��There�is�that�process�going�on.��We�are�challenging�them�about�the�funding�formula.��

One,�should�it�happen�at�all�this�year?��Two,�if�it�does�happen,�we�should�mitigate�the�effects�and�we�should�

see�what�we�think�could�be�some�very�big�swings�in�that�money.��Finally,�whatever�that�outcome�is,�even�if�

they�introduce�it,�they�should�not�do�it�in�one�year;�they�should�mitigate�it�over�a�period�of�years.�

�

Page 12



 

 

Assembly�Members�who�were�on�the�MPA�will�remember�that�there�was�a�change�in�the�funding�formula�

probably�15�or�20�years�ago�and�we�never�actually�got�to�the�new�settlement�because�over�the�years�it�was�

buffered.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��Yes,�because�of�the�damping�effect.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Therefore,�one�part�of�our�

argument�is�that�whatever�you�decide�to�do�-�and�there�are�some�difficult�decisions�for�everybody�to�make�

here�-�it�should�take�a�longer�term.��Certainly,�it�should�not�happen�in�the�short�term.��Of�course,�with�the�

grant,�we�have�tried�to�plan�it�out�as�though�it�is�a�glide,�but�it�is�entirely�possible�that�they�will�take�money�

out�earlier�rather�than�later.��These�are�things�that,�for�everybody�concerned,�are�real�concerns.��We�are�

arguing�-�no,�I�will�not�say�we�are�arguing;�we�are�debating�frankly�-�with�the�Home�Office�about�what�is�going�

to�happen.��In�turn,�they�are�debating�-�or�arguing�-�with�HM�Treasury�about�what�this�will�mean.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��The�objective�for�all�of�us�is�to�secure�the�

very�best�deal�for�London�and�the�real�concern�about�this�particular�settlement�is�the�triple�effect�of�a�

reduction�in�the�police�grant�as�well�as�a�review�of�the�funding�formula.��The�change�in�pensions�is�very�

significant�as�well.��Because�of�the�overall�modelling�to�£800�million,�£200�million�of�that�is�the�change�in�the�

National�Insurance�contribution.��There�are�the�three�of�those�together.�

�

The�other�issue�will�be�the�phasing�of�the�cuts�as�well.��The�problem�we�have�at�today’s�Committee�is�that�we�

do�not�know�the�final�position�on�any�of�those�elements.��However,�certainly�the�representations�need�to�be�

made�in�the�order�that�they�come�before�us.�

�

On�the�funding�formula,�there�has�been�a�formal�letter�from�the�Mayor�to�the�Home�Secretary1.��I�have�

certainly�lobbied�HM�Treasury�and�the�Chief�Secretary�[to�the�Treasury,�Greg�Hands�MP]�that�I�did�not�feel�it�

was�sensible�to�change�the�funding�formula�at�the�same�time�as�reducing�the�police�grant.��It�is�fair�to�say�that�

all�Government�departments�that�are�not�protected�are�modelling�25%�and�40%�and�so�there�is�no�difference�

between�the�Home�Office�and�other�departments�in�Whitehall.��However,�it�is�the�combination�of�the�three�

things�together�that�is�particularly�concerning�because�the�funding�formula�seems�to�have�a�set�of�indicators�

that�will�move�resources�away�from�cities�to�more�rural�areas.��The�Mayor�met�with�Tony�Lloyd�[Police�and�

Crime�Commissioner�for�Greater�Manchester]�and�me�very�recently�and,�clearly,�cities�are�the�engines�of�the�

economy�and�we�need�to�make�sure�that�our�cities�are�not�short-changed�in�any�formula�review.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��Thank�you.��With�regard�to�the�NICC�grant,�I�believe�that�makes�up�about�

5.5%�of�total�police�funding,�but�we�do�know�that�that,�from�last�year,�has�to�be�bid�for�annually�now.��Is�that�

correct?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Yes.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��I�know�the�paper�talks�about�perhaps�enhancing�that,�but�given�that�it�is�a�

one-yearly�bidding�process,�even�if�that�happens,�it�does�not�allow�for�great�planning,�does�it?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�am�sure�Craig�[Mackey]�

will�add,�but�you�have�hit�one�of�the�nails�on�the�head,�which�is�that�if�you�are�trying�to�plan�a�four-year�

budget�and�you�are�trying�to�employ�people,�you�cannot�employ�people�if�you�think�that�the�money�is�variable.��

It�is�really�quite�hard.��

                                                 
1�Mayor’s�response�to�Home�Office�consultation�on�police�funding,�dated�15�September�2015.�

Page 13



 

 

Craig�Mackey�QPM�(Deputy�Commissioner,�Metropolitan�Police�Service):��It�also�has�specific�things�you�

can�spend�it�against.��One�of�the�risks�for�the�future�is�that�your�general�grant�that�funds�wider�policing�shrinks�

and�the�bits�that�become�ring-fenced�grow.��Just�to�manage�that�collectively�is�far�more�challenging.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��I�can�see�there�is�going�to�be�a�lot�of�discussion.��We�have�seen�this�letter�

from�the�Mayor,�which�is�very�tough,�and�personally�I�am�very�supportive�of�it.��Presumably,�you�have�written�

to�the�Home�Office�and�made�strong�arguments?��Have�you�made�clear�any�reservations�about�the�

consultation�itself?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Yes.��To�be�fair,�what�has�

happened�up�until�now�is�that,�first�of�all,�it�is�not�only�the�MPS�and�the�Police�and�Crime�Commissioners�

(PCCs)�around�the�country�and�the�Deputy�Mayors�who�are�concerned�about�it�in�London;�it�is�also�around�the�

country�and�those�representations�have�been�made.�

�

To�be�fair�to�the�Home�Office,�it�has�reopened�the�consultation�and�so�there�is�now�a�process.��I�am�not�sure�

when�it�will�conclude;�I�think�within�the�next�few�weeks.��It�has�accepted�that�it�has�not�taken�long�enough�

around�that�process�because�it�is�complex.��Clearly,�equally,�if�we�try�to�be�fair�to�the�Home�Office,�it�is�trying�

to�get�the�budget�arranged�for�next�year�and�there�is�a�short�period�of�time�for�it�to�do�that.��However,�we�

argued�that�because�of�the�grant�cut�and�the�funding�formula,�it�has�to�be�done�properly�because�we�could�

collectively�regret�that�decision�if�it�is�wrong.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Can�I�go�back�to�the�NICC?��My�impression�was�that�you�get�top-ups�

from�time�to�time�if�the�Government�asks�you�to�do�something�extra�like�the�Madeleine�McCann�[missing�

British�girl]�case.��Is�that�right?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Yes,�although�that�was�a�

bit�of�a�one-off.��We�might�be�able�to�find�in�the�history�of�the�MPS�a�few�of�those,�but�that�was�fairly�

unusual.��As�you�know,�we�can�make�a�bid�for�a�special�grant,�but�it�is�usually�if�the�problem�exceeds�about�1%�

of�the�budget�and�1%�for�us�is�still�a�very�large�amount�of�money.��Generally,�the�Government�expects�you�to�

work�within�what�you�have.��You�have�reserves�and�you�have�to�flex�around.��The�Madeleine�McCann�case�was�

quite�unusual�because�the�Prime�Minister�made�a�very�clear�commitment�and�that�has�been�funded,�but�

generally�you�have�to�do�with�what�you�have.��I�am�trying�to�think�of�a�good�example�where�we�have�had�a�

successful�bid�for�a�special�grant.��I�cannot�think�of�one�within�this�last�four�years�but�we�have�in�the�past.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��For�example,�protection�is�one�of�the�things,�protection�of�ex-prime�

ministers�and�things�like�that,�which�is�at�the�moment�a�rather�quickly�increasing�potential�number.��Is�that�all�

ring-fenced�or�do�you�--�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��It�is�ring-fenced�but�two�

things�are�happening,�as�you�have�indicated,�as�the�threat�level�has�risen.��One�of�the�consequences�of�the�

threat�level�being�raised�-�if�you�remember�from�about�a�year�ago�now�-�is�that�the�number�of�people�on�the�

list�to�be�protected�and�how�much�they�are�protected�has�moved.��To�be�fair,�although�some�of�that�money�

around�CT�and�around�protection�has�reduced,�it�has�been�better�protected�than�our�general�grant.��While�the�

grant�was�cut�by�15%�over�the�last�three�or�four�years,�CT�was�cut�by�only�7%,�about�half�of�the�reduction.��In�

between,�we�have�been�making�comments�about,�“If�you�keep�adding�to�the�list�of�people�to�be�protected,�we�

are�not�going�to�take�officers�from�Croydon�to�do�that”.��We�are�in�constant�debates�about�that.�

�

The�trouble�is�that�some�of�these�things�change�in-year.��I�will�not�go�through�some�of�the�detail�but,�over�the�

last�four�to�eight�weeks,�there�have�been�political�and�other�issues�happening�and�we�have�had�to�change�that�

Page 14



 

 

list.��We�can�be�flexible�around�overtime�a�bit.��We�ask�officers�to�work�longer.��However,�the�hours�that�people�

are�working�there�are�getting�pretty�difficult.��It�is�financially�rewarding�for�them,�but�it�is�probably�not�sensible�

to�be�at�work�for�that�long.��We�are�in�constant�dialogue�about�trying�to�get�that�right.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��I�should�just�say�that�we�have�had�sight�of�your�letters�to�the�Home�Office�

on�the�consultation�and,�as�a�Committee,�we�have�also�sent�one�in�similar�terms.2�

�

Craig�Mackey�QPM�(Deputy�Commissioner,�Metropolitan�Police�Service):��Thank�you.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��What�we�found�particularly�worrying�was�the�fact�that�the�Home�Office�was�

consulting�on�a�police�formula�without�giving�any�of�the�information�or�the�figures�behind�it.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��There�was�no�exemplification.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��We�thought�it�was�quite�disingenuous,�actually,�to�have�a�consultation�

where�you�were�not�told�what�the�impact�of�a�new�formula�would�be.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Yes.��I�suppose�they�would�

argue�and�we�sometimes�do�because�people�say,�“How�do�you�get�a�formula�for�how�many�officers�you�get?��

What’s�the�formula?”��If�you�debate�it�and�say�to�somebody,�“If�we�include�this�factor,�you�take�50�officers�

away”,�they�often�say,�“That�is�a�stupid�thing�to�do”,�whereas�if�you�debate�it�objectively�before�you�know�the�

consequences,�you�get�a�fairer�discussion.��However,�generally,�you�need�to�know�the�consequences�of�

decisions.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Of�course.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�have�argued�that�the�

funding�formula�bits�we�have�seen�have�not�been�accurate,�have�not�been�helpful�and�have�not�been�

objectively�fair.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��That�leads�me�very�nicely�into�my�next�question.��It�is�about�consultation�

and�having�fair�consultation�and�knowing�outcomes�before�you�make�decisions.��Given�the�scale�of�the�funding�

cuts,�you�are�going�to�have�to�make�some�very�difficult�decisions.��One�of�those�that�have�been�highlighted�is�

the�options�paper�that�you�have�going�to�your�management�board�meeting�at�the�end�of�this�month,�where�

one�of�the�options�is�the�removal�of�all�Police�Community�Support�Officer�(PCSO)�posts�in�London�or�a�

reduction�in�the�number�of�PCSO�posts.��Obviously,�as�this�Committee�has�championed�the�role�of�those�

officers�and�Safer�Neighbourhood�Teams�before,�it�does�raise�concerns�for�us.�

�

However,�before�I�ask�specific�questions�on�that,�can�I�just�ask�about�the�process�you�are�going�to�take�in�

making�that�decision?��Is�it�something�on�which�you�are�going�to�make�a�final�decision�on�29�September?��Is�

there�going�to�be�a�reference�to�the�Mayor�or�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime�about�this�proposal�

and�will�there�be�a�public�consultation�on�this?�

�

                                                 
2�Police�and�Crime�Committee�response�was�appended�to�Item�5�of�the�24�September�agenda.  The�weblink�is:�
http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s49902/Appendix%202%20consultation%20response%20-
%20police%20funding.pdf��
�
�

Page 15



 

 

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��First�of�all,�it�is�a�good�

opportunity�to�try�to�set�the�record�straight.��We�are�not�considering�that�on�29�September.��What�is�

happening�at�the�moment,�and�it�is�causing�some�difficulty�because�some�of�it�has�become�public,��is�that�

because�of�the�scale�of�what�we�have�sketched�out�here�-�these�are�big�cuts�and�we�are�going�to�have�to�find�

some�way�of�meeting�them�-�We�are�asking�our�people�to�come�up�with�options�to�deal�with�it�because�it�is�no�

good�getting�to�December�and�finding�we�have�no�plans.�

�

Most�of�that�is�trying�to�be�done�privately�because�one�of�the�issues�we�are�talking�about�is�these�people’s�jobs�

and�the�impact�on�them�is�severe�or�could�be�severe�and�so�we�are�trying�to�do�it�privately.��If�parts�of�that�

discussion�-�and�that�is�all�they�are�at�this�stage:�presented�options�-�get�into�the�public�domain,�people�will�

say,�“Why�are�you�doing�this?”��The�reason�we�are�doing�the�staff�work�is�because�of�the�scale�of�the�task.�

�

We�want�to�get�to�December�with�some�reasonable�options.��Therefore�the�only�thing�we�are�doing�at�the�

moment�is�looking�into�any�of�these�options�that�look�credible.��Are�there�are�any�that�we�just�cannot�

stomach?��Really,�the�only�time�we�are�going�to�start�to�make�decisions�and�start�to�be�able�to�consult�on�real�

options�is�around�December.��In�November�the�Home�Office�will�know�what�it�will�get�and�then�it�has�to�decide�

how�it�allocates�its�funds�around�between�the�police,�the�UK�Border�Agency�(UKBA),�the�prisons�and�all�of�its�

funding�streams.��We�will�only�really�know�by�December.��We�are�in�the�process�of�talking,�but�there�is�no�

decision-making�on�29�September.�

�

If�we�go�to�your�second�point,�which�is�still�fair,�on�when�we�have�to�make�that�decision�and�how�we�are�

consulting,�of�course�we�will�talk�to�people.��The�problem�we�have�is�that�often�-�if�we�stick�with�the�PCSO�

example�but�there�are�many�others�we�could�talk�about�-�they�say,�“Do�you�want�this�one?”��People�tend�to�

say�no.��What�they�rarely�offer�is�what�they�would�prefer�to�save�instead.��We�are�going�to�talk�later�about�rape�

investigations.��Do�they�want�to�cut�it�from�there,�from�neighbourhoods?��Everybody�is�clear�on�what�they�do�

not�want�to�cut,�but�the�consultation�rarely�gives�new�ideas�about�where�we�should�cut.��We�have�some�other�

ideas�that�we�may�talk�about�generally�if�you�would�like�to.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��Yes,�we�will�do�in�a�minute�and�we�have�some�further�questions.��Am�I�right�

in�thinking�that�there�is�an�options�paper�to�your�29�September�2015�Board�meeting�that�might�have�a�range�

of�options�in�it?��What�will�you�decide,�then?��Are�you�going�to�take�the�work�further�with�regards�to�possible�

scenarios?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Craig�[Mackey]�can�

probably�talk�in�detail,�but�what�they�are�doing�is�presenting�as�far�as�they�have�got�with�their�thinking�and�so�

they�will�need�help.��One�of�the�difficulties�we�have�as�a�management�board�team�is�that�if�I�say�to�somebody,�

“Find�me�£800�million�in�savings�and�give�me�some�options”,�I�cannot�then�say,�“Do�not�bother�doing�this;�do�

not�bother�doing�that”.��You�have�to�give�them�some�freedom.��That�is�what�we�have�done�and�they�are�

coming�back�with�some�options,�some�of�which�look�possible,�some�of�which�look�awful�and�some�of�which�we�

will�never�do.��That�is�where�we�have�to�work.��Of�course,�they�then�have�to�have�the�opportunity�to�present�it�

back�to�us�and�for�us�to�start�to�say,�“Hang�on,�you�have�done�that�work�there�but�you�have�not�taken�account�

of�what�we�have�said�about�boroughs�and�you�have�not�taken�account�of�what�we�have�said�about�ranks”.��We�

are�trying�to�draw�that�work�back�together�so�that�we�as�a�team,�as�well�as�their�work,�have�some�scrutiny.��

Then�we�are�working�alongside�MOPAC�to�see�what�might�be�possible�and�what�might�be�not�possible.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��It�is�going�to�be�important�that�when�you�are�making�any�cuts,�you�lay�bare�

perhaps�to�the�public�and�to�stakeholders�exactly�what�the�full�range�is�so�that�they�can�be�looked�at�in�the�

round�and�we�do�not�just�take�one�element�only�because�it�will�have�impacts.�

�

Page 16



 

 

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��That�is�not�what�is�being�

done.��The�way�it�is�being�portrayed�in�the�press�is�that�that�is�the�only�thing�we�are�looking�at�and�that�is�the�

first�thing�you�have�opened�with,�but�it�is�not.��Even�with�the�options�that�are�starting�to�be�presented,�of�the�

£800�million�gap,�we�still�have�a�balancing�feat�to�find�of�£150�million.��All�the�options�on�the�list�are�

unattractive.�

�

For�example,�I�have�said�that�at�the�RSA�(Royal�Society�for�the�Encouragement�of�Arts,�Manufactures�and�

Commerce)�speech�I�gave�in�March�and�so�this�is�not�news,�but�if�all�we�did�to�take�£800�million�was�to�reduce�

cops,�we�would�lose�16,000�police.��That�is�what�we�are�trying�to�mitigate.��All�of�the�other�options�to�get�

savings�look�unattractive,�but�that�is�the�unattractive�thing�that�we�all�need�to�work�against.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��The�issue�about�the�PCSOs�coming�to�the�public�is�because�we�started�

getting�emails�from�our�local�PCSOs�and�I�know�that�over�that�weekend�when�it�did�come�into�the�public�

domain,�Borough�Commanders�were�briefing�their�PCSOs.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��What�happened�as�well�-�

and�Craig�[Mackey]�may�tell�you�-�is�there�has�been�another�issue�happening,�which�is�that�we�are�trying�to�

move�PCSOs�from�unfunded�posts�to�funded�posts�because�we�get�funding�from�TfL.��If�we�do�not�fill�them,�

we�do�not�get�the�cash.��We�have�been�trying�to�get�people�into�jobs�that�they�are�funded�for�and�can�see�as�

genuine,�permanent�employment�because,�if�there�is�a�risk�of�losing�posts,�we�want�to�make�sure�they�are�

protected.��There�is�a�need�to�write�to�people.��I�suspect�that�process�has�caused�people�to�be�more�frightened.��

I�say�‘more�frightened’�but�they�have�obviously�been�concerned�about�what�we�are�doing�and�why,�quite�

rightly.�

�

As�you�say,�you�have�raised�it�and�I�am�not�objecting�to�it�being�raised.��I�am�merely�observing�that�at�that�

meeting�in�September�we�are�going�to�see�a�lot�of�things,�one�of�which�is�PCSOs.��It�is�not�that�we�have�gone�

out�to�say,�“Let�us�get�rid�of�PCSOs”.��We�have�not�gone�out�to�do�anything�other�than�manage�the�

£800�million�loss�that�we�anticipate.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��In�taking�decisions�forward�further,�will�you�be�engaging�with�the�unions�on�

these�proposals�and�allowing�them�to�put�in�alternative�cases?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Of�course�and�we�already�

have�been�doing�that.��The�unions�have�been�very�responsible�in�this.��They�have�kept�the�confidence�that�we�

have�asked�them�to.��Often�some�of�the�more�public�aspects�have�been�because�managers�have�been�briefing�

staff,�not�because�the�unions�have�breached�confidence.��They�have�dealt�with�it�responsibility�and�similarly�

also�the�Police�Federation�because,�although�the�PCSOs�clearly�are�very�worried,�people�like�the�

Police�Federation�are�worried�if�the�number�of�officers�we�lose�starts�to�accelerate,�as�I�am�sure�you�would�be�

and�so�am�I.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��When�you�are�considering�the�role�of�PCSOs,�will�you�be�undertaking�an�

equalities�impact�assessment?��About�34%�of�the�PCSO�roles�are�from�black�and�minority�ethnic�(BAME)�

members.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�do�that�as�a�statutory�

necessity,�but�we�have�to�be�straight:�these�are�big�numbers.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��If�you�take�the�decision�to�cut�posts,�when�will�they�come�into�play?�

�

Page 17



 

 

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��It�is�probably�premature.��I�

am�not�going�to�answer�that�exactly�right�now.��I�am�trying�my�best�to�answer�questions�as�directly�as�I�can,�I�

hope�you�know.��The�only�reason�for�hesitating�is�that�we�have�to�make�these�savings�over�four�years.��We�

know�that�we�have�normal�turnover�and,�yes,�with�some�people�there�will�be�natural�wastage.��We�are�still�

recruiting�to�some�extent�and�there�may�be�the�possibility�of�people�becoming�police�officers.��Some�of�them�

want�to.��However,�we�do�not�know�yet,�first�of�all,�the�amount�of�the�saving�or,�as�I�said�earlier,�the�rate�at�

which�our�grant�will�be�reduced.��If�we�have�to�take�a�lot�out�at�the�beginning,�we�have�limited�opportunities�to�

get�savings�out.��We�still�cannot�-�and�I�am�not�arguing�for�it�-�make�officers�redundant.��Yes,�there�are�limited�

opportunities�here�as�to�how�we�achieve�this�and�all�the�levers�are�pointing�in�a�downward�direction.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��The�concern�that�we�have�is�that�PCSOs�really�have�built�confidence�up�in�

communities�and�we�would�be�very�concerned�if�they�were�lost.��Stephen,�you�were�interviewed�and�said�that�

you�would�require�a�great�deal�of�convincing�for�this.��Could�I�just�ask�what�role�MOPAC�will�have�in�this?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��First�and�foremost,�before�we�go�on�to�the�

specifics�of�PCSOs,�this�Committee�needs�to�be�aware�that�the�other�thing�we�need�to�fight�against�is�that,�in�

the�shrinking�of�money,�there�are�more�levers�being�pulled�from�Whitehall�and�that�this�money�is�properly�

devolved�and�unring-fenced.��That�needs�to�be�emphasised�as�a�very�important�point.��When�you�have�a�

smaller�and�shrinking�budget,�to�be�able�to�continually�bid�for�bits�of�money�makes�financial�planning�very�

difficult�and�does�not�give�you�the�flexibility�to�spend�the�money�on�the�demands�where�they�are�greatest.�

�

On�the�specifics�of�PCSOs,�as�the�Committee�knows,�we�went�through�a�significant�reorganisation�of�

neighbourhood�policing�in�2013�and�that�was�the�move�to�having�one�PCSO�and�one�police�constable�in�every�

one�of�all�the�630�wards.��I�have�said�that�I�would�need�a�lot�of�convincing�to�remove�a�PCSO�from�every�ward�

because�my�experience�from�going�out�across�London�is�that�they�are�very�often�the�most�knowledgeable�

person�of�that�particular�place.��It�is�something�that�we�would�not�want�to�do.��The�Mayor�has�said�as�well�that�

that�is�not�something�we�would�want�to�do.�

�

However,�we�need�to�see�this�in�the�context�of�a�plan�that�balances�the�budget�over�four�years.��The�critical�

thing�to�be�aware�of�is�that�it�will�be�the�phasing�of�the�cuts�that�drives�the�speed�at�which�you�need�to�make�

budget�savings.��If�the�phasing�is�frontloaded�it�can�double�the�pain�and,�therefore,�it�becomes�harder�for�the�

MPS�to�balance�the�books.��In�my�view,�we�need�to�be�lobbying�very�hard�on�the�funding�formula�and,�

secondly,�on�the�phasing�so�that�we�are�not�seeing�the�pain�doubled�in�a�way�that�means�you�then�have�to�

make�people�redundant,�which�is�actually�a�huge�cost.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��I�have�a�letter�from�the�Mayor�dated�yesterday�because�I�wrote�to�him�

raising�my�concerns�about�the�loss�of�PCSOs�and�he�has�responded.��If�I�can�just�quote�one�part�of�this�letter,�it�

says:�

�

“When�the�MPS�management�board�have�taken�a�view�on�the�elements�they�wish�to�propose,�they�will,�

as�is�proper,�bring�that�forward�to�me�and�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime,�along�with�a�plan�

to�consult�Londoners.��At�that�point,�though,�I�would�take�some�very�significant�convincing�before�

sanctioning�the�removal�of�PCSOs�from�the�streets�of�London.”�

�

The�Mayor�does�say�he�envisages�that�the�MPS�will�come�forward�with�a�plan�to�consult�Londoners�about�any�

cuts�--�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��The�Mayor�has�been�very�clear�that�we�

have�not�had�a�proposal�yet�and�that�is�what�the�Commissioner�has�just�said.�

Page 18



 

 

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��I�just�want�to�check�that�there�will�be�a�full�consultation�with�Londoners.��

Yes,�thank�you.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��I�was�interested,�Stephen,�to�hear�that�you�were�critical�of�ring-fencing�from�the�

Government,�which�is�probably�wise.��I�know�that�in�the�past�we�have�had�discussions,�going�really�right�back�

to�the�start�of�the�MPA,�about�whether�there�are�national�elements�of�what�the�MPS�does�that�should�actually�

be�divested�from�the�MPS�and�dealt�with�elsewhere�so�that�London�becomes�a�much�more�local�police�force.��

The�argument�that�has�always�been�made�to�us�by�the�MPS�is�that�we�get�more�money�from�the�Government�

than�it�costs�to�run�these�things�and,�effectively,�we�would�lose�out�if�we�did�that.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��That�is�not�the�briefing�that�I�have�had,�

Roger,�to�be�honest�with�you.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��It�was�a�while�ago�that�that�argument�was�made.��Yes,�Tony�remembers.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��Yes.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��He�has�been�here�as�long�as�I�have,�yes.��I�think�that�was�the�case.��However,�it�is�

interesting�that�you�are�saying�it�is�not�the�case�now�because�perhaps�that�means�it�is�time�to�revisit�that�

question�on�whether�we�do�these�pieces�of�work�for�the�national�interest�if�we�are�not�being�fully�reimbursed�

for�doing�it�and�if�that�reimbursement�is�going�to�be�further�reduced.��It�should�not�be�a�burden�on�London�

taxpayers,�should�it?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Certainly,�as�the�Deputy�Commissioner�

said,�if�we�take�the�NICC�grant,�that�is�why�the�demands�on�us�as�a�capital�city�are�far�greater�than�the�level�of�

grant�that�we�receive�from�the�Government.��There�are�other�grants.��With�the�CT�funding,�there�is�a�national�

element�to�that.��Intuitively�you�would�think,�“It�is�a�national�function�and�so�we�can�potentially�just�hive�that�

off”,�but�clearly�the�CT�grant,�largely,�is�for�a�unit�of�the�police�that�is�serving�London�and�there�is�a�

co-ordinating�function�on�top�of�that.��Therefore,�again,�it�is�not�as�simple�as�it�appears.�

�

My�parallel�comes�from�other�Whitehall�departments�because�austerity�started�in�2010�for�most�unprotected�

departments.��For�policing,�it�started�in�2011.��For�the�MPS,�it�started�in�2012.��The�way�other�Whitehall�

departments�have�dealt�with�reductions�in�budgets�is�by�having�less�money�but�having�more�freedom�to�spend�

the�money.��That�is�merely�the�case�I�was�making.��If�you�follow�other�examples�of�how�they�have�continued�

with�austerity,�it�is�by�being�much�freer�to�spend�the�money�where�they�need�to.�

�

Kemi�Badenoch�AM:��Sir�Bernard,�my�question�was�on�your�point�about�funding.��You�mentioned�that�

everyone�knows�what�they�do�not�want�to�have�cut�and�the�areas�where�you�can�actually�make�reductions�are�

few�and�far�between.�

�

I�want�to�know.��Have�you�considered�the�option�of�moving�some�of�your�responsibilities�to�other�agencies�like�

the�National�Crime�Agency�(NCA)?��I�am�thinking�specifically�about�CT.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�have�not�because�I�do�

not�think�operationally�it�is�wise.��Number�two:�we�would�save�no�money.��All�you�would�do�is�transfer�the�

responsibility�with�some�cash.��The�danger�would�be�that�we�would�lose�some�of�the�funding�that�we�have�in�

the�MPS,�which�would�just�transfer�to�the�NCA.��It�would�be�worse�rather�than�better.�

�

Page 19



 

 

My�view�is�that,�professionally,�the�CT�network�works�very�well.��One�of�the�biggest�benefits�we�have�is�that�

our�officers�in�the�MPS�-�and�when�you�look�around�in�Greater�Manchester�-�are�part�of�the�MPS�to�deal�with�

CT.��They�are�linked�into�the�community�we�serve�and�that�is�the�best�way�to�deliver�CT�policing.��We�have�

officers�on�the�ground�who�can�provide�intelligence.��They�are�talking�to�people�in�the�community.��Part�of�

what�we�do�is�to�deal�with�people�whom�we�worry�about�in�terms�of�terrorism.��They�are�not�separate�jobs.��I�

would�say�it�is�part�of�the�fabric�of�policing�and�we�have�had�great�benefits�from�doing�it�that�way.��I�would�

argue�that�it�is�working�and�so�why�would�you�change�it?�

�

If�you�could�argue�that�it�would�make�a�big�saving�for�us,�it�would�be�a�second�argument.��Even�if�it�would�not�

be�as�effective,�it�might�be�more�efficient�and�might�save�money,�but�nobody�says�that�it�would�cost�less�and�

there�would�certainly�be�transition�costs,�even�if�all�you�do�is�move�the�information�technology�(IT)�or�move�

out�of�buildings.��The�very�worst�time�to�do�it�is�when�it�is�working�or�when�you�are�trying�to�save�money.��Why�

would�you�do�it?��For�me,�I�do�not�think�this�would�be�wise.�

�

Kemi�Badenoch�AM:��Thank�you.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��On�that�point,�you�are�saying�that�CT�should�be�embedded�in�the�local�community.��How�

small�is�a�local�community?��You�mentioned�Cardiff.��How�small�is�a�local�community�that�requires�that�kind�of�

resource?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�am�not�quite�sure�what�

you�mean,�Tony.��The�first�point�is�that,�if�you�took�London�or�Cardiff,�which�I�do�not�know,�you�cannot�just�

say,�“It�is�that�estate.��It�is�that�borough”.��We�have�concerns�in�each�of�our�boroughs�about�probably�one,�two,�

five�or�-�in�some�places�-�more�people�whom�we�are�concerned�about�in�terms�of�their�terrorist�activity.��We�

cannot�just�say,�“If�all�we�do�is�put�the�resources�into�those�three�boroughs,�it�will�be�fine”.��It�is�right�across.��

Even�if�they�are�grouped�together�in�two�boroughs,�they�might�live�somewhere�else�or�they�might�work�in�

another�borough.�

�

One�of�my�arguments�would�be�that�you�cannot�predict�exactly�where�they�will�live�and�you�cannot�predict�

where�the�problem�is.��You�can�predict�where�some�of�the�targets�might�be.��It�is�pretty�hard�to�say�where�they�

will�grow�up�and�where�they�will�develop.��If�they�disappear,�as�we�have�seen,�off�to�Syria�and�return,�where�are�

they�going�to�live�when�they�come�back?��You�have�to�have�a�whole-city,�in�our�case,�or�a�whole-country�

network�and�the�best�way�to�do�that�is�working�with�the�police�service.�

�

Bear�in�mind�that�even�now�there�are�about�200,000�in�the�British�police�service�providing�a�service�to�

60�million�people.��Getting�that�network�right�and�embedded�in�the�community,�not�a�separate�set�of�

buildings,�working�with�the�Security�Service;�in�my�view,�[changing�that]�would�be�wrong.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Can�some�of�this�CT�money�be�used�to�fund�the�

Safer�Neighbourhood�Teams�and�particularly�the�PCSOs?��They�are�the�eyes�and�ears�on�the�ground�and�they�

pick�up�those�small�changes�in�people’s�behaviour�that�ring�alarm�bells�up�the�line.��If�not,�is�that�something�

you�could�be�arguing�for?��That�money�could�help�preserve�our�Safer�Neighbourhood�Teams.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��At�the�moment,�some�of�

the�CT�grant�is�threaded�through�the�MPS;�not�all�of�it�by�any�means,�but�a�proportion�of�it.��For�example,�if�

you�looked�at�our�firearms�teams,�we�have�a�number�of�armed�response�vehicles�(ARVs)�out�there.��A�

proportion�of�them�are�paid�for�by�the�CT�grant�and�that�is�on�the�basis�that�this�city�must�be�at�risk�--�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Absolutely.�

Page 20



 

 

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��--�of�a�terrorist�attack.��It�

is�obvious.��Therefore,�if�we�only�paid�the�money�that�we�get�through�grant�into�ARVs,�for�the�sake�of�

argument,�we�could�have�two�-�that�is�not�the�number�-�but�by�having�the�CT�grant�in�there�we�could�double�

it.��That�is�one�way�in�which�the�CT�grant�is�fed�into�general�policing.�

�

We�have�Prevent�officers�working�in�boroughs.��They�are�working�through�the�neighbourhoods�to�try�to�

identify�people�at�risk�and�put�them�into�the�Channel�programme.��We�have�various�ways�in�which�some�of�that�

money�is�diffused�into�policing.�

�

The�Government�is�constantly�saying�to�us,�“Are�you�sure�you�are�using�it�for�CT�or�are�you�just�enhancing�

local�policing?”��We�have�always�been�in�that�debate.��They�have�just�carried�out�a�review�of�it�and�proved�that�

in�fact�-�to�Tony’s�point�-�we�are�actually�putting�more�money�into�it�than�we�are�taking�out�of�it.��To�be�fair�to�

them,�they�are�always�saying,�“Are�you�sure�you�are�still�using�it�for�the�thing�that�we�gave�it�to�you�for?”�

�

Where�we�can�get�flexibility,�we�do�try�to�get�to�it,�but�on�the�whole�it�is�marginal.��The�majority�of�the�CT�

grant�is�spent�on�the�teams�who�go�out�and�look�for�the�terrorists.��That�proves�it.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��The�CT�grant�is�an�example�of�where�the�

MPS�receives�money�from�the�Home�Office�and�effectively�is�performance-managed�very�strongly�from�the�

Home�Office�to�the�extent�of,�“Are�the�positions�filled?��How�can�we�measure�the�productivity�of�preventative�

police�officers?��How�is�the�Channel�programme�working?��How�are�the�funds�being�used�that�were�

commissioned�to�support�the�Prevent�programme?”��Therefore,�the�real�issue�for�me�in�this�budget�round�is�if�

more�of�the�money�is�not�devolved�so�that�we�have�a�city-wide�approach�that�makes�sure�that�CT�policing�is�

seamless�with�neighbourhood�policing�and�works�from�the�streets�of�Kilburn�to�Kandahar,�as�it�has�previously�

been�put.��That�is�the�key:�to�make�sure�that�we�get�the�money�to�flow�and�be�properly�managed�by�the�MPS�

rather�than�being�controlled�by�the�Home�Office.��That�is�a�big�risk�at�this�moment.�

�

Craig�Mackey�QPM�(Deputy�Commissioner,�Metropolitan�Police�Service):��If�I�can,�whilst�it�is�a�really�

good�idea,�there�is�not�the�headroom�in�the�budget.��Let�us�say�you�wanted�to�transfer�the�funding�of�one�

PCSO�per�ward.��That�would�have�to�be�a�completely�separate�bid�process�into�the�Home�Office�to�get�growth�

to�fund�that.��When�you�look�at�the�other�pressures�that�are�already�on�there�-�and�colleagues�from�the�

Security�Services�and�elsewhere�have�spoken�about�that�growing�threat�-�the�pressure�is�around�having�

detectives�or�forensic�investigators.��The�thought�of�trying�to�grow�it�to�fund�600�or�700�other�posts�is�a�nice�

idea�but�there�is�not�the�money�there�to�do�it.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Quite�clearly,�you�need�flexibility�with�the�grants�and�budgets�

you�get�so�that�you�can�decide.��If�you�choose�from�talking�to�your�CT�team�that�it�is�really�important�that�

PCSOs�and�the�Safer�Neighbourhood�Teams�are�part�of�that�intelligence-gathering,�you�should�be�able�to�use�

some�of�the�funding�for�that�if�you�so�choose.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Just�to�be�clear,�Caroline,�

we�cannot�choose.��We�can�propose�--�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��I�know,�but�I�am�saying�that�ideally�you�would�have�more�

flexibility�so�that�you�could�then�choose.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��That�is�correct.��You�would�have�more�

flexibility.�

Page 21



 

 

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��You�are�going�back�to�

Stephen’s�point�about�a�whole�budget.��Could�I�just�say�one�other�thing?��Actually,�for�us,�that�is�ideal.��The�

reason�why�the�Home�Office�is�more�worried�about�the�rest�of�the�country�is�that�if�you�bear�in�mind�where�the�

CT�units�are,�West�Yorkshire�and�Greater�Manchester,�the�Home�Office�would�be�concerned�that�if�it�allowed,�

particularly�at�the�moment,�the�money�to�be�blended�into�the�force,�there�is�a�very�good�substitute�factor�and�

we�may�end�up�without�a�CT�unit�network.��That�came�in,�as�you�remember,�post�9/11�because�before�then�we�

did�not�have�a�CT�unit�network.��We�had�the�MPS�and�then�Special�Branch�was�scattered�around�the�country.��

That�network�took�a�lot�of�developing�and�the�concern�that�I�know�the�Home�Office�would�have�is�that�that�

would�just�disappear�and�the�money�would�just�slide�over�to�general�policing.��That�is�the�worry.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��That�is�the�worry.��It�is�a�balance.��Clearly,�community�

confidence�in�the�police�is�the�key�out�of�all�of�this�and�having�those�resources�in�the�front�line�is�really�

important.�

�

Are�there�other�things�you�are�looking�at,�Commissioner?��You�have�questioned�whether�you�should�keep�32�

borough�command�units�(BCUs).��You�have�questioned�whether�you�should�delete�more�ranks�in�the�police.��

Are�you�looking�at�all�of�these�again�and�do�we�expect�proposals�to�come�forward�on�these?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Yes,�in�short.��It�is�difficult�

for�us,�again.��If�they�are�in�one�of�those�ranks�that�might�be�thought�about,�people�are�worried�about.��They�

are�worried�about�the�promotion�prospects.�

�

Just�to�give�you�an�indication�of�the�reason�we�are�having�to�consider�these�things�at�all,�with�some�of�the�

work�we�have�done�around�ranks,�we�might�be�able�to�save�£100�million�if�we�were�to�remove�certain�ranks.��

PCSOs�we�have�talked�about,�but�it�is�something�in�the�order�of�£40�million.��If�we�changed�BCUs,�there�might�

be�something�like�£50�million.��We�have�a�big�piece�of�work,�which�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime�

has�led,�around�getting�our�services�either�match-fit�or,�frankly,�outsourced�and�we�are�in�the�process�of�that.��

There�would�be�a�further�£300�million�there.�

�

What�you�can�see�is�that�even�with�these�big�numbers�and�these�very�big�amounts�of�money�-�and�we�are�

trying�to�find�£800�million�-�and�even�when�we�have�done�all�of�those�things,�we�still�need�to�find�a�balancing�

feature�of�£150�million.��The�problem�is�that�marginal�things�in�this�context�make�no�difference.��We�could�

reduce�the�number�of�cars�we�have�by�5%�but�it�would�not�make�a�lot�of�difference.��We�are�getting�into�that�

area�where�all�these�things�are�very�difficult.��We�still�have�not�found�what�we�anticipate�will�be�the�balancing�

feature�of�£150�million�and�so�there�is�more�to�come�in�terms�of�our�considerations.��The�balancing�feature�on�

the�whole�tends�to�be�the�number�of�police.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Clearly,�there�are�some�very�big�figures�you�are�quoting�there�

and�things�that�you�can�do,�change�ranks�and�take�out�quite�significant�figures,�but�also�you�are�going�to�have�

to�do�some�very�small�things�just�to�have�those�add�up�to�help�with�this�total.��What�else�are�you�looking�at?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Basically,�there�are�the�

small�things,�Caroline,�because�you�are�right�that�it�is�not�just�the�big�things.��However,�in�our�view,�in�

organisational�terms,�what�you�have�to�do�is�work�out�where�these�big�chunks�of�money�are�coming�from.�

�

Then�you�get�down�to�two�things.��One�is�optimism�bias.��If�someone�says,�“I�can�offer�you�£40�million�for�

this”,�you�look�at�it�and�it�is�actually�£29�million.��Alternatively,�sometimes�you�have�to�spend�at�the�beginning�

to�make�the�saving�in�the�end.��Therefore,�there�are�nice�big�ideas�and�nice�broad�numbers�and�the�scale�of�the�

Page 22



 

 

task�forces�you�into�it,�but�it�is�not�the�answer�yet.��That�is�why�this�work�is�being�progressed�over�the�next�few�

weeks�and�months.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��You�start�off�any�budgeting�process�not�

by�working�on�the�cuts�that�hit�the�front�line�or�the�middle�office,�but�by�starting�with�how�you�can�lean�out�

and�make�more�efficiencies�when�it�comes�to,�let�us�say,�the�estate�or�what�you�can�do�in�terms�of�asset�

management�and�which�assets�you�can�release.��You�then�look�at�the�overhead�and�support�services�to�

policing.��Then�you�move�closer�and�closer�to�the�front�line�and�you�get�to�the�issues�where,�frankly,�the�public�

is�going�to�be�affected�and�the�service�they�receive�will�be�changed.��You�are�focusing�on�the�ones�that�will�be�

of�great�concern�to�the�public.�

�

I�was�sceptical�about�the�ability�of�the�MPS�to�reshape�the�estate�but�it�has�happened�in�these�last�four�years.��

We�have�seen�a�significant�change�in�the�MPS’s�estate.��The�running�costs�are�dramatic.��Over�a�four-year�

period,�we�are�talking�about�savings�of�£160�million�because�you�just�multiply�it�by�four.��That�is�a�significant�

achievement.��Can�we�do�that�again?��Actually,�there�is�a�plan�to�look�at�shrinking�the�estate�without�changing�

public�access�that�dramatically�shifts�the�estate�again.�

�

When�you�look�at�procurement�and�competitive�tendering,�just�looking�at�back-office�support�services,�over�a�

ten-year�period�is�about�£100�million�in�savings.��That�is�just�the�beginning�of�a�process�that�rolls�up�to�

£300�million.�

�

Then�you�get�to�the�hard�stuff,�but�even�with�the�hard�stuff�it�is�possible�not�to�see�it�as�the�most�frightening�

option,�which�is,�“We�will�stop�doing�this”,�or,�“We�will�change�that”.��There�are�options�that�I�am�sure�the�MPS�

is�considering�in�between�that�may�help�us�balance�the�books.�

�

The�last�point�is�that�the�assumptions�that�you�make�to�balance�the�books�are�very�important�because�the�

assumptions�you�take�around�the�inflation�to�buy�things�in�the�future�is�often�a�big�factor�in�whether�you�

balance�or�not.��Making�sensible�assumptions�but�always�starting�with�the�savings�from�the�back�office�to�the�

middle�office�to�the�front�line�is�the�way�that�I�know�the�MPS�is�doing�this.�

�

Craig�Mackey�QPM�(Deputy�Commissioner,�Metropolitan�Police�Service):��To�reassure�you,�over�the�

summer�we�have�run�an�accelerated�service�review�(ASR).��It�is�a�fancy�name�for�a�priority-based�budgeting�

programme.��Every�budget�line�has�been�scrutinised.��Whether�it�is�secretarial�support�and�how�we�work�or�the�

management�board�committing�to�working�open-plan,�some�of�that�has�already�started�and�is�light�years�away�

from�where�we�used�to�be.��There�is�no�dedicated�specialist�support�as�in�personal�assistants�(PAs)�and�things.��

All�of�these�lines�are�being�looked�at.��You�have�to�drive�that.��In�total,�with�that�ASR,�there�is�only�about�

£100�million�left�to�come�out�of�that.��If�you�look�at�the�progress�we�have�made�on�overtime,�Territorial�

Policing�is�doing�some�fantastic�work�and�has�taken�49%�out�of�its�overtime�bill.��These�are�huge�strides�that�

people�are�making�and�managing.�

�

They�are�great,�but�when�you�still�have�that�gap�you�run�out�of�places�to�look.��As�the�Deputy�Mayor�said,�

there�is�more�money�to�come�out�of�the�back�office�but�they�are�not�all�straightforward�because�some�of�

those,�as�the�Commissioner�touched�on,�would�involve�you�going�back�out�to�the�commercial�market�and�

saying,�“Go�back�out�and�look�again�at�how�we�deliver�this�service”.��The�one�we�have�just�done�has�affected�

400�colleagues�with�jobs�going�to�South�Wales.��Labour�arbitrage�has�the�huge�cost�in�it�of�having�jobs�in�

London.��However,�during�the�next�four�years,�all�of�those�challenges�are�going�to�become�real.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��I�do�not�envy�you�your�task�at�all.��It�was�fine�when�

Stephen�[Greenhalgh]�was�talking�about�getting�rid�of�some�of�the�estate�and�so�on�but,�if�you�look�at�what�

Page 23



 

 

TfL�has�been�doing�with�some�of�its�estate,�in�some�ways�it�is�much�smarter�because�it�is�looking�at�how�it�

could�get�revenue�streams�going�forward�and�has�kept�hold�of�freeholds�and�so�on.��There�are�ways�you�can�do�

it�that�do�not�just�ditch�the�family�silver�and�get�nothing�back�in�return.�

�

Craig�Mackey�QPM�(Deputy�Commissioner,�Metropolitan�Police�Service):��In�fairness,�we�have�debated�

that�a�couple�of�times�at�the�Budget�and�Performance�Committee.��TfL�works�under�different�rules�about�

income�to�us.��It�is�not�straightforward�for�the�police�to�generate�income�and/or�be�a�landlord�because�we�

look,�quite�rightly,�at�the�challenge�around�New�Scotland�Yard.��There�was�quite�a�detailed�options�appraisal�

around�why�disposal�to�bring�capital�in�to�fund�transformation�and�to�maintain�frontline�services�was�a�better�

option�than�trying�to�build,�effectively,�a�trading�arm.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Finally,�I�just�wanted�to�ask�and�maybe�I�can�put�this�to�

Stephen.��We�were�told�that�18%�comes�from�the�precept�by�Sir�Bernard�at�the�beginning.��Is�one�of�the�

options�you�need�to�be�looking�at�potentially�increasing�the�precept�to�pay�for�police�in�London?��If�you�make�

the�case�to�Londoners,�they�may�well�be�very�happy�to�do�that�to�keep�the�police�we�need�on�our�streets.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Just�before�I�answer�that�question,�I�will�

answer�your�question�if�I�can�just�comment�on�your�previous�statement.��Yes,�of�course�there�are�options�to�

increase�the�precept.��That�is�a�political�decision�for�someone�to�make�within�--�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Is�that�something�you�would�support?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��No,�I�would�not�support�the�decision�until�

I�know�the�numbers.��I�certainly�am�not�someone�who�is�inclined�to�increase�the�precept.��You�know�the�rules:�

you�can�increase�the�precept�by�up�to�2%�before�you�have�to�have�a�referendum.��However,�again,�we�have�to�

recognise�that�in�London�the�gearing�for�the�money�the�precept�raises�is�far�lower�than�for�other�forces.��We�

raise�around�£600�million�from�the�precept.��Therefore,�the�increase�is�there�to�be�made�but�it�does�not�buy�

the�sorts�of�numbers�of�police�officers�that�are�under�threat�without�making�significant�savings�elsewhere.��It�is�

going�to�be�a�political�debate,�no�doubt.�

�

On�the�land�issue,�it�is�fair�to�say�that�the�booking�and�generating�of�the�£1�billion�that�the�MPS�has�raised�

from�buildings�has�been�a�significant�part�of�the�ability�of�the�MPS�to�change.��It�has�not�just�been�always�a�

straight�sale.��The�sales�have�been�with�overage�to�make�sure�that�if�there�is�any�property�upside�it�is�captured.��

Secondly,�where�there�has�been�a�significant�property�development�in�play,�we�have�looked�at�doing�precisely�

what�you�have�said�where�you�keep�the�land�or�you�do�it�in�a�way�that�you�maintain�an�interest.��Hendon�is�

another�deal�that�has�been�done�as�part�of�a�wider�development.��There�has�not�been�a�one-size-fits-all�for�the�

disposal�of�property,�but�it�has�certainly�been�something�that�has�bought�the�space�for�the�MPS�to�be�able�to�

have�the�money�to�invest�in�frontline�policing.��£1�billion�is�a�significant�sum�of�money.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Yes,�but�with�all�this�work�going�on,�if�you�still�cannot�quite�

make�the�savings�that�you�need�to,�would�you�put�to�the�Mayor�the�potential�to�increase�the�precept�to�keep�

the�numbers�of�police�and�PCSOs�on�our�streets?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��I�am�not�going�to�deal�with�hypotheticals�

at�this�stage.��We�know�where�we�are�in�the�budget�progress.��We�know�that�there�is�not�any�time�before�

December�when�we�will�know�where�we�stand�and�I�am�certainly�not�going�to�put�anything�to�the�Mayor�until�I�

know�where�we�stand.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Thank�you.�

Page 24



 

 

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��I�just�wanted�to�ask�you�about�the�Home�Office�paper�on�volunteers,�which�seemed�to�

be�some�sort�of�attempt�to�plug�the�gap.��Volunteers�are�part�of�a�wider�paper�with�the�suggestion�that�you�

would�have�police�community�support�volunteers�with�powers�to�search�a�detainee,�use�reasonable�force�to�

take�somebody�to�a�police�station,�issue�on-the-spot�fines�and�seize�illegal�drugs�or�alcohol�from�young�

people.��Do�you�think�that�is�an�option?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�think�we�already�have�

them.��They�are�called�Special�Constables.��We�can�increase�the�number�of�specials�and�we�want�to.��In�fact,�

our�Specials�have�dropped�a�little�over�the�last�couple�of�years.��As�we�are�recruiting�more�officers,�many�

Specials�are�becoming�regular�officers�and�so�we�need�to�get�back�into�that.��In�fact,�the�human�resources�(HR)�

department�has�a�recruiting�campaign�planned.��Essentially,�these�are�people�who�are�not�paid�and�who�have�

full�police�powers.��That�list�of�powers�that�Andrew�has�just�gone�through�is�the�powers�that�they�have.��In�

fact,�they�have�far�more:�they�can�arrest;�they�can�do�anything�a�police�officer�can�do�in�England�and�Wales.��

Therefore,�what�we�would�do�is�to�invest�and�make�sure�we�have�more�Specials.�

�

Of�course,�we�have�other�volunteers,�as�you�know,�who�do�not�have�powers�and�who�help�us,�sometimes�

keeping�front�counters�open,�sometimes�on�the�closed-circuit�television�(CCTV)�side,�recognising�people�who�

have�committed�offences.��We�have�two�broad�groups�and�we�can�certainly�enhance�those.��I�am�not�sure�we�

need�a�third�group�as�well.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��That�is�what�the�Home�Office�seems�to�be�proposing.��These�are�not�Specials.��They�

are�not�going�to�be�warranted�in�the�same�way�that�Specials�are.��It�sounds�a�bit�like�vigilantes,�does�it�not?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�must�admit�that�I�can�

only�say�what�I�have�just�said,�really,�which�is�that�we�have�in�the�Special�Constable�a�well-tested,�well-used�

and�well-powered�organisation.��I�would�make�the�best�use�of�them�and�increase�their�numbers�if�possible.��I�

have�not�seen�enough�detail�to�understand�how�this�third�group�would�work.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��It�is�in�the�Home�Office�paper,�is�it�not,�and�so�I�am�not�sure�the�level�of�detail�is�

there,�but�it�does�not�seem�to�me�that�they�are�talking�about�Specials;�they�are�talking�about�a�third�group.��

You�do�not�seem�to�be�particularly�enamoured�of�that�idea.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�like�the�idea�of�a�

volunteer�who�has�powers,�but�we�have�a�group�called�the�Specials.�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��It�is�very�important�to�get�the�distinction.��I�was�hoping�you�were�going�to�say�further,�

Commissioner,�that�the�Specials�are�warranted�police�officers,�not�volunteers�as�such,�because�you�also�have�

volunteers�within�the�MPS�doing�some�valuable�work�and�contributing�to�that.��That�is�the�distinction.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Yes.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Yes,�Chair.��Thank�you.��Commissioner,�can�I�just�take�you�back�briefly�to�the�

PCSOs�review?��You�acknowledged�that�three�options�were�discussed�at�the�29�September�meeting.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�have�not�had�that�

meeting�yet.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��It�is�coming�up.��There�are�three�options�coming�up.�

Page 25



 

 

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�do�not�think�I�have�

discussed�it.��I�have�not�even�seen�the�paper�and�so�I�do�not�know�what�is�in�it.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Have�you�not�discussed�the�paper?��OK.��Let�me�put�it�this�way.��Would�you�

appreciate�the�concerns�of�many�boroughs?��I�speak�here�representing�three�boroughs�that�would�have�those�

concerns.��There�would�be�grave�concerns�at�the�removal�of�PCSOs�from�ward�level�because�those�boroughs�

would�see�that�their�circumstances�are�so�different�from�other�boroughs.��At�the�moment�we�have�a�

one-size-fits-all�approach�to�some�aspects�of�the�allocation�of�PCSOs,�but�in�reality�I�believe�you�can�see�from�

the�stats�the�changes�that�have�happened�in�some�boroughs�since�the�allocation�of�PCSOs.��To�remove�those�

PCSOs�would�turn�the�clock�back�in�those�boroughs.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��The�only�thing�I�can�say�at�

this�stage�is�that�it�is�not�our�or�my�proposal�to�remove�PCSOs�in�any�way.��We�have�dropped,�as�you�know,�

over�the�last�few�years�anyway.��We�had�nearly�5,000.��We�now�have�1,700.��It�is�not�our�proposal�to�do�that.��

It�is�a�consequence�of�the�monetary�change.��We�will�consider�when�we�know�the�money�how�best�to�deal�with�

that.�

�

What�I�cannot�do,�really,�is�just�keep�responding�about�PCSOs�because�we�have�to�discuss�Chief�Inspectors,�

BCUs�and�the�whole�list�of�things,�some�of�which�we�have�probably�not�yet�considered.��It�would�be�wrong�to�

consider�only�one�or�two�boroughs�and�say�that�they�need�a�special�model.��We�have�to�look�at�the�operational�

need�and�we�have�to�look�at�the�money�we�have�available�and�then�see�what�is�going�to�be�the�most�efficient�

and�effective�means�of�doing�that.��At�the�moment,�we�have�all�been�inundated�with�one�part�of�one�borough,�

which�has�been�sending�emails�in�saying�that�they�should�not�lose�things.��I�understand�why�they�campaign,�

but�I�am�afraid�that�at�the�moment�it�is�not�relevant�because�we�have�not�yet�seen�the�amount�of�money�and�

we�will�do�it�objectively,�not�on�a�political�basis.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��It�is�politics�because�I�am�a�politician�asking�you.��You�are�subject�to�the�political�

will�of�the�Mayor,�who�then�responds�to�the�views�of�the�people�of�London.��Therefore,�I�am�saying�to�you�that�

there�are�large�areas�of�this�city�-�and�I�represent�three�boroughs�-�where�there�are�feelings�about�the�

relationship�and�the�knowledge�that�they�feel�safer�in�their�communities�because�PCSOs�have�been�recruited�

from�their�communities�and�are�like�them�and�that�the�removal�of�that�group�of�police�staff�would�be�a�

problem.��That�is�what�I�am�saying.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��That�is�certainly�going�to�

be�one�of�the�considerations,�but�there�are�no�guarantees.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Thank�you�for�considering�it.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Mr�Greenhalgh,�I�want�to�come�back�to�a�couple�of�things�you�have�said�

this�morning�that�strike�me�as�not�quite�right.�

�

You�mentioned,�for�example,�this�clear�dividing�line�between�assets�and�the�front�line.��Actually,�of�course,�

once�you�do�start�selling�off�assets�like�police�stations,�it�does�put�pressure�on�the�front�line�because�officers�

have�to�travel�further�to�get�to�the�job,�they�have�to�travel�further�for�breaks�and�that�sort�of�thing.��You�seem�

to�understand�the�figures,�but�I�am�just�wondering�if�you�understand�the�human�impact�of�what�you�are�doing.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��That�is�a�misrepresentation�of�what�I�was�

saying.��Clearly,�I�believe�that�this�is�a�public�service�that�is�doing�its�very�best.��I�consider�it�the�first�public�

Page 26



 

 

service.��The�thing�that�affects�the�public�is�obviously�front-counter�access�to�those�services.��That�is�

particularly�important.�

�

Making�good�use�of�buildings�is�about�efficiency.��There�are�police�stations�that�are�being�so�poorly�utilised�

that�it�is�probably�not�in�the�interests�of�an�organisation�that�has�to�make�huge�savings�to�have�buildings�that�

are�a�third�used.��If�you�compare�that�with�other�office�buildings�that�are�90%�or�95%�utilised,�a�30%�utilised�

building�is�not�a�good�use�of�an�asset.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��I�understand�that�but�I�am�talking�about�officer�welfare.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Releasing�that�and�making�space�and,�as�

the�Commissioner�was�also�saying,�making�more�modern�use�of�office�space�with�a�move�to�open�plan�is�to�be�

welcomed�and�saves�money�and�is�also�about�being�more�efficient.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Let�me�come�back�to�something�else�you�said.��You�said�that�you�do�not�

particularly�want�to�discuss�the�idea�of�raising�the�precept,�but�do�you�consider�it�OK�for�a�Mayor�of�London�to�

throw�a�temper�tantrum�and�blackmail�the�Chancellor�into�giving,�for�example,�£93�million�to�the�police?�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��What�is�this?�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��It�is�a�different�way�of�raising�money�that�is�less�acceptable�than�actually�

going�out�to�Londoners�and�asking�them�if�raising�the�precept�is�all�right.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Certainly,�Jenny,�I�started�the�job�in�2012�

and�the�£90�million�was�secured�to�support�the�police�due�to�the�fact�that�they�were�leading�in�the�largest�

policing�operation�in�peacetime�history�and�that�was�the�Olympics.��That�was�one�of�the�reasons�why�--�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��You�are�missing�the�point,�really,�are�you�not?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��I�am�not�missing�the�point.��That�is�a�

newspaper�report,�but�recognise�what�it�was�for.��It�was�dealing�with�something�that�was�hugely�important�for�

this�city�and�money�well�spent.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Let�me�ask�the�Commissioner�a�question.��There�seems�to�be�a�shortfall�in�

the�budget�of�about�£1.6�million;�again,�small�figures�compared�with�the�overall�problem.��There�seems�to�be�a�

dispute�between�TfL�and�the�MPS�and�I�wonder�if�that�comes�from�the�formation�of�the�new�Traffic�Unit.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��You�might�have�to�help�

me�a�bit�more,�Jenny.��I�am�not�sure�about�this�£1.6�million.��What�is�the�shortfall�for?�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��It�is�on�transport.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��All�right.��We�can�have�a�

look.��I�am�not�quite�sure�what�it�is.��I�do�not�think�we�have�any�dispute�with�TfL.��I�was�saying�earlier.��

Remember�we�were�having�that�discussion�about�PCSOs�and�the�concern�because�the�numbers�had�dropped.��

We�would�end�up�with�vacancies,�for�example,�in�TfL�and�yet�Croydon,�Brent�or�wherever�were�fully�staffed.��

We�were�trying�to�work�out�whether�we�could�get�some�of�the�PCSOs�who�worked�in�the�boroughs�to�work�for�

the�funded�posts,�which�might�be�better�for�them�in�the�long�term.��It�will�be�that�if�we�have�not�filled�a�post�

Page 27



 

 

we�will�not�get�the�money.��I�do�not�expect�to�be�paid�for�a�service�we�are�not�providing.��I�do�not�know�

whether�that�is�it,�but�probably�we�can�have�a�look�if�we�get�a�bit�more�detail.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��I�will�write�to�you�and�give�it�to�you�exactly.��Thank�you.�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��I�am�slightly�confused�by�some�of�the�statements.��This�next�round�of�cuts�-�and�in�fact�

probably�the�cuts�that�you�have�had�leading�up�to�this�-�is�not�business�as�usual,�is�it?��At�the�end�of�the�

four-year�period�after�the�next�phase,�we�will�have�a�very�different�police�service.��In�some�ways,�whether�you�

had�money�in�2012�or�not,�it�may�have�meant�fewer�cuts�at�that�period�of�time�but�to�buy�time�in.�

�

There�was�something�you�said�earlier�about�the�cuts�process�and�I�am�very�pleased�to�hear�that�you�are�doing�

things�slightly�differently.��I�heard�it�from�Stephen�[Greenhalgh]�but�it�was�quite�interesting�in�terms�of�the�

exercise�you�have�gone�through�during�the�summer�and�it�is�quite�important�that�you�have�done�that.�

�

In�the�budget�process�there�are,�of�course,�different�levers�to�reach�the�budget�settlement�and�different�ways�

of�working�and�some�will�bear�greater�savings�in�the�short�term�and�some�will�bear�greater�savings�in�the�long�

term.��I�know,�Commissioner,�you�do�not�want�us�to�talk�about�PCSOs�but�it�is�on�the�agenda.��With�their�

process�of�recruitment�and�leaving�the�service,�probably�-�I�would�not�like�to�describe�this�because�this�is�about�

people’s�jobs�-�as�well�as�a�service�to�the�public�in�terms�of�a�policing�service,�it�is�probably�easier�to�let�them�

go�to�achieve�financial�savings�than�others.��What�is�the�process�of�where�you�put�a�policing�priority�to�say,�

“No,�I�do�not�want�to�take�that�saving�at�this�moment�in�time�because�it�does�not�make�policing�sense�and�

because�I�need�to�protect�that�for�whatever�job�or�role�that�they�are�playing”?��Where�is�that�thinking�and�

where�is�that�built�into�this�process?�

�

I�want�to�go�back�to�some�dates�that�you�have�said.��We�know�that�at�the�September�meeting�you�are�receiving�

proposals.��We�also�have�some�other�dates�here�in�December.��You�have�mentioned�it�and�the�Mayor�mentions�

it�in�his�response�to�you,�Chair.��Is�it�the�December�meeting�where�you�are�going�to�make�some�pretty�major�

decisions�about�policing�over�the�next�four�years?��Are�you�going�to�be�in�a�position�to�do�that?�

�

Where�does�the�consultation�fit�into�that?��You�talked�about�trade�union�consultation�and�there�are�mixed�

views�about�the�informal�side�and�the�formal�side.��Equally,�what�is�the�public�consultation?��Is�it�going�to�be�

MOPAC�coming�out�in�January�or�is�it�the�MPS�that�is�going�to�come�out�to�have�-�as�with�some�of�our�

exchanges�in�the�past�-�an�honest�debate�about�what�the�police�service�looks�like�in�the�coming�years?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Presumably�we�should�talk�

about�consultation.��In�terms�of�timings,�it�seems�to�me�that�we�are�talking�about�weeks,�not�years,�in�terms�of�

making�decisions.�

�

Here�we�are,�nearly�at�the�end�of�September.��In�November,�a�matter�of�probably�six�to�eight�weeks�away,�the�

Home�Office�will�know�what�it�is�getting�and�within�a�few�weeks�of�that�it�will�tell�us.��There�is�no�certainty�

about�the�date�it�will�tell�us.��We�believe�it�will�be�before�Christmas�and�that�is�what�usually�happens�anyway�

and�so�we�know�that.��We�will�plan�our�meeting�structure�and�consultation�around�that�initially.��Could�we�

make�decisions�straightaway?��It�would�probably�be�foolish�to�make�decisions�within�a�matter�of�days.��We�will�

have�to�absorb�what�that�means.��We�then�have�Christmas.��We�can�work�through�Christmas�and�then�we�have�

to�get�a�budget�ready�for�April,�which�will�be�12�weeks�away.��That�is�the�broad�timescale�we�are�talking�about.�

�

We�will�do�our�best�in�that�time�to�consult.��To�me,�all�the�consultation�that�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�

Crime�took�and�that�we�supported�around�the�closure�of�police�stations,�in�my�view,�seemed�to�be�a�pretty�

effective�mechanism.��People�at�least�felt�as�though�they�were�being�consulted�and�were�generally�consulted�

Page 28



 

 

about�what�was�going�to�happen.��The�plan�changed�a�little�after�that�consultation.��It�is�more�difficult,�not�

impossible,�when�you�are�talking�about�the�time�we�are�talking�about�and�the�scale�of�the�change.��Whatever�

we�can�do�in�the�time�we�have,�we�will�do,�of�course,�but�the�time�is�difficult�and�that�is�going�to�be�a�

challenge�for�all�of�us.��The�money�is�difficult�and�the�time�to�make�the�plans�is�equally�difficult.��As�you�have�

indicated,�the�lead�time�also�is�quite�long�and�the�longer�we�wait�the�harder�it�gets.�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��Where�does�public�consultation�come�into�it?��I�know�you�personally�hold�dear�policing�by�

consent,�but�where�is�that�honest�conversation�about�the�type�of�service�that�I�and�other�members�of�the�

public�can�expect�from�the�police�service�with�diminishing�resources?��It�is�very�different�territory�with�the�scale�

of�the�cuts.��Most�of�your�services�are�people�and�I�have�a�different�view�about�the�front�line�than�

Stephen�[Greenhalgh]�has.��You�are�part�of�the�front�line�and�many�of�your�back-office�staff�are�part�of�the�

front�line�in�terms�of�supporting�services�and�so�we�have�already�had�an�impact�on�the�front�line�with�these�

cuts.��What�we�are�facing�now�is�slightly�different.��Where�does�the�public�fit�into�that?��I�am�still�not�clear�--�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��In�my�view,�that�is�--�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��Sorry,�Commissioner.��I�am�still�not�clear�whether�it�is�MOPAC�that�is�going�to�be�leading�an�

exercise�or�[the�MPS]�in�terms�of�the�New�Year�or�are�you�not�doing�an�exercise�in�engaging�with�the�public�on�

these�issues?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��There�are�processes�that�we�should�be�

aware�of�where�the�timing�is�a�little�unfortunate.��My�understanding�-�and�I�stand�to�be�corrected�-�is�that�the�

Home�Office�will�know�its�money�in�November,�the�actual�amount�that�the�MPS�receives�will�be�available�in�

December�and�the�Greater�London�Authority�(GLA)�budget�consultation�starts�at�the�end�of�November.��

Effectively,�you�are�modelling�and�discussing�and�opening�up�a�budget�that�may�need�to�be�amended�when�

you�get�the�budget�through�from�the�Home�Office�in�December,�which�is�a�little�unfortunate.��Therefore,�we�

are�not�absolutely�certain�until�December.�

�

At�the�point�at�which�we�know�the�decisions�and�choices�that�have�to�be�made�at�this�stage,�if�they�are�

significant�changes,�which�some�of�them�will�be,�we�will�need�to�find�an�appropriate�way�of�engaging�with�the�

public,�as�we�have�done�in�the�past�when�it�came�to�changes�to�both�the�police�estate�and�front�counters�and�

also�the�way�that�neighbourhood�policing�is�carried�out.��That�was�entirely�proper�and�it�would�be�my�proposal�

this�time�around,�but�that�needs�to�be�structured�based�on�what�we�decide�to�do.��At�this�stage,�we�cannot�

consult�on�options.��I�think�you�would�agree�with�that.�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��More�significant,�why�can�you�not�engage�with�the�public�about�some�of�the�dilemmas�that�

you�have?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��The�problem�is�--�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��Do�you�know�what�I�mean?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Len,�in�all�seriousness,�I�will�answer�this�

question�very�directly.��It�comes�back�to�the�point�that�the�Commissioner�made,�which�is�that�if�you�stand�by�

the�changes�in�the�budget�with�phasing�being�equal,�then�you�do�not�have�to�have�the�dramatic�effects�that�

require�you�to�take�very�difficult�decisions�for�the�next�financial�year.��If�the�phasing,�however,�is�radically�

different�and�towards�the�40%�end,�then�of�course�the�options�become�a�lot�more�unpalatable.��Literally,�it�

comes�down�to�that.��There�is�no�point�in�gearing�up�to�how�we�plan�the�consultation�until�we�know�the�sorts�

of�measures�that�have�to�be�taken�and�the�speed�at�which�they�need�to�be�decided.��That�is�really�why�it�is�--�

Page 29



 

 

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��There�will�be�consultation?��Are�we�clear�on�that?��I�am�unclear.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Where�there�is�a�fundamental�change�in�

the�way�we�police�London,�there�should�be�public�consultation.�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��OK.��Let�us�talk�about�the�fundamental�change.��We�have�the�PCSO�agenda�as�a�

fundamental�change�in�the�sense�that�PCSOs�are�important�but�it�is�more�about�your�local�policing�measure�

and�the�way�that�you�police�that.��Is�that�fundamental�to�discuss?�

�

Can�I�also�put�on�the�agenda�this�question�to�the�Commissioner?��Commissioner,�you�earlier�on�alluded�to�a�

couple�of�other�proposals�that�you�would�like�to�share�with�us�today.��One�of�those�I�would�like�to�put�on,�

which�I�am�not�sure�about�at�the�moment�because�I�only�know�some�details�of�it,�is�the�changing�way�that�we�

may�be�providing�response�in�the�future.��Part�of�that�in�policing�terms�is�that�you�would�grow�the�response�

unit�by�asking�it�to�do�certain�other�tasks�that�it�would�not�normally�do�under�the�response�it�is�doing�now,�

which�is�a�change�in�the�way�of�policing�and�it�may�well�be�a�good�outcome�for�the�public�in�that�sense.�

�

Is�that�something�that�is�fundamental�in�terms�of�what�is�being�said�and�should�there�be�not�so�much�

consultation�but�engagement�with�the�public�to�keep�the�trust�in�confidence�about�policing�in�a�time�of�

reduced�resources?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��The�way�you�phrased�it�

there�is�realistic�-�engaging�-�because�proper�consultation,�which�we�have�just�accused�the�Home�Office�of�not�

doing�on�the�funding�formula,�takes�time�and�it�is�not�my�fault�that�the�time�is�short.��We�are�going�to�have�to�

deal�with�the�consequences�of�what�we�have�been�given�in�the�time�we�have�available.�

�

For�example,�we�have�concentrated�up�until�now�-�quite�properly�-�and�we�have�talked�about�PCSOs�and�we�

have�talked�about�big�chunks�of�money,�but�one�of�the�other�things�we�have�talked�about�you�went�into:�

response.��How�do�we�organise�it?��Do�we�organise�it�across�boroughs?��Instead�of�stopping�at�the�Lambeth�

borough,�do�we�say,�“We�are�only�in�the�next�street.��Let�us�get�some�more�efficiency�from�that”?��That�was�

your�second�point�that�we�are�having�to�consider.��Do�we�expect�the�officers�to�do�more?�

�

However,�if�we�do�all�of�that,�do�we�continue�with�our�present�performance�targets�in�the�same�way?��I�do�not�

think�that�is�realistic.��What�we�will�always�do�-�while�I�am�here�-�is�we�will�attend�emergencies�as�quickly�as�we�

need�to.��For�example,�the�15-minute�target�I�am�sure�will�remain.��However,�we�have�a�further�target�of�one�

hour.��Do�we�stick�with�one�hour�or�do�we�go�to�two?��Provided�someone’s�life�is�not�at�risk�and�provided�an�

offender�is�not�at�the�scene,�it�will�do�two�things,�potentially.��One,�we�may�be�able�to�do�more�with�less�

resources.��Two,�frankly,�we�may�do�more�while�we�are�there�rather�than�racing�away�and�doing�something�

else,�which�we�are�criticised�for�at�times,�“You�get�there�quickly�and�you�leave�quickly.��Do�you�do�your�job�

properly?”�

�

They�are�the�sorts�of�things�that�we�are�having�to�consider.��The�difficulty�for�us�in�the�time�we�have�is�how�

well�we�do�the�work�to�present�to�the�public�and�others,�like�this�Assembly,�about�the�consequences�of�some�

of�these�things.��However,�I�will�just�go�back:�it�is�the�least�worst�option,�not�the�best.�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��In�terms�of�growing�response,�if�you�look�at�the�pools�of�people�where�you�could�grow�the�

response�in�the�MPS,�you�almost�have�to�look�at�the�local�policing�measure�to�take�those�people�and�add�to�

response.��Therefore,�we�lose�the�capacity�to�be�able�to�deal�with�issues�within�boroughs,�flashpoints�or�

particular�centres�of�crime.�

Page 30



 

 

�

That,�it�seems�to�me,�is�a�debate�that�we�should�fundamentally�have�and�I,�as�an�elected�politician,�should�be�

able�to�understand�what�you�are�doing�and�the�public�should�understand�that�maybe�there�is�a�new�way�of�

policing�going�on.��We�are�not�quite�there�yet�and�I�do�not�quite�see�that.��I�can�see�where�

Stephen�[Greenhalgh]�is�coming�from�when�he�is�saying,�“Wait�and�see�on�the�phasing”.��Even�with�phasing,�

we�are�into�a�different�type�of�policing�model.��Somehow,�the�sooner�we�have�that�conversation�and�the�

sooner�people�understand�that�policing�model,�the�sooner�we�can�get�back�into�what�we�should�be�doing,�

focusing�on�cutting�down�crime�still,�which�you�are�doing�now�and�you�are�doing�it�-�I�have�to�say�-�under�very�

difficult�circumstances.�

�

The�bit�that�is�missing�for�me�-�and�it�is�not�an�accusation�against�people�here�-�is�generally�about�an�honest�

debate�about�the�service�that�we�are�going�to�receive�and�the�fact�that�I�do�not�understand�the�pressures�that�

may�well�be�affecting�the�police�officers�or�PCSOs�carrying�out�their�duties.��We�are�making�the�jobs�of�people�

who�deliver�policing,�the�people�below�you,�much�harder�to�do�in�retaining�that�trust�and�confidence�because�

that�is�what�will�happen�in�this�cuts�process�and�will�actually�make�the�criminals’�lives�easier�in�some�ways.��I�

hope�not�in�terms�of�a�new�settlement,�but�I�am�anxious�about�this�process�that�we�are�in�and�anxious�about�

what�you�have�said�to�me�about�some�of�the�missing�elements�that�I�would�like�to�see�in�terms�of�your�

deliberations�and�processes,�whether�it�changes�slightly�about�what�we�discuss�post-Christmas�or�not.��

Somehow,�there�has�to�be�an�engagement�process.�

�

I�have�never�known,�Chair,�the�Home�Office�ever�to�deliver�to�any�of�its�deadlines�in�November.��I�live�in�hope�

and�I�hope�it�can�because�this�is�quite�crucial�for�us�to�plan.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�always�get�the�budget,�

generally,�in�December.�

�

First�of�all,�an�offer.��If�there�is�any�way�that�we�can�work�together�-�and�I�am�sure�with�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�

Policing�and�Crime�-�to�sit�down�and�share�what�we�are�doing,�there�are�no�secrets,�in�one�sense?��We�are�

sketching�out�the�scale�of�the�task.��You�are�quite�right.��The�broader�the�church�of�people�who�say,�“Actually,�

I�can�support�that�but�I�challenge�you�on�that”,�the�better�the�debate.��It�is�not�a�political�debate�for�us.��It�is�

just�about�what�we�can�get�right.��We�do�not�hold�the�Holy�Grail.��We�have�our�proposals�and�we�know�what�

we�think�we�can�achieve�professionally,�but�we�do�have�to�have�a�discussion�about�that.��Any�work�that�we�can�

do�during�that�period�I�am�quite�happy�to�do.�

�

There�are�two�or�three�things�driving�us�towards�quite�a�closed�process.��You�are�arguing�for�one�with�the�

public�and�with�elected�representatives.��With�the�public�one,�we�have�been�driven�into�a�poor�process�by�time.��

We�have�been�driven�into�a�closed�one.��I�do�not�want�to�be�accused�of�shroud-waving�by�anybody�and�I�do�

not�want�to�fall�out�with�the�people�who�I�hope�are�going�to�give�us�some�help�here�and�who�are�going�to�help�

us�through�this.��We�want�to�negotiate�and�influence,�not�fall�out.�

�

Thirdly,�this�is�talking�about�people’s�jobs.��Every�time�we�talk�more�openly�about�some�of�the�horrible�options,�

it�worries�people.��I�have�a�duty�to�the�people�I�lead�to�present�them�with�credible�options�that�are�maturely�

reflected�on,�not�to�worry�them�and�then�find�that�I�have�worried�them�unnecessarily.�

�

They�are�the�pressures�that�I�feel.��We�are�being�driven�to�a�quick,�closed�process.��You�are�arguing�for�an�open�

one.��I�agree�with�you.��With�the�people�of�London�and�with�the�volume�of�them,�realistically,�it�is�very�hard.��

However,�with�the�elected�representatives,�certainly�for�me,�anything�we�can�do�to�have�as�open�a�debate�as�

possible�I�am�happy�to�do.�

�

Page 31



 

 

Len�Duvall�AM:��Thank�you.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��Could�I�ask�two�questions?��One�of�your�promises�was�to�ensure�that�a�

police�officer�visited�a�victim�of�every�crime.��Given�the�scale�of�the�cuts,�is�that�going�to�be�doable�in�the�

future�or�are�you�looking�at�some�of�those�service�proposals�now�as�well?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�have�not�reached�that�

level�of�detail�but,�as�I�said�in�the�answer�to�Len,�if�you�are�asking�me,�intuitively,�I�would�prefer�to�lengthen�

the�time�before�we�arrive�than�to�say,�“We�are�not�coming”.��That�would�be�my�view.��I�have�said�we�will�carry�

on�going�to�burglaries.��Whatever�the�future�holds,�we�will.��If�it�is�serious,�if�somebody�comes�into�your�home,�

you�should�expect�the�police�to�take�it�seriously.��The�volume�of�burglaries�is�relatively�low;�I�think�it�is�on�

average�seven�per�borough�per�day.��Even�if�we�stopped�going�to�them,�we�would�not�save�much�time�and�we�

would�let�the�public�down�badly.��Taking�a�little�longer�to�get�to�them,�if�the�offender�is�not�there,�the�public�

may�understand�if�they�understand�the�scale�of�the�challenge.��We�have�to�make�sensible�decisions�and�some�

of�the�things�I�have�heard�around�the�country�I�do�not�support.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��My�final�question�then�is�really�about�who�takes�the�final�decision.��We�

have�teased�this�grey�area�before�between�what�is�a�political�imperative�for�a�directly�elected�Police�and�Crime�

Commissioner,�who�has�said�that�he�wants�to�maintain�Safer�Neighbourhood�Teams,�and�the�operational�needs�

and�you�having�control�of�the�operation.��What�would�happen�if,�for�example,�Stephen�[Greenhalgh]�and�the�

Mayor�say,�“We�want�to�retain�PCSOs”,�but�you�say,�“Operationally,�I�just�cannot�do�that�because�of�the�

funding�cuts”?��Does�the�buck�rest�with�you�or�the�Mayor�or�is�it�a�shared�responsibility?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�are�going�to�have�to�

tease�you�a�little�longer.��My�broad�view�is�that�it�is�something�you�keep�debating.��You�are�not�arguing�with�us�

but�debating�with�us,�“Where�does�that�debate�happen�with�you?”��All�right,�sometimes�my�staff�think�I�have�

absolute�power.��I�do�not;�I�wish�I�had.��You�have�to�discuss�things.��These�are�big�issues�of�public�concern�with�

big�amounts�of�money.��Of�course�we�will�discuss�them.��I�have�been�in�policing�30-odd�years�and�have�been�a�

Chief�Constable�-�a�leader�-�of�the�police�for�10.��I�do�not�once�remember�saying,�“That�is�an�operational�

decision.��You�cannot�do�it”.��You�eventually�get�to�a�point�where�you�can�agree�because�there�is�no�one�pure�

vision.��You�can�never�get�it�absolutely�right.��I�feel�with�politicians�that�they�do�not�want�to�get�involved�in�the�

day-to-day�operational�decisions,�but�these�are�big�things�and�we�have�to�keep�discussing�them.�

�

What�I�do�argue�for�strongly�is�that�every�time�you�take�something�off�the�table�that�you�do�not�like,�please,�

put�something�on�the�table�that�you�do�want�to�remove.��Today�has�been�representative�of�this.��People�know�

what�they�do�not�want,�but�they�are�not�as�clear�about�what�they�would�prefer�us�to�cut.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��Deputy�Mayor,�do�you�want�to�comment�on�this?��Of�course,�the�Mayor�

has�said�before�that�--�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Clearly,�the�money�flows�from�the�

Exchequer�to�the�Home�Office�and�then�it�flows�to�MOPAC.��One�of�the�roles�is�to�set�a�budget�that�is�the�best�

budget�for�London�with�the�resources�that�we�have.��I�have�taken�the�decision�to�have�greater�scrutiny�of�the�

individual�spending�decisions�throughout�the�year.�

�

It�is,�obviously,�a�collaborative�approach.��There�are�some�decisions�that�the�MPS�will�have�to�take�that�will�be�

extremely�difficult�for�the�organisation�to�go�through�and�that�the�leadership�will�find�difficult�to�land.��In�fact,�

some�of�the�proposals�that�will�come�forward,�I�am�sure,�will�have�been�tried�before.��Equally,�there�are�going�

to�be�other�proposals�that�are�very�difficult�politically�to�land�with�the�people�of�London.��However,�we�would�

Page 32



 

 

be�abrogating�our�responsibility�if�we�did�not�have�a�budget�that�was�a�sensible�budget�for�the�next�year�and�a�

very�clear�idea�of�where�further�savings�need�to�be�made�in�future�years.��That�is�what�we�are�working�on.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��Thank�you.��We�will�be�returning�to�this,�no�doubt,�over�the�coming�

months,�as�will�our�Budget�and�Performance�Committee.�

�

We�are�going�to�move�on�now�to�look�at�some�of�the�gangs�work�that�the�MPS�and�MOPAC�are�carrying�out.��

Tony,�you�are�going�to�be�leading�us�on�this.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��This�is�to�you,�Stephen.��MOPAC�has�spent�quite�a�lot�of�money�setting�up�Shield.��It�does�

not�appear�to�have�been�a�total�success.��That�is�probably�an�understatement.��Are�you�confident�that�the�

stakeholder�engagement�that�was�carried�out�to�develop�Shield�was�robust�and�extensive?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Sorry.��What�was�the�question?�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��I�am�saying�that�since�Shield�does�not�appear�to�have�been�universally�popular,�I�want�to�

know�whether�or�not�you�are�confident�that�the�consultation�that�was�carried�out�before�setting�up�Shield�and�

the�stakeholder�engagement�was�sufficiently�robust.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Certainly,�this�is�a�pilot,�Tony,�and�this�was�

done�with�a�significant�amount�of�consultation�and�support�from�the�local�authorities�that�wanted�to�lead�on�

the�community�engagement.��In�fact,�I�went�to�launch�this�in�Lambeth�and�they�were�very�enthusiastic,�largely�

because�some�of�the�elements�of�the�Shield�programme�they�considered�to�be�things�that�they�were�doing�

already.�

�

It�is�fair�to�say�that�we�are�at�very�early�stages�to�write�this�programme�off.��There�is�no�doubt�that�there�are�

some�problems,�but�one�of�the�three�pilot�boroughs�has�not�even�started�yet�and�that�is�going�to�happen�later�

this�month�in�Westminster.��There�are,�clearly,�some�concerns�in�Haringey�and�some�issues�in�Lambeth.��

However,�I�would�hope�that�where�there�are�problems�you�work�those�through.��I�would�say,�given�where�we�

are,�it�would�be�wrong�to�write�off�the�programme.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��I�am�not�sure�I�am�asking�you�to�write�off�the�programme.��I�do�not�know�whether�you�

have�looked�at�the�report�that�you�had�from�our�session�on�Shield,�but�many�of�the�contributions�that�were�

made�suggested�that�the�thing�was�not�going�to�work�and�could�not�work.��For�example,�we�were�told�by�the�

man�from�the�St�Giles�Trust�that�in�fact�it�would�do�more�harm�than�good.�

�

Do�you�not�think�that�given�that�it�is�a�pilot,�in�the�light�of�those�early�and�quite�strong�signals�and�two�

boroughs�not�being�happy�about�it�at�all,�you�might�perhaps�be�thinking�of�writing�it�off�now�and�putting�the�

money�into�something�else?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��No.��First�of�all,�we�are�investing�around�

£11.3�million�in�supporting�gang�interventions�and�tackling�knife�crime�and�there�is�around�£1.25�million�that�

is�being�spent�on�a�pan-London�gang-exit�scheme.��This�is�an�investment�of�£200,000�to�do�a�pilot.�

�

What�I�accept�is�that�it�has�been�a�stuttering�pilot�and�there�are�some�issues�that�we�need�to�work�through.��

For�instance,�I�understand�from�meeting�with�colleagues�in�Lambeth�-�and�I�met�with�Lib�Peck�[Leader�of�

Lambeth�Council]�-�that�the�call-in�was�held�in�the�Town�Hall,�which�was�not�a�particularly�successful�location.��

I�do�not�know�why�this�happened�because�there�was�no�need�for�it�to�happen�in�that�place�but�it�was�not�

entirely�the�right�place�to�hold�a�gang�call-in.��Clearly,�there�are�lessons�you�can�learn.�

Page 33



 

 

�

Tony,�the�principle�of�Shield�is�that�it�has�worked�in�50�cities�across�the�world�with�a�dramatic�reduction�in�

violence�in�those�cities.��In�fact,�in�Edinburgh�violence�was�halved.��This�is�a�pilot�we�think�is�worth�persevering�

with�to�get�right�and�to�reduce�the�levels�of�violence�in�our�community.��We�could�certainly�learn�lessons�and�I�

hope�that�we�are�learning�those�lessons.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��I�have�been�around�from�the�beginning.��I�have�seen�lots�and�lots�of�police�initiatives.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��This�is�not�a�police�initiative.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��I�will�rephrase�that:�lots�of�initiatives�on�dealing�with�gangs�and�with�communities.��As�far�

as�this�particular�one�is�concerned,�I�have�never�seen�a�parallel�like�it�in�the�sense�that�we�are�told�-�and�you�

have�told�me�the�political�leadership�seemingly�does�not�agree�with�this�-�that�communities�in�Lambeth�and�

Haringey�say�that�this�is�going�to�cause�more�trouble�than�it�is�worth.���

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Clearly�there�is�some�misunderstanding.��

One�of�the�issues�that�has�been�raised�is�that�this�is�a�form�of�joint�enterprise�or�extension�of�joint�enterprise�

for�communities.��That�is�not�the�case.��The�insight�from�Professor�David�Kennedy�[Director,�National�Network�

for�Safe�Communities,�John�Jay�College�of�Criminal�Justice]�is�as�applicable�here�as�it�is�anywhere.��We�are�

talking�about�18�gangs�that�commit�around�60%�of�the�violence�on�the�streets�of�London.��Focusing�on�them�

in�a�way�that�engages�the�community�to�be�supportive�of�the�fact�that�they�will�not�tolerate�that�level�of�

violence�is�the�right�way�to�go.��‘Collective�enforcement’�does�not�mean�joint�enterprise.��That�is�one�of�the�

things�we�are�struggling�to�get�through�to�certain�members�of�the�community,�but�that�is�not�all�the�

community.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��I�understand.��You�are�dealing�with�misinformation�here.��I�fully�accept�that�that�

happened.��You�have�had�such�a�poor�start�with�this�and�such�a�lack�of�confidence,�so�far�as�one�can�tell,�on�

this.���

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��We�have�had�vocal�opposition�from�

members�in�the�community.��I�would�not�say�it�is�a�poor�start.��Engagement�certainly�needs�to�be�looked�at�and�

that�is�why�we�are�going�slower�in�some�of�the�areas.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��You�may�say�that,�Stephen,�and�I�have�often�criticised�the�people�who�come�to�give�

evidence�to�the�Police�and�Crime�Committee.��However,�there�was�unanimity.��They�were�not�simply�expressing�

a�view�of�being�a�voice�louder�than�others.��They�were�people�who�had�themselves�been�engaged�within�those�

communities.�

�

Can�I�ask�you�what�feedback�you�have�had�from�non-official�people�like�the�leaders�of�the�councils?��Have�you�

had�feedback�from�these�groups?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Yes,�I�have.��That�is�what�I�referred�to.��

The�feedback�I�had�from�the�Leader�of�Lambeth�when�we�had�a�London�Crime�Reduction�Board�was�that�the�

call-in�venue�-�and�I�wanted�to�go�down�and�see�the�call-in�myself�but�was�told�I�was�not�to�politicise�it�-�was�

not�the�right�venue.��You�then�had�to�go�and�find�the�nominals�concerned,�which�was�done�within�a�period�of�

about�48�hours.��That�was�one�of�the�major�problems.��The�second�one�was�some�misunderstanding�of�the�

basis�upon�which�you�do�the�group�violence�intervention�method.��I�have�alluded�to�that�as�well.�

�

Do�you�have�any�other�points�you�want�to�raise?�

Page 34



 

 

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��Honestly,�I�cannot�believe�that�this�thing�foundered�just�because�a�meeting�was�held�in�

the�wrong�place.���

�

I�do�not�know�if�you�have�a�view�on�this,�Commissioner,�as�to�whether�or�not�you�think�that�groups�were�

sufficiently�engaged�before�this�thing�got�underway.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�am�afraid�I�do�not�know�

how�the�engagement�went�but�I�do�support�it.��All�the�research�shows�-�which�Professor�Kennedy�has�shared�

with�boroughs�around�London�-�that�this�approach,�which�started�in�Boston,�works.���

�

Stephen�[Greenhalgh]�and�I�have�a�regular�meeting�with�the�leaders�of�the�boroughs�or�whomever�they�send�to�

represent�them�in�which�we�are�concentrating�on�gangs�probably�three�times�a�year.��Some�of�the�leaders�are�

very�good�and�turn�up�and�some�send�representatives.��That�was�where�some�of�these�discussions�started.��The�

engagement�at�that�level�looked�pretty�good�to�me.���

�

London�can�be�quite�a�challenging�place�in�which�to�land�new�ideas.��As�you�know,�quite�often�different�

boroughs�say,�“We�are�already�doing�something.��It�works�here.��Why�can’t�we�carry�on?”�when�all�the�evidence�

shows�it�does�not�always�work�as�well�as�some�other�things.���

�

I�support�it�wholeheartedly.��I�am�sure�people�need�to�talk�a�bit�more�about�it.��I�do�not�support�people�

rejecting�it�just�because,�“We�don’t�do�it�here”.��I�have�always�thought�if�you�have�got�good�evidence�that�

something�works,�give�it�a�go.��Particularly�if�you�can�see�that�the�gangs�are�not�going�away.��There�are�still�

issues�that�we�are�dealing�with�and�we�do�need�to�start�some�new�things.��I�wholeheartedly�support�it.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Tony,�this�may�be�helpful.��I�do�not�know�

if�this�is�news�to�you.��There�have�been�relatively�few�meetings,�in�terms�of�five�community�meetings�in�

Lambeth,�four�in�Westminster�and�three�in�Haringey�and�also�some�one-to-one�meetings.��There�has�been�

some�support�from�the�Community�Development�Foundation.���

�

We�are�very�much�at�the�start�of�a�programme.��It�is�clear�that�things�need�to�be�worked�through.��The�

opposition�-�as�I�understand�it�-�was�not�just�about�where�the�call-in�was�held.��As�I�said,�it�was�a�

misunderstanding�of�the�principles�of�the�group�violence�intervention�method.��It�was�a�combination�of�things.��

It�does�not�help�if�you�hold�a�gang�call-in�in�a�municipal�building.��My�understanding�of�places�like�Enfield�is�

that�when�they�have�held�call-ins�in�the�past�they�use�a�court�building�or�they�bring�people�in�that�can�make�a�

point.��The�buildings�do�matter.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��I�would�have�said�that�was�a�trivial�point.��The�Committee�would�want�to�demonstrate�to�

you�that�there�is�a�healthy�scepticism�about�this.�

�

If�I�can�raise�a�simple�related�thing�as�far�as�gangs�are�concerned.��It�is�suggested�-�and�I�believe�the�police�

themselves�have�suggested�-�that�the�changes�in�the�stop-and-search�policy�that�there�have�been�is,�in�fact,�an�

encouragement�to�gangs,�particularly�gangs�whose�members�are�likely�to�be�carrying�knives.��They�believe�if�

there�is�going�to�be�less�stop-and-search�they�are�more�likely�to�get�away�with�it�and�therefore�the�gangs�

themselves�feel�rather�more�confident.��Would�you�have�a�view�on�that?��Can�I�ask�Stephen�first�and�then�you,�

Commissioner?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��There�is�no�doubt�that�we�are�seeing�a�

massive�reduction�in�stop-and-search.��For�a�long�period�of�time�the�arrest�rate�had�increased�by�such�an�

Page 35



 

 

extent�that�more�people�were�being�arrested.��Statistically�there�was�no�way�you�could�say,�“I�am�free�now�to�

walk�around�and�I�won’t�be�stopped,�searched�and�caught�if�I�carry�a�knife”.��We�have�also�had�the�tightening�

up�of�the�legislation.��The�concern�-�which�is�the�premise�of�your�question�-�is�that�at�a�point�in�time,�maybe�

four�or�five�months�ago,�the�absolute�number�of�people�arrested�through�this�tactic�actually�decreased;�the�

absolute�rather�than�the�percentage.��That�is�concerning.�

�

My�view�is�that�what�we�have�to�do�as�politicians�is�not�call�from�the�political�armchair�and�say,�“Let’s�increase�

stop-and-search,�please,�Commissioner”,�or,�“Let’s�reduce�it”,�but�recognise�that�it�is�a�valued�policing�tactic�

when�it�is�intelligently�implemented.��It�is�interesting�to�note�that�some�boroughs�-�and�Lambeth�is�one�where�

we�have�got�the�Shield�pilot�-�where�the�Borough�Commander�has�increased�the�amount�of�stop-and-search�

and�violence�figures�in�that�borough�are�far�better�than�other�comparable�boroughs.��That�is�an�example�where�

having�transparency�and�oversight�works,�and�giving�the�police�the�ability�to�make�the�decision�about�how�

often�they�deploy�a�very�important�tactic.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��I�understand�you�to�say�that�increasing�stop-and-search�therefore�does�reduce�crime.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��I�am�not�saying�that�it�does�necessarily.��

What�I�am�saying�is�that�one�of�the�problems�of�calling�for�a�reduction�and�saying�it�must�be�reduced,�given�

the�start�point�is�very�high,�is�that�more�stop-and-search�might�be�a�bad�thing�but,�after�a�period�of�time�when�

it�has�dropped�and�you�see�a�gradual�rise�again,�sometimes�it�can�be�associated�with�a�reduction�in�violence�in�

that�area.��That�is�one�of�the�associations�we�made�when�we�scrutinised�stop-and-search�in�Lambeth.��If�you�

implement�stop-and-search�very�poorly�then�it�is�absolutely�a�disaster�for�community�confidence�and�does�not�

catch�any�of�the�criminals.��It�is�about�doing�this�thing�properly�and�intelligently,�not�just�calling�for�a�blanket�

increase.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��Commissioner,�what�do�you�think?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��First�of�all,�as�I�have�said�

here�before,�when�I�arrived�in�2011�I�found�that�stop-and-search�and�stop-and-account,�because�people�who�

experience�it�talk�about�both;�it�is�not�just�being�searched�it�is�being�stopped�and�questioned�on�the�street�-�

was�running�at�about�1.3�million�to�1.4�million�in�each�of�the�two�previous�years.��There�was�a�lot�of�it.��That�

worried�me�because�it�sounded�high.��Also,�as�Stephen�has�already�pointed�out,�the�number�of�people�we�

arrested�or�the�percentage�of�people�we�were�stopping�-�and�therefore�validated�the�stop�-�was�very�low�at�

about�7%.��Therefore,�93%�of�the�people�we�were�stopping�were�stopped�apparently�for�a�reason�that�we�

could�not�justify.��That�was�one�thing�that�was�worrying.�

�

We�know�that�stop-and-search�is�contentious;�it�is�around�the�world.��Often�minorities�feel�that�tension�more�

than�anybody�else.��At�the�public�meetings�that�I�was�having�I�was�struck�by�the�number�of�black�families�who�

were�saying�that�their�children�were�getting�stopped�a�lot,�who�had�never�been�in�trouble�and�never�would�be.��

They�understood�the�tactic.��They�supported�it.��They�did�not�want�us�to�stop�it�but�they�did�want�us�to�target�

properly.��When�we�did�it�they�wanted�us�to�treat�people�with�respect.��We�did�reduce�it.���

�

During�the�just�over�three�years�we�have�done�that,�two�things�have�happened.��As�Stephen�[Greenhalgh]�has�

indicated�already�we�arrested�more�people�and�violence�came�down,�stabbings�came�down.��There�was�always�

going�to�be�a�point�-�if�it�has�any�value�at�all�-�where�that�would�bottom�out.��There�is�some�evidence�that�it�

has�bottomed�out.��For�the�last�three�months�we�have�said�we�are�going�to�increase�it�in�a�targeted�way�

according�to�the�law.��We�cannot�just�say�we�will�increase�it.��Individuals�can�only�be�stopped�because�you�have�

a�reasonable�suspicion.��We�have�trained�our�officers�to�-�we�hope�-�improve�them�in�the�way�they�deal�with�

people.��We�have�trained�them�to�target�according�to�the�law.��We�are�in�a�good�position�to�target�those�

Page 36



 

 

people�who�are�carrying�knives�around�in�particular.��It�is�not�the�only�reason�to�stop-and-search�somebody�but�

when�you�have�got�children�stabbing�each�other�it�is�not�good.��We�are�increasing�it�in�a�reasonable�way�in�

those�areas�where�we�think�it�needs�to�happen.�

�

You�can�criticise�it�both�ways.��You�can�say,�“You�are�increasing�it.��Why�did�you�ever�reduce�it?”��You�can�do�

too�much�of�it�and�there�was�some�evidence�that�we�were.��We�have�reduced�it�and�we�are�now�sensibly�and�

maturely�increasing�it.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��Would�you�accept�-�and�this�is�part�of�the�premise�of�my�question�-�that�there�is�a�belief�

that�if�there�is�less�stop-and-account�that�is�likely�to�embolden�people,�for�example,�to�carry�knives�on�the�

basis�that�they�are�much�less�likely�to�be�stopped�than�they�otherwise�might�have�been?��Therefore,�it�is�likely�

to�encourage�crime�rather�than�decrease�it.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��It�is�a�possibility;�I�would�

acknowledge�that.��Provided�the�people�who�are�in�the�gangs,�for�example,�particularly�the�repeat�offenders�

who�carry�knives,�know�that�there�is�a�chance�that�they�will�be�targeted�and�they�are�the�people�we�are�

targeting,�then�that�is�the�group�we�are�interested�in,�not�the�people�who�never�carry�knives.���

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��Of�course.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�are�interested�in�the�

people�we�believe�are�carrying�knives,�who�have�been�convicted�of�it�previously�and�we�have�intelligence�to�say�

they�are�at�it�now.��That�group�would�always�know�that�we�are�still�doing�it.��We�have�not�stopped�doing�it.��

We�have�reduced�it�drastically.��We�are�down�to�300,000�to�400,000.��It�is�not�as�though�it�stopped�but�it�is�not�

1.4�million.��It�is�targeted�on�the�people�who�we�say�we�are�interested�in.��If�it�is�that�-�as�you�indicated�-�some�

people�think�they�are�going�to�get�away�with�it�and�they�think�we�are�not�stop-and-searching,�or�it�is�so�low�

that�their�chance�of�getting�caught�is�low,�we�have�to�do�something�about�that.��That�is�what�policing�is�about.��

There�is�no�absolute�science�that�says�we�should�be�stop-and-searching�4.3�per�million.��You�have�to�react�to�

what�you�have.��We�are�reacting�sensibly�and�now�is�the�time�to�make�sure�that�we�intervene�more.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��I�understand�that.��We�talk�about�communities�but,�of�course,�the�principal�community��is�

ordinary�people�going�around�their�everyday�work�and�they�do�not�want�to�feel�that�there�is�a�risk�that�they�

might�be�involved�in�something�even�peripherally.��If�they�believe�that�you�are�being�lax,�the�Daily�Mail�reader�

would�say�that�if�there�is�less�stop-and-search,�irrespective�of�its�target�or�whatever,�you�must�be�lax.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Forgive�me,�Tony,�for�not�

using�that�as�my�criteria.�

�
Tony�Arbour�AM:��I�understand�that.��However,�there�is�a�community�that�reads�the�Daily�Mail.��There�is�
another�community�that�believes�the�Daily�Mail!�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��If�the�perception�that�you�

are�going�to�get�away�with�it�rises,�then�that�is�not�good.��If�you�look�at�New�York�where�they�used�to�do�

nearly�1�million�stop-and-searches�a�year,�they�have�gone�down�to�about�23,000�because�statutorily�the�court�

said�that�an�individual�officer�would�be�liable�for�their�actions�and�so�they�stopped�doing�it.��Secondly,�a�

Commissioner�was�imposed�on�the�police�who�said,�“You�can�only�use�powers�of�stop-and-search�when�I�agree�

that�you�can�do�it�in�that�way”.��If�the�MPS�and�I�lose�the�confidence�of�legislators�and�community�

representatives,�then�there�is�that�danger.��It�seemed�to�me�that�we�had�to�react�to�the�information�we�are�

Page 37



 

 

getting,�which�was�to�reduce�it,�to�do�it�sensibly�and�if�we�had�gone�too�far,�then�we�will�do�something�about�

it.��These�are�matters�of�judgement,�not�matters�of�criticism.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Tony,�there�is�a�reason�why�we,�very�

clearly,�as�a�performance�framework,�do�not�just�want�to�see�crime�go�down,�although�we�do.��Obviously�we�

want�to�see�crime�and�victim-based�crime�in�particular�go�down�and�also�to�drive�down�the�level�of�knife�crime�

with�injury,�which�has�gone�up,�although�overall�knife�crime�has�come�down�in�recent�months.�

�

We�also�want�to�see�confidence�in�communities.��That�confidence�is�driven�in�part�because�of�engagement.��We�

have�talked�about�the�importance�of�that�and�having�policing�that�engages�with�communities�and�communities�

that�engage�with�the�police�and,�equally,�that�there�is�a�just�use�of�authority.��We�know�that�the�single�biggest�

effect�on�the�public’s�confidence�in�the�police�positively�is�how�well�they�do�engagement�and�negatively�if�they�

misuse�their�powers.��That�is�why�we�have�to�look�at�both.��It�is�about�getting�that�balance�of�having�the�right�

level�of�stop-and-search�that�keeps�us�safe�and�also�ensuring�it�is�intelligently�carried�out.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��Of�course.��Thank�you,�Chair.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��My�colleague�made�an�interesting�point,�Commissioner,�about�the�difference�between�

measuring�the�effectiveness�of�stop-and-search�on�the�basis�of�arrest�rate�and�measuring�the�deterrent�

effectiveness,�which�is�much�more�difficult�to�quantify.��Are�there�other�ways�you�can�achieve�that�deterrence�

without�using�stop-and-search�so�that�you�can�cut�down�the�amount�of�knives�being�carried�without�damaging�

community�confidence?��I�am�thinking�possibly�of�the�good�work�that�you�do�with�knife�arches�at�stations,�for�

instance.��Those�cover�a�lot�more�people�without�creating�the�initial�friction�between�your�guys�on�the�front�

line�and�the�public.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��The�best�measure�of�

deterrence�is�whether�or�not�knife�crime�is�going�up�and�down.��We�have�seen�a�rise,�which�is�one�of�the�big�

indicators�we�looked�at.��Deterring�people�from�the�casual�carrying�of�knives�stops�a�fight�becoming�a�murder�

or�horrible�event.��That�is�one�of�the�indicators�we�looked�at�and,�I�would�argue,�the�most�objective�one.�

�

In�terms�of�things�like�knife�arches,�you�are�right�that�they�can�supplement�good�stop-and-search.��You�have�

to�resource�them.��Stop-and-search�generally�is�an�officer�patrolling�who�will�see�someone�whom�they�have�

intelligence�about�or�they�will�meet�and�for�some�reason�think�they�have�a�knife,�stolen�property�or�drugs.��

They�are�the�three�broad�areas�that�you�are�always�looking�for.��Also,�if�an�officer�who�is�attending�an�incident�

finds�a�burglar�two�streets�away,�one�of�the�things�that�might�justify�his�arrest�would�be�finding�the�property�

that�has�been�stolen�from�the�burglary�on�him,�obviously.��They�are�the�sorts�of�things�that�we�always�are�using�

that�power�for.�

�

If�you�set�up�a�particular�campaign,�say�around�the�night-time�economy,�you�can�do�it�but�it�drags�your�

resources�in.��You�are�having�to�staff�them.��If�you�are�going�out�at�night,�you�do�not�want�to�stand�in�a�big�

queue�while�we�stop-and-search�everybody�who�is�walking�down�the�street.��Therefore,�you�have�to�staff�it�

appropriately�and�you�will�put�everyone�through�it.��They�can�be�a�good�adjunct.��You�look�at�the�Tube�and�

people�coming�in�and�out�of�there.��We�have�dogs�that�can�search�for�drugs�passively.��I�have�tried�to�find�out�

whether�we�can�get�dogs�to�search�for�knives.��They�told�me�it�is�impossible.��You�can�do�it�for�guns�but�you�

cannot�do�it�for�knives,�but�we�have�tried.��Targeted�stop-and-search�is�a�good�thing.��I�agree�with�you�that�

arches�are�a�real�adjunct�to�that�but�they�do�drag�resources�in.���

�

The�ones�that�Tony�[Arbour�AM]�started�talking�about�are�the�general�and�routine,�either�by�officers�patrolling�

or�by�the�section�60�[power�that]�we�use.��If�we�have�had�a�fight�in�a�park�or�a�repeated�amount�of�violence,�

Page 38



 

 

we�can�put�a�section�60�in�place�around�an�area�and�then�there�can�be�random�stop-and-searching�in�that�area�

for�a�limited�amount�of�time.��We�have�reduced�those�drastically�but,�again,�those�we�have�started�to�increase.��

We�reduced�those�by�about�90%�because�they�were�getting�like�confetti�and�it�became�random�stop-and-

searches�in�too�many�places.��Again,�we�have�looked�at�that�to�see�if�we�should�more�sensibly�be�having�more�

of�those.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Perhaps�I�can�get�us�back�on�track.��I�do�not�often�say�that.�

�

Craig�Mackey�QPM�(Deputy�Commissioner,�Metropolitan�Police�Service):��Just�another�one;�you�

mentioned�deterrent�effects.��Of�course,�since�we�last�met,�we�have�had�the�legislation�change�around�

sentencing.��There�is�this�change�around�a�person�carrying�a�knife�for�a�second�time.��It�is�too�early�to�see�if�

that�will�have�a�deterrent�effect.��We�have�spoken�collectively�before�here�that�the�deterrent�effect�is,�yes,�

being�caught�but�also�that�when�you�are�caught�something�happens�to�you.��We�will�see�whether�that�starts�to�

have�an�effect.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�are�going�to�talk�

about�Notting�Hill�later.��We�had�an�officer�stabbed�at�the�Notting�Hill�Carnival.��Although�the�offender�was�

17,�he�received�a�six-month�sentence.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��I�am�sitting�here�in�my�political�armchair,�as�you�call�it.��My�job�is�to�hold�

you�to�account�and�so�I�would�like�some�short,�clear�answers�on�your�pilot,�Shield.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��I�thought�we�just�covered�that�off.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��One�of�the�points�that�our�Chair�has�made�before�is�that�there�are�

different�thresholds�for�Shield�here�in�Britain�than�there�were�in�the�United�States�where�it�has�been�imported�

from.��What�concrete�changes�did�you�make�to�make�it�suitable�for�London?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��We�have�been�advised�by�

Professor�Kennedy�on�how�to�implement�this.��I�do�not�really�see�what�you�mean�by�‘concrete�changes’.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��For�example,�the�criteria�used�in�the�United�States�was�on�the�number�of�

killings�that�had�happened,�whereas�here�it�is�based�on�whether�or�not�gangs�are�committing�violence.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Certainly�what�we�have�used�would�have�

been�the�Trident�matrix�and�an�understanding�of�which�nominals�and�which�gangs�caused�the�most�violence.��

That�is�known�by�the�MPS.��In�the�Gang�Summit�we�had�the�previous�year,�that�information�was�already�held�

by�the�MPS,�knowing�who�to�target�and�which�gangs�were�particularly�violent.��We�would�have�used�those�

statistics�rather�than�invent�a�new�set�of�statistics.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Professor�Kennedy�gave�you�advice�on�how�to�adapt�the�scheme�for�

London.��He�knew�enough�about�the�London�situation,�presumably,�and�somebody�briefed�him.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��No,�he�was�explaining�the�principles,�that�

it�is�focused�deterrence�and�how�it�works.��Clearly,�you�do�not�reinvent�the�wheel�if�there�are�things�that�

enable�you�to�take�the�principles�and�apply�them.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��It�does�not�seem�to�be�working�here,�though.��That�is�the�problem.�

�

Page 39



 

 

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Well,�no.���

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Adaptation�was�necessary.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��What�is�not�working�here�is�not�necessarily�

the�process�by�which�the�police�use�collective�enforcement�on�the�streets�of�London.��The�issue�we�have�here�

is�engaging�with�communities�in�an�effective�way.��They�are�supposed�to�be�the�backstop�and�it�needs�to�be�

community-led.��That�is�what�is�not�working�at�this�stage�and�needs�to�be�improved.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��You�mentioned�community�help�to�make�this�work.��You�are�using�the�

Community�Development�Foundation�on�your�Shield�programme�board.��Yet�if�you�do�a�website�search�on�

words�like�‘gangs’,�‘youth�violence’,�‘Shield’�and�‘knife�and�gang�crime’,�none�of�them�come�up�on�the�

Community�Development�Foundation�website.��What�made�you�think�it�was�suitable�to�be�on�your�board?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��They�are�the�people�supporting�the�

boroughs.��Effectively,�it�is�an�agency�that�supports�the�boroughs�to�do�the�community�engagement�work.��It�is�

not�doing�the�community�engagement�work�itself.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��What�is�it�doing?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��It�is�helping�the�programme�of�

engagement�with�the�community.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��It�does�not�seem�to�have�any�expertise�in�gangs,�youth�violence,�Shield�or�

knife�and�gang�crime.��One�would�have�thought�you�would�have�picked�a�community�body�that�would�have�

had�those�within�its�résumé�or�actions.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��I�would�have�assumed�that�it�would�have�

been�the�partners�who�decided�on�an�appropriate�body�to�help�with�engagement.��I�can�take�that�back�and�

find�out�why�specifically�it�was�engaged.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��That�would�be�great.��Thank�you.��I�have�been�asking�questions�of�the�

Mayor�on�collective�enforcement.��He�said�that�there�had�been�collective�enforcement�in�Lambeth�and�that�is�

the�only�one.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��To�be�clear,�it�is�not�the�

Community�Development�Foundation�that�leads�on�the�engagement.��It�is�just�supporting�the�boroughs�that�

lead�on�the�engagement.���

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��If�you�are�going�to�have�a�community�body�on�your�board,�it�would�be�

recommended�-�I�would�argue�-�to�have�somebody�who�actually�knows�something�about�the�issues�that�you�

are�dealing�with.���

�

Let�me�go�back�to�the�Lambeth�collective�enforcement.��I�would�like�to�know�what�the�crime�was�that�that�was�

enacted�for.��Commissioner,�are�you�the�person�to�ask�on�this?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�am�not�sure�that�I�know�

what�the�criteria�is�exactly.��Obviously,�what�we�are�concentrating�on�is�the�most�serious�gangs.�

�

Page 40



 

 

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Does�the�Deputy�[Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime]�know�anything�about�

this?��It�is�the�first�of�its�kind,�the�collective�enforcement�in�Lambeth.��That�is�the�answer�I�have�had�from�the�

Mayor.��Was�there�a�collective�enforcement�in�Lambeth?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�do�not�know�what�you�

mean�by�‘collective�enforcement’.���

�

The�whole�principle�behind�the�work�is�twofold.��It�is�that�you�get�in�the�gang�members�and�warn�them�about�

their�activity�and�that�if�they�continue�they�will�be�targeted.��You�warn�the�people�who�are�around�them�that�if�

they�get�involved�they�will�also�be�targeted.��If�they�want�to�seek�help�to�remove�themselves�from�the�gangs,�

help�is�available,�which�is�where�the�local�authorities�and�partners�can�be�alongside,�“If�you�need�help�about�

literacy,�come�and�talk�to�me.”��“If�you�need�help�about�employment,�come�and�talk�to�me”.�

�

Thirdly,�you�have�this�layer�which�is�where�the�community�says,�“We�don’t�want�you�to�do�it�either.��It’s�not�the�

police�telling�us�not�to�do�it.��It’s�not�the�local�authority�saying�not�to�do�it.��We�don’t�like�it�either”.��That�is�

the�core�of�it:�trying�to�engage�the�community,�trying�to�get�the�gang�members�to�realise�that�everybody�is�not�

happy�with�their�behaviour�and�then�give�them�some�very�clear�steers�about�their�options.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��I�understand�what�‘collective�enforcement’�means�as�regard�to�Shield.��

My�question�is:�what�happened�in�Lambeth�that�the�Mayor�states�was�the�first?��What�made�it�the�first?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�am�sorry;�I�am�not�sure�

about�that.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Did�you�say�what�made�it�the�first�

borough?�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��The�reply�I�have�had�from�the�Mayor�says,�“To�date�there�has�been�one�

instance�of�collective�enforcement�in�Lambeth”3.��I�am�just�asking�for�clarification�but�obviously�nobody�knows.��

I�will�come�back�to�that.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Of�course,�I�am�not�seeing�

the�rest�of�it�but�it�sounds�like�we�might�be�talking�about�different�words�for�the�same�thing.��It�sounded�like�

the�same�meeting�differently�described,�did�it�not?�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��We�have�to�trust�the�answers�that�the�Mayor�gives�us.��I�am�presuming�

this�answer�came�from�Mr�Greenhalgh.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�do,�but�I�have�just�not�

seen�it.��I�am�afraid�I�cannot�help.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��All�right,�let�me�go�on�to�a�different�issue.��The�Shield�pilot�is�going�to�be�

evaluated.��Quite�often�pilots�do�get�rolled�out�before�they�have�been�evaluated�finally.��Do�we�have�your�

assurance�that�Shield�will�not�be�rolled�out�any�further�until�the�evaluation�has�happened?�

�

                                                 
3�Mayor’s�Question�Time�question�2015/2712.�

Page 41



 

 

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��I�have�always�believed�that�you�test�what�

you�want�to�expand�and�then�you�expand�it.��You�do�not�rush�and�do�anything�until�you�have�properly�

evaluated�a�pilot.��That�is�why�it�is�a�pilot.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��OK,�that�is�a�no?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Yes.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��That�is�really�good.��There�seems�to�be�some�hint�that�there�is�a�

connection�between�Shield�and�the�threat�of�eviction.��Has�that�happened�at�all?��Is�that�one�of�the�options�

that�boroughs�might�use?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�missed�that�question,�

Jenny.��I�was�just�trying�to�read�something�about�what�you�just�said.��I�am�sorry.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��All�right.��Do�you�want�to�clarify�whatever�it�was�you�were�reading?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��No,�because�I�am�only�

halfway�through�it�now.��Sorry.��If�you�could�ask�it�again�as�I�just�did�not�hear�it?�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��This�is�about�eviction�and�the�fact�that�some�boroughs�have�used�the�

threat�of�eviction�within�the�collective�enforcement�and�within�the�measures�within�Shield.��Is�that�right?��Just�

to�clarify�it;�that�is�all.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Absolutely,�the�boroughs�will�use�their�

civil�powers�as�well�as�the�police�powers�in�order�to�look�at�it.��It�is�the�Al�Capone��theory,�is�it�not?��If�you�have�

a�gang�that�is�particularly�violent,�you�use�whatever�enforcement�powers�you�can�against�it.�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��Chair,�can�we�just�clarify?��I�am�an�individual�that�is�causing�trouble�and�violence�and�have�

come�to�the�attention�to�the�police.��I�live�in�a�family�home�with�my�family.��There�is�no�indication�at�all�that�

they�have�ever�been�involved�in�any�criminal�activity.��Is�it�right�then�that�they�should�be�faced�with�eviction?��

That�is�what�it�is.��That�is�what�has�been�briefed�in�the�boroughs.��

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��No,�I�did�not�say�that.��What�I�said�was�

that�when�you�do�this�with�the�local�authorities�and�the�police,�then�clearly�collective�enforcement�is�not�just�

the�criminal�enforcement;�there�are�also�civil�enforcement�powers�that�can�be�used.��It�does�not�necessarily�

mean�that�people�get�evicted.�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��It�is�an�option?�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Wait,�I�had�another�answer�by�the�Mayor�because�I�asked�about�this.��He�

said:�

�

“Boroughs�may�occasionally�wish�to�pursue�actions�for�breach�of�tenancy�as�part�of�a�sanction�where�

the�activity�of�a�tenant�warrants�it.”4�

�

He�does�not�mention�any�criminal�activity.�

                                                 
4�Mayor’s�Question�Time�question�2015/2711�

Page 42



 

 

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Clearly�that�is�a�civil�power.��That�is�a�civil�

power�that�-�because�of�a�breach�of�tenancy�-�you�apply�in�certain�cases.��Equally,�if�someone�stabs�someone�

there�is�a�criminal�sanction�as�well.��Collective�enforcement�is�not�just�enforcement�by�the�police.��You�can�use�

a�whole�suite�of�things.��That�is�the�point�I�am�making.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��If�a�council�decides�to�evict�somebody,�then�there�has�to�be�some�

criminal�activity�of�some�sort,�gang�connection�or�whatever?��I�am�asking�for�clarity�on�this�because�Shield�is�

your�pilot.��I�want�to�know�what�the�details�are.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Clearly�the�idea�is�to�use�collective�

enforcement�against�the�small�number�of�gang�members�that�create�the�violence�on�our�streets.��If�you�have�to�

resort�to�civil�powers�rather�than�police�powers�then�that�is�one�of�the�ways�of�doing�that,�yes.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��At�what�point�might�they�be�evicted?��Will�they�be�evicted�after�their�

court�case�and�they�have�been�convicted?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��It�is�a�local�matter�for�the�local�authority�

to�be�able�to�do�that.��It�is�not�something�that�is�controlled�by�MOPAC�or�by�the�police.��That�is�why�we�are�

working�with�the�boroughs,�and�equally�why�you�need�a�community�voice�as�well�to�get�support�and�sanction�

for�this�as�a�way�of�dealing�with�violence�on�our�streets.���

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Can�you�tell�me�if�a�gang�member�has�been�evicted�so�far?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��I�am�not�aware�of�any.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��No,�and�you�would�know?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��I�am�certainly�not�aware�of�any.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Can�I�ask�you�finally�when�the�evaluation�will�be�finalised�on�this?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��At�least�a�year�to�be�able�to�do�a�pilot�of�

this�sort.��We�only�started�in�September.��We�will�take�a�six-month�look�at�this�and�hopefully�we�are�a�bit�

further�along.��As�I�say,�it�is�very�early�days.�

�

Jenny�Jones�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��Thank�you.�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��I�suspect�most�of�us�around�this�table�would�welcome�any�initiative�that�would�reduce�harm�

to�our�communities.���

�

Tony�[Arbour�AM]�was�right�in�saying�that�there�is�a�degree�of�scepticism�over�this�path.��I�have�never�known�a�

pilot�as�early�as�this�to�run�with�so�many�mixed�messages�from�the�practitioners�who�operate�within�the�field.��

We�have�people�who�are�supporting�boroughs�giving�mixed�messages.��We�have�police�officers�giving�mixed�

messages.��There�is�something�that�is�not�quite�right�in�terms�of�the�approach�in�the�pilots�or�what�the�

community�thinks�is�happening,�hence�what�I�think�the�Commissioner�was�alluding�to�earlier�on.���

�

I�want�to�go�back�to�some�of�the�issues�that�Tony�[Arbour�AM]�opened�up�about�other�tools�for�tackling�

violence.��It�could�help�but�it�has�to�be�done�properly�and�appropriately�because�-�and�I�will�say�this�point,�

Page 43



 

 

Stephen�[Greenhalgh]�-�it�is�civil�action�being�taken�on�the�basis�of�police�information.��It�is�not�taken�in�

isolation.��How�do�you�think�a�local�authority�would�find�out�whether�one�of�its�tenants�is�involved�in�issues?��

You�cannot�blur�this�issue.��It�is�part�of�the�Shield�programme�and�so�it�has�to�be�done�properly�and�

appropriately�for�it�to�be�successful.���

�

I�want�to�return�to�the�issue�that�I�have�raised�on�many�occasions�before�with�you:�the�issue�of�violence.��Of�

course,�Shield�contributes�to�that�but�I�am�still�very�worried.��With�the�MOPAC�violence�statistics,�which�

helpfully�MOPAC�has�highlighted,�we�have�now�seen�in�the�last�year�every�single�category�increase.��We�have�

seen�the�gun�violence�indicator�increase�by�23%.��Issues�of�discharges�are�up;�knife�crime�with�injury�is�up;�

serious�youth�violence�is�up.��I�look�to�the�Commissioner�and�the�police:�when�do�we�see�an�anti-violence�

strategy�per�se�with�connections,�whether�it�is�Shield,�whether�it�is�stop-and-search�or�whether�it�is�other�

tactics�that�you�use�to�do�this?���

�

The�trends�are�now�going�up�in�terms�of�crime�and�it�might�have�something�to�do�with�capacity�rather�than�

police�numbers,�capacity�to�respond�in�terms�of�where�some�of�those�issues�are.��What�is�the�thinking�about�

that?��Can�you�-�and�I�suppose�it�is�a�plea�from�our�earlier�conversation�-�build�that�into�some�of�your�thinking�

around�the�budget�strategy�so�that�it�does�not�fall�off�the�agenda?��I�cannot�quite�see�a�coherent�strategy:�I�

see�a�number�of�tools�and�a�number�of�things�being�used�in�terms�of�the�toolbox�but�I�do�not�see�an�overall�

strategy�for�driving�this�down.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�have�brought�here�

before,�but�could�bring�again,�the�information�we�have�about�Operation�Omega,�which�started�probably�four�

months�ago.�

�

I�would�argue�that�there�are�various�strands�to�that�strategy.��Part�of�it�is�concentrating�on�the�people�whom�

we�know�commit�violence,�part�of�it�is�stop-and-search�and�part�of�it�is�working�with�local�authorities�around�

licensing,�alcohol�being�a�big�precursor�for�violence.��With�domestic�violence�we�are�making�sure�that�we�are�

tackling�that,�sometimes�in�a�different�way�to�the�other�violence.��We�have�done�that�analysis�and�we�are�

carrying�out�that�work.���

�

You�are�quite�right�that�over�the�previous�few�months�we�had�seen�an�increase�until�[Operation]�Omega.��We�

are�now�starting�to�see�a�plateau�and,�we�hope,�a�drop,�but�of�course�then�we�will�have�the�dark�nights�and�

that�has�an�effect�as�well.��We�are�trying�to�watch�out�for�seasonality.��I�would�argue�that�we�have�tried�to�work�

with�partners�and�with�police�action�to�produce�a�coherent�strategy.���

�

The�only�thing�we�have�to�be�a�little�careful�of�-�perhaps�something�we�all�have�to�keep�an�eye�on�-�is�that�

some�of�this�rise�is�down�to�recording�and�some�is�down�to�a�true�increase�in�violence.��There�is�no�doubt�about�

people�being�shot�and�there�is�no�doubt�about�being�stabbed�and�generally�they�get�reported�on�the�whole,�

but�there�has�certainly�been�a�recording�effect�over�the�last�18�months.��Regardless�of�whether�it�is�a�recording�

effect�or�a�real�one,�we�do�have�a�strategy�which�we�have�implemented�that�seems�to�be�having�an�effect.��I�

am�quite�happy�to�share�some�of�the�detail�here�if�that�would�help.�

�

Len�Duvall�AM:��I�would�like�to�return�to�it�because�I�am�not�convinced�by�some�of�those�operations.��They�

are�well-intentioned�but�there�are�also�mixed�messages�on�the�ground�about�whether�they�are�directed�at�

violence�or�whether�they�are�directed�at�some�other�issues,�again,�mixed�messages�as�they�comes�down�the�

command�structure�about�what�the�real�objective�is�of�these�various�operations,�as�we�have�seen.���

�

My�next�question,�if�it�is�all�right�to�follow�up,�arose�from�our�inquiry�on�gangs,�where�we�had�a�previous�

discussion.��With�the�reorganisation�of�borough�commands�-�as�it�is�fair�to�say,�although�it�may�not�be�right�-�

Page 44



 

 

we�would�expect�to�see�a�reorganisation�of�some�of�the�activities�under�those�boroughs.��We�have�reduced�

capacity.��With�regard�to�the�local�gang�units,�where�they�are�required�and�where�they�are�operating,�how�

would�they�work�with�the�central�unit,�Trident,�support�issues?��What�is�your�thinking�about�that?��Is�one�of�

your�proposals�up�in�September�or�December�about�this�probably�very�important�piece�of�work?��You�

highlighted�it�yourself:�we�have�a�growing�problem�rather�than�a�decreasing�problem.���

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��It�is�one�of�the�pieces�of�

work�we�are�having�to�do.��Obviously�we�try�to�divide�it�up�as�much�as�we�can�but,�as�you�have�just�indicated,�

lots�of�it�affects�each�other.��If�we�do�decide�to�have�less�management�at�borough�level�or�we�do�decide�to�

share�things,�whether�it�be�response�--�there�are�three�or�four�broad�strands�of�what�we�do,�as�you�know,�in�

the�boroughs:�response,�neighbourhoods,�the�criminal�investigation�department�(CID)�and,�you�could�say,�

squads.��One�of�the�things�is�whether�you�can�do�more�with�less�by�sharing.��As�you�know,�the�gangs�do�not�

respect�the�borough�boundaries�any�more�than�most�people�do.��They�will�wander�into�Westminster�to�go�out�

for�the�night.��We�have�to�work�across�those�borders.��They�do�not�acknowledge�them,�always.���

�

They�are�looking�as�part�of�that�planning�at�how�the�gang�work�would�happen,�at�how�we�would�deal�with�

domestic�violence�differently�and�at�all�the�things�that�we�do,�either�routinely,�if�you�like�-�the�response�side�

and�the�routine�neighbourhood�stuff�-�or�in�the�specialist�areas.��That�is�one�of�the�areas�in�which�we�might�do�

better�as�a�result�of�sharing�but�frankly�we�might�have�to�do�cheaper.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��We�are�now�going�to�move�on�to�talk�about�the�Notting�Hill�Carnival.��

Before�I�bring�Andrew�[Dismore�AM]�in,�you�talked�about�an�officer�being�stabbed�earlier�and�I�understand�

other�officers�were�injured.��Can�I�just�ask�after�their�wellbeing?��Are�they�recovering?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Yes,�they�are�OK�at�the�

moment,�thank�you.��They�had�hospital�treatment.��It�was�not�very�good�and�the�prison�sentence�is�

disappointing,�frankly.��The�point�I�was�making�is�that�he�could�have�got�more�for�carrying�a�knife�and�yet�

someone�was�stabbed.��There�were�two�people�stabbed,�actually:�the�officer�who�was�stabbed�intervened�when�

somebody�else�was�getting�stabbed�and�was�stabbed�in�the�process.��Two�people�were�stabbed�and�it�was�a�

six-month�sentence,�which�I�am�not�sure�sends�much�of�a�message,�really.��To�be�fair,�he�was�17�years�old,�but�

I�am�afraid�he�was�old�enough�to�do�the�damage�he�did.���

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��OK.��Of�course,�Deputy�Mayor,�you�have�said�that�you�have�a�Sentencing�

Unit.��Is�that�something�you�are�considering�doing,�challenging�the�sentence?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��To�be�fair,�

Stephen�[Greenhalgh]�was�unaware�of�that�and�I�was�only�briefed�on�it�this�morning.��It�has�only�been�within�

the�last�few�days�that�that�has�happened�and�Stephen�was�unaware�of�it.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��It�was�only�yesterday,�I�think.�

�

Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM�(Deputy�Chair):��It�was.��I�saw�it�yesterday�in�the�Standard.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��I�was�going�to�ask�you�about�the�Carnival.��You�had�400�arrests�this�year,�which�is�

more�than�half�again�as�much�as�last�year,�and�that�is�despite�the�proactive�operation�the�week�before.��We�had�

quite�a�big�series�of�raids�to�try�to�deal�with�some�of�the�potential�threats�to�the�Carnival,�as�you�saw�it.��What�

was�different�about�this�year’s�Carnival�to�explain�that�level�of�arrests�and�problems?�

�

Page 45



 

 

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��If�I�might,�I�will�give�you�

an�overall�answer�and�then�I�will�try�to�directly�answer�the�question�that�Andrew�raised�with�me.�

�

First�of�all,�in�terms�of�the�total�number�of�crimes�recorded,�it�went�up�slightly�from�last�year.��It�had�been�620�

in�2014�and�it�went�up�to�683�this�year.��Not�an�insignificant�rise,�although�we�always�have�to�remember�that�

approaching�1�million�people�attend�the�Carnival.��In�terms�of�the�serious�crimes,�we�saw�reductions�in�theft�

from�person�and�serious�violence.��Theft�from�person�was�down�by�about�a�quarter�and�serious�violence,�again,�

down�by�about�a�third.��Those�were�good�things.���

�

In�terms�of�what�the�difference�was,�what�was�similar�was�that�the�weather�was�bad.��Certainly�on�the�busy�day,�

on�the�Monday,�the�weather�was�awful.��One�of�the�things�that�we�believed�had�happened�the�year�before�was�

some�of�the�gang�members�had�found�each�other.��Previously�they�could�not�find�each�other�because�normally�

it�is�so�densely�packed.���

�

We�did�make�some�changes�to�the�plan.��We,�again,�arrested�people�before�the�event.��We�executed�130�search�

warrants�in�the�weeks�leading�up�to�the�Carnival�and�made�143�arrests.��We,�this�year,�used�for�the�first�time�

disruption�zones.��That�meant�that�officers�could�order�people�to�leave�the�Carnival�and�not�return�for�two�days�

or�as�long�as�the�Carnival�was�on,�and�also�even�dictate�the�route�they�left.��It�was�not�easy�to�spot�them�

coming�back�given�such�a�big�crowd�but�officers�did�identify�people�who�had�been�told�to�leave.��That�seemed�

to�have�some�effect,�perhaps,�on�the�arrest�rate.��Also,�we�had�had�complaints�from�people�who�live�in�that�

area�who�were�concerned�that�officers�were,�if�not�ignoring,�not�taking�action�when�they�saw�what�might�be�

relatively�minor�offences�such�as�urinating�in�someone’s�garden.��We�determined�that�we�would�take�action.��

Those�things�together�may�have�led�to�the�increase�in�the�arrest�rate.��As�I�say,�we�did�still�have�some�serious�

violence�there�as�well.���

�

My�major�concern�is�that,�for�us,�it�could�be�better�organised.��In�fact,�we�have�just�finished�the�debrief�on�this�

year’s�Carnival�and�over�the�next�two�weeks�we�will�be�writing�to�the�local�borough�to�advise�them�that�we�

expect�more�action�to�be�taken�in�the�future�to�get�better�organisation,�not�least�because�-�for�all�the�reasons�

we�have�spent�over�an�hour�talking�-�I�am�not�sure�we�are�going�to�have�that�many�officers�to�police�it�next�

year.��Certainly�financially�it�is�a�real�burden�because�it�has�cost�over�£6�million�and�every�time�something�takes�

place�on�a�bank�holiday,�we�have�a�significant�cost.��For�reasons�of�organisation�and�minimising�risk�and�for�the�

reason�that�we�want�to�make�it�a�good�event,�we�expect�to�see�better�organisation�by�the�organisers�to�reduce�

the�number�of�police�who�get�involved�in�stewarding,�not�in�policing.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��Thank�you�for�that.��As�far�as�local�residents�are�concerned,�a�lot�of�things�that�

happen�just�do�not�get�reported�to�you�and�so�it�was�probably�far�worse�than�that.���

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�acknowledge�that.��We�

can�only�give�the�recorded�statistics�that�show�what�happens�there.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��I�represented�the�area�on�Westminster�Council�for�15�years�and�I�have�had�a�flat�there�

for�25�years,�and�every�year�there�is�some�minor�vandalism�or�theft�that�nobody�bothers�with.��Frankly,�

everybody�goes�away�who�possibly�can�go�away�for�the�weekend�if�they�live�in�the�area.��That�is�how�it�is.�

�

I�was�going�to�go�on�and�ask�you:�you�have�mentioned�the�cost�of�the�policing�operation.��You�deployed�6,000�

officers�on�Sunday�and�7,000�on�Monday.��That�is�about�a�quarter�of�your�total�force,�is�it�not?��What�was�the�

impact�on�policing�in�the�rest�of�London�while�you�sucked�in�all�these�officers,�on�abstraction,�presumably,�to�

police�the�Carnival?�

�

Page 46



 

 

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Generally,�we�managed�to�

make�it�work.��We�had�to�keep�to�minimum�staffing�levels.��We�get�officers�to�work�overtime�and�that�is�the�

way�we�make�it�work.��It�is�not�dissimilar�to�some�of�the�other�big�events�with�police.��We�have�no�separate�box�

for�maintaining�public�order:�we�have�to�take�them�from�the�boroughs.��We�try�to�minimise�that�impact�and�

this�year�we�have�a�new�plan�and�we�are�reducing�abstractions�generally�from�the�boroughs,�but�that�weekend�

we�have�to�make�sure�we�have�good�numbers�there.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��What�was�the�impact�on�crime�levels�in�the�rest�of�London?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��To�be�fair,�we�did�not�see�

any�change�and�our�response�times�to�incidents�remained�the�same.��We�managed�to�maintain�both.��Frankly,�it�

is�the�cost�and�the�cost�is�paying�overtime.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��You�mentioned�that�you�would�like�to�see�a�difference�in�the�--�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Just�to�remind�people�-�

most�people�will�know�-�of�course�we�pay�twice�salary�on�the�bank�holiday.��Everybody�who�works�gets�twice�

their�salary.��Generally,�it�is�true�of�the�MPS�that�around�50%�of�our�police�overtime�is�spent�on�bank�holidays�

and�that�is�only�about�eight�days�a�year.��This�is�a�very�significant�cost.��Any�big�event�organised�on�a�bank�

holiday�brings�with�it�a�significant�cost�and,�as�you�are�suggesting,�it�stretches�the�line�thinner.��We�did�

manage�to�maintain�our�response�quite�well�for�what�at�the�end�of�the�day�is�two�out�of�365�days,�but�it�could�

be�done�better,�cheaper�and,�I�would�argue,�safer.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��How�could�it�be�done�better?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�would�argue�it�has�to�be�

more�professional.��As�you�know,�it�is�a�massive�event�with�over�one�million�people�going.��The�organisers�are�

the�profession�responsible�for�the�health�and�safety�of�the�people�who�go�there.��That�has�to�be�far�better�

organised.��They�do�their�best�but�this�often�costs�money.��That�money�would�have�to�be�found.��I�do�not�think�

the�substitute�factor�should�be�the�police�because�we�cannot�take�the�responsibility�of�the�organisers;�we�can�

only�mitigate�the�risk�that�we�see.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��What�discussions�have�you�had�with�the�organisers�about�this�for�future�events?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��This�has�been�going�on�

for�years.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��I�know�it�goes�on�for�years.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��What�I�was�trying�to�

indicate�was�that�we�are�writing�formally�to�the�local�authority�to�request�--�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��Both�Westminster�and�Kensington?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Kensington�--�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Let�me�just�finish,�if�I�

could.��We�are�writing�formally�to�the�local�authority�because�it�has�licensing�responsibilities�to�indicate�our�

Page 47



 

 

lack�of�confidence�at�the�moment�in�the�quality�of�the�organisation,�which�is�leading�to�policing�having�to�fill�

the�gap.��We�cannot�take�responsibility�for�that�event.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��Right.���

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��This�is�quite�a�different�

approach,�in�part�driven�by�finance�but�frankly�in�part�driven�by�my�own�experience�having�looked�at�that.��

Every�Monday�while�I�have�been�there,�I�have�always�gone�to�the�Notting�Hill�Carnival�on�that�day�and�it�is�not�

improving�in�terms�of�its�organisation.��Some�fantastic�people�are�having�a�great�time,�but�the�risks�remain.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��You�have�raised�this�with�both�Westminster�and�Kensington,�presumably?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��The�lead�authority�is�the�Royal�Borough�of�

Kensington�and�Chelsea�(RBKC)�and�Westminster�is�present�as�well.��You�would�have�written�to�RBKC.���

�

Also,�MOPAC�is�having�regular�meetings�because,�as�well�as�the�local�authorities�and�the�organisers,�we�have�to�

recognise�the�commitment�of�the�GLA�towards�stewarding.��I�watched�the�Carnival�from�the�control�room�in�

Lambeth�last�year�and�this�year�I�went�to�the�Carnival.��It�is�immense�to�watch�the�numbers�of�police�who�are�

effectively�doing�stewarding�duties�as�opposed�to�policing,�particularly�during�the�day.��The�nature�of�Carnival�

is�that�some�of�the�problems�happen�later�on�in�the�day�and�in�the�evening�in�particular.��It�is�a�very�difficult�

one�to�be�able�to�sort�out.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��You�are�raising�the�need�for�tougher�licensing�from�RBKC�as�the�lead�borough.��What�

happens�if�it�does�not�get�into�this�tougher�licensing?��Of�course,�local�authorities�are�also�subject�to�financial�

pressures�as�well.���

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��It�is�its�legal�responsibility,�

for�which�it�has�to�take�accountability.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��What�you�are�saying�to�it�is,�“You�have�to�toughen�up�the�licensing”,�or�what?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��It�is�not�my�job�to�say,�“Or�

what”;�it�is�its�job�to�decide�what�it�is�going�to�do�about�it.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��What�do�you�think�it�should�do�about�it?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��That�is�its�job.��I�have�

enough�on�policing�London.��We�are�highlighting�our�concerns�and�putting�it�very�clearly�to�it�to�decide�what�it�

is�intending�to�do�about�it.��I�will�decide�what�to�do�about�the�policing�of�the�event.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��It�does�not�sound�like�very�much�of�a�partnership�approach,�does�it,�if�you�are�saying�

it�is�up�to�them?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��That�is�not�accurate.��We�

have�been�talking�for�many�years�trying�to�get�improvements�and�in�my�judgment�is�that�it�is�producing�limited�

effect.��The�risk�to�public�safety�remains�and�we�cannot�continue�to�provide�policing�at�that�level�to�provide�

the�mitigation.��I�cannot�take�any�responsibility�for�the�safety�of�the�people�there�because�-�and�we�have�spent�

over�an�hour�talking�about�our�financial�situation�-�this�is�one�of�the�big�things�for�the�reasons�I�have�said.��You�

Page 48



 

 

have�identified�7,000�officers,�nearly�a�quarter�of�what�we�have.��We�cannot�continue�in�a�similar�way.��This�is�

the�time�to�draw�a�line.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��Stephen�talked�about�stewarding;�are�you�saying�the�GLA�has�a�--�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��The�GLA�provides�funding�for�the�

stewarding.��My�briefing�was�around�1,000�stewards.��On�the�day,�every�day,�it�is�far�fewer�from�that,�nearer�

500.��For�an�organisation�that�has�an�event�hosting�over�one�million�people,�it�clearly�requires�the�police�to�

perform�basic�stewarding�functions.��That�is�one�of�the�issues:�how�you�get�a�more�effective�stewarding�

operation�when�clearly�there�is�not�the�money�there.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��No.��Are�you�talking�about�having�civilian�stewards�to�--�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Andrew,�there�are�a�series�

of�things,�are�there�not?��One�is�--�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��I�am�asking�Stephen�[Greenhalgh]�now.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�know,�but�I�am�only�

trying�to�help.��You�started�with�me�and�I�am�just�trying�to�help,�if�this�would�help,�in�this�way.��The�licensing�

arrangements�are�about�when�it�happens,�where�it�happens�and�when�it�starts.��These�are�big�things�that�have�

a�major�impact.��If�it�continues�on�a�bank�holiday,�there�is�this�financial�consequence,�for�example,�or�where�its�

route�is.��Obviously�the�Carnival�has�a�great�tradition�but�it�also�has�great�responsibilities�and�we�are�trying�to�

draw�that�to�a�head�to�make�sure�that�everybody�involved,�with�all�their�powers,�considers�their�joint�

responsibilities,�as�well�as�we�ours.��Sorry.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��Perhaps�I�might�follow�that�up�before�I�come�back�to�Stephen�[Greenhalgh].��Are�you�

saying�you�want�to�see�a�different�route?��Are�you�saying�you�want�to�see�a�different�weekend�for�it?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�have�talked�in�the�past�

about�different�routes�and�we�have�talked�in�the�past�about�the�potential�for�it�not�being�on�the�bank�holiday.��

Of�course,�people�who�want�to�hold�festivals�want�the�bank�holiday;�we�as�public�servants�say�we�do�not�have�

the�money�to�do�it.��We�have�to�look�at�all�the�options,�as�they�have�as�a�local�authority�given�their�financial�

constraints.��We�just�need�to�consider�it�seriously.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��What�route�would�you�like�to�see?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�cannot�start�getting�into�

that.��To�be�fair�to�them,�they�might�say,�“You�might�have�written�to�us�first”.��I�have�given�you�a�straight�

answer�to�a�straight�question.��We�are�writing�about�our�concerns.��We�will�then�discuss�with�them�in�a�

partnership�way�how�that�might�change�for�this�coming�year.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��Is�that�a�private�letter�to�Kensington�or�is�it�going�to�be�published?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��It�is�a�private�one.��I�do�

not�generally�publish�letters�I�write.���

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��I�am�just�asking�because�it�is�such�an�important�--�

�

Page 49



 

 

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�am�just�telling�you.��I�

write�a�private�letter�--�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��It�is�a�simple�question�because�it�is�such�an�important�issue�and�it�is�such�an�important�

event�in�the�London�calendar.��You�have�concerns�about�it.��I�was�just�asking�you�a�simple�question:�whether�

you�would�be�publishing�your�response.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��As�I�have�just�told�you,�I�

have�just�given�you�a�simple�answer,�which�is�that�generally�I�do�not�publish�letters�I�write�unless�I�intend�to�

make�a�public�effect,�and�I�do�not.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��Okay.��Going�back�to�you,�Stephen,�I�was�asking�about�stewarding�and�whether�the�

GLA�is�looking�at�perhaps�running�more�civilian�stewards�for�the�event.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��The�reality,�Andrew,�is�that�you�have�the�

policing�as�a�public�service�organisation�that�has�huge�financial�pressures,�you�have�two�local�authorities�that�

have�gone�through�austerity�since�2010�and�you�have�the�GLA,�which�has�its�pressures�as�well.��I�have�not�

seen,�and�the�Mayor�has�not�certainly�led�me�to�the�place�where�there�is�a�huge�pot�of�money�to�pay�for�more�

stewards.��My�understanding�of�the�local�organisation�is�that�they�are�very�willing�but,�again,�they�are�short�of�

funds�as�well.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��What�would�you�like�to�see�happen?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��This�is�a�fantastically�important�part�of�the�

cultural�calendar�but�we�want�it�to�be�safe�and�we�want�it�to�be�something�that�people�can�enjoy.��

Four�hundred-odd�arrests�over�two�days�is�extremely�high.��The�level�of�crime�has�gone�up.��It�is�good�that�the�

level�of�violent�crime�has�gone�down�but�we�want�a�safe�carnival�and�we�want�one�that�has�a�secure�future.��At�

the�moment,�an�event�that�is�under-stewarded�and�over-policed�is�something�that�needs�to�change.��There�are�

no�obvious�solutions.��I�would�like�to�hear�what�you�think.�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��It�has�always�been�like�that.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��As�Tony�says,�it�probably�has�always�been�like�that.��I�represented�the�area�in�1982�

and�it�was�like�that�in�those�days.���

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��It�was�always�under-stewarded�and�

over-policed?�

�

Tony�Arbour�AM:��No,�it�was�always�under-stewarded.��I�did�not�say�it�was�over-policed.��It�has�always�been�

under-stewarded.�

�

Andrew�Dismore�AM:��Occasionally�it�has�been�over-policed�but�I�do�not�see�that�as�a�major�or�a�regular�

suggestion.���

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��If�you�had�more�stewards,�you�would�need�

fewer�police.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��We�are�going�to�move�on�now�to�rape�case�handling,�which�is�an�issue�we�

have�asked�about�before.�

Page 50



 

 

�

Kemi�Badenoch�AM:��Thank�you.��My�question�is�for�the�Commissioner.��We�heard�in�June�that�a�review�is�

being�carried�out�of�the�workload�of�officers�investigating�rape.��What�was�the�outcome�of�that�review�and�

what�progress�has�been�made�in�shifting�resources�to�investigate�rape?��When�you�have�moved�officers,�where�

have�they�been�moved�from?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��We�received�a�report�from�

Dame�Elish�Angiolini�DBE�QC�in�June.��If�you�remember,�that�was�co-commissioned�by�the�Director�of�Public�

Prosecutions�(DPP)�and�me.��It�was�broadly�about�rape,�particularly�in�London.��It�has�produced�a�number�of�

recommendations,�which�we�are�working�our�way�through.���

�

In�terms�of�your�particular�point�about�how�many�officers�we�have�investigating�that�area,�she�identified�that�

we�should�put�some�more�officers�into�it.��She�suggested�about�240�or�250�officers;�244,�actually.��We�have�

carried�out�a�piece�of�work�over�the�last�few�weeks.��The�first�one�was�received�by�the�Deputy�Commissioner,�

who�was�leading�the�management�board�that�day,�and�our�view�at�the�moment�is�that�we�have�probably�put�

about�200�officers�in�there.��There�is�a�further�meeting�to�be�held�on�2�October�--���

�

Craig�Mackey�QPM�(Deputy�Commissioner,�Metropolitan�Police�Service):��--�on�2�October.��Where�will�

[the�additional�officers]�come�from?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Having�said�that�we�are�

going�to�do�that,�we�have�to�work�out�where�they�will�come�from�because�we�have�no�more.��We�would�like�to�

get�them�in�place�by�the�end�of�this�calendar�year.��That�will�be�tight,�to�be�fair,�because�we�have�to�identify�

them,�but�we�are�talking�about�a�relatively�short�period�of�time.��We�have,�at�the�moment,�about�1,000�officers�

in�there.��We�should�have�1,099�and�actually�have�1,059�and�so�we�are�40�short.��We�have�to�make�up�that�gap�

and�then�give�another�200,�which�is�about�20%.��It�is�quite�a�significant�shift.��Although�we�have�32,000�and�

so�that�does�not�sound�too�hard,�these�are�generally�detectives�and�we�do�not�have�as�many�detectives.��We�

have�vacancies�on�the�detective�side.���

�

I�was�concerned,�which�is�why�I�asked�for�the�piece�of�work,�and�what�this�is�clearly�showing�is�that�they�are�

under�tremendous�pressure.��These�are�serious�crimes�and�they�are�not�easy�to�investigate�so�we�are�going�to�

have�to�give�them�some�support.��We�are�hoping�there�will�be�within�the�next�few�months�officers�moved�and�

they�will�have�that�support.�

�

Kemi�Badenoch�AM:��Thank�you.��Looking�more�specifically�at�a�particular�issue,�concerns�have�been�raised�

that�the�rape�of�males�has�been�included�within�the�Violence�against�Women�and�Girls�Strategy.��What�more�

can�be�done�to�assist�male�victims�of�rape,�who�usually�make�up�around�20%�of�all�the�recorded�rapes?�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��It�is�a�good�point.��It�is�

one�of�the�things�that�[Dame]�Elish�[Angiolini]�addresses�in�the�review.��One�of�my�concerns�is�that�women�

under-report�but�we�suspect,�although�we�cannot�be�sure,�there�is�far�more�under-reporting�by�males.��We�are�

looking�at�how�much�more�available�we�can�make�ourselves�and�other�places�to�report�for�males�who�will�

report.��People�do�not�feel�comfortable�in�talking�about�intimate�things�and�this�is�rather�difficult,�particularly�

where�there�are�existing�relationships,�say�in�a�family.��It�is�a�constant�challenge�to�get�more�reporting.��We�

believe�that�most�of�the�increase�we�are�seeing�is�generally�down�to�confidence�and�more�reporting,�not�

necessarily�more�crime,�but�I�agree�with�you�that,�in�terms�of�males,�it�is�probably�even�more�likely�than�for�

females�at�the�moment.���

�

Page 51



 

 

Kemi�Badenoch�AM:��Looking�at�this�issue�specifically,�it�is�very�hard�not�to�consider�the�earlier�discussions�

we�have�had�around�police�funding�because�there�are�more�and�more�requests�for�resources.��Looking�at�that,�

the�Commissioner�told�the�Assembly�that�a�few�hundred�more�officers�were�likely�to�be�needed�and�you�talked�

about�recruiting�a�few�hundred,�but�there�is�also�a�need�for�more�independent�sexual�violence�advisers.��Are�

you�planning�to�recruit�more�of�these�as�well?��I�know�you�have�talked�about�finding�the�areas�where�cuts�can�

be�made�but�we�are�also�hearing�about�needing�to�recruit�more�people.��I�am�just�trying�to�understand�where�

the�balance�is�going�to�--�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Police�officers�are�allocated�by�the�

Commissioner�through�his�resources�but�the�independent�sexual�violence�advocates�(ISVAs)�you�are�asking�

about�are�a�different�pot�of�money.��Often�local�authorities�pay�for�them.��What�we�have�done,�though,�for�

independent�domestic�violence�advocates�(IDVAs)�is�to�raise�that�threshold�so�that�we�get�to�what�we�call�the�

Co-ordinated�Action�Against�Domestic�Abuse�(CAADA)�minimum�and�apply�a�grant�from�the�London�Crime�

Prevention�Fund.��They�also�deal�with�some�of�the�sexual�violence�issues.��The�question�around�ISVAs�is�more�

one�for�us,�working�alongside�health�[services]�to�commission�that,�and�local�authorities.���

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��Are�you�conducting�a�review�at�the�moment�with�health,�Stephen,�in�this?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��We�are�trying�to�join�up�a�

co-commissioning�plan�for�health�in�this�area,�yes.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��We�have�reached�the�last�of�our�questions�to�the�Commissioner�and�Deputy�

Commissioner.��We�have�some�further�issues�to�deal�with�Stephen�[Greenhalgh].��Commissioner,�can�I�just�ask�

that�when�you�have�details�of�what�proposals�you�are�considering�with�regards�to�reduced�funding,�you�could�

let�this�Committee�know�as�soon�as�possible?��That�would�be�very�helpful�to�our�deliberations�as�well.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��I�was�going�to�suggest�

that�perhaps�Craig�[Mackey]�could�talk�to�the�Chair�or�whomever�you�would�suggest�about�how�we�could�work�

together�during�the�next�few�weeks.���

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��That�would�be�very�helpful.�

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Time�is�going�to�be�

difficult�and�probably�arranging�that�consultation,�communication�and�engagement�would�be�wise.��Probably�if�

we�leave�it�to�the�normal�meetings�-�and�this�is�what�we�[Stephen�Greenhalgh�and�I]�have�decided�-�we�will�not�

have�enough�time.��If�there�is�anything�special�that�we�can�do�to�support�that,�we�will.���

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��That�would�be�very�helpful.��Thank�you.���

�

Sir�Bernard�Hogan-Howe�QPM�(Commissioner�of�Police�of�the�Metropolis):��Thank�you.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��Thank�you�for�your�attendance�today.��It�has�been�very�informative.�

�

Stephen,�I�am�afraid�you�have�to�stay�with�us�a�little�longer�because�we�are�going�to�ask�you�questions�--�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Madam�Chair,�it�is�an�absolute�pleasure.���

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��--�about�Safer�Neighbourhood�Boards�(SNBs).��Jennette,�you�are�going�to�

start�us�off�on�this?�

Page 52



 

 

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Can�I�just�set�the�scene�here�in�terms�of�this�series�of�questions,�Stephen?��It�has�

been,�now,�more�than�a�year�since�MOPAC�introduced�the�SNBs�in�every�borough.��This�was�an�initiative�first�

announced�in�the�Mayor’s�manifesto�in�2012.��This�Committee�has�been�following�that�development�and�the�

Committee�raised�concerns�following�meeting�with�MOPAC�and�receiving�evidence�from�others.��Three�areas�

were�highlighted:�funding�was�one�of�them;�structure�and�governance�were�the�other�two.���

�

We�have�recently�updated�our�evidence�base�about�what�is�going�on�but,�before�I�get�to�that,�how�satisfied�are�

you�that�every�borough�now�has�a�fully�functioning�SNB?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��The�information�that�I�have�-�and�you�may�

wish�to�contradict�it�-�is�that�we�now�have�a�fully�functioning�SNB�in�every�borough.��It�is�fair�to�say�the�

inaugural�meeting�of�the�established�Greenwich�SNB�will�take�place�in�November.��That�is�my�understanding.���

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��If�I�just�look�at�one�of�the�areas�of�concern�that�we�have�had�-�and,�from�

evidence�we�have�received,�the�area�is�still�problematic�-�it�is�the�£5,200�a�year�that�each�SNB�can�claim.���

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Yes,�for�administrative�support.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Yes,�for�administration�and�management�of�the�board.��Would�it�surprise�you�to�

learn�that,�from�the�responses,�SNBs�told�us�that�this�was�not�enough�and�indeed�the�lack�of�funding�had�

prevented�them�from�being�able�to�get�their�act�together�to�hold�more�than�one�meeting�a�year?��That�was�

what�we�picked�up.��A�number�of�them�thought�that�the�amount�was�woefully�inadequate.��Some�others�who�

were�getting�support�from�boroughs�said�that�they�were�OK�at�the�moment�but,�as�this�funding�was�not�going�

to�carry�on,�they�would�have�difficulty.��Following�on�from�that,�a�number�of�them�said�that�the�criteria�for�

allocation�and�accessing�the�fund,�given�that�the�majority�of�the�members�were�volunteers,�was�too�

problematic.�

�

Are�these�things�that�have�been�raised�with�you�through�your�officers�following�their�reviews�of�SNBs?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��These�are�issues�that�have�been�raised�on�

an�ongoing�basis�by�my�officers�and�also�my�Advisor�for�Neighbourhoods.��However,�it�is�fair�to�say�on�the�

£5,200�that�I�do�not�think�that�is�an�unreasonable�amount�for�administrative�support�for�organisations�that�

have�a�duty�to�organise�a�minimum�of�one�public�meeting�a�year.���

�

In�addition,�that�is�not�the�only�amount�of�money�that�we�make�available�to�SNBs�because,�as�you�know�-�and�

your�question�follows�on�-�we�allocate�over�two�years�£2�million�for�specific�projects�that�help�with�

community�engagement,�crime�prevention�and�other�crime�reduction�initiatives.��That�has�been�very�successful.��

So�far,�£1.7�million�of�that�two-year�funding�pot�has�been�allocated.���

�

I�have�heard�that�people�find�the�form�difficult,�which�is�why�I�was�interested�to�know�how�difficult�the�form�

was�to�fill�out.��As�far�as�I�can�see,�the�exemplar�for�a�substantial�amount�of�money�-�£45,000�in�this�case�-�is�a�

not�a�difficult�form�to�fill�in.��It�does�not�seem�to�be�too�problematic.��Are�there�any�specific�issues�people�have�

raised�about�how�difficult�the�form�is�to�fill�in?�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��We�can�get�back�to�MOPAC�about�--�

�

Page 53



 

 

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��It�looks�pretty�simple�to�me.��It�just�says,�

“Is�it�neighbourhood�watch?��Crime�prevention�materials?��Outreach�work?��Diversion?”��Then�it�is�a�

one-pager.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��That�is�the�difficulty,�is�it�not?��You�have�run�a�business,�you�have�a�Cambridge�

degree�--�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Flattery�will�get�you�nowhere,�Jennette.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��--�you�are�now�the�Mayor’s�Deputy�and�I�believe�you�have�ambitions�to�be�the�

Mayor�of�London.��Therefore,�I�would�expect�you�to�be�able�to�fill�in�a�blooming�form!��That�is�not�the�point,�is�

it?��It�is�the�feedback�from�the�volunteers.��Volunteers�are�saying�that�the�form�could�be�improved.���

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Certainly�we�need�to�make�sure�the�form�

is�as�easy�as�possible�--�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Will�you�ask�your�officers�to�pick�up�those�concerns?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Yes,�absolutely.��If�you�have�heard�any�

specifics�about�the�form�can�be�improved,�we�are�keen�to�hear�that,�but�it�is�not�very�difficult.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Are�you�really�happy�that�because�of�lack�of�funding�-�and�this�is�what�SNBs�are�

saying�-�it�is�okay�for�an�SNB�then�to�only�do�the�minimum:�one�meeting�a�year?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��That�is�the�minimum;�that�is�not�--�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��They�say�the�funding�is�only�allowing�them�to�do�that.��We�have�an�SNB�that�

said�it�plans�to�hold�only�one�meeting�a�year�and�it�has�not�held�it�yet.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��We�would�want�them�to�do�more�than�the�

minimum.��Clearly�that�is�disappointing.��Many�of�the�SNBs�are�doing�far�more�than�one�meeting�a�year.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Your�officers�are�looking�at�the�clear�variations�that�there�are�in�terms�of�the�

functionality�of�the�SNBs?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��We�keep�an�eye�on�that.��Obviously�the�

approach�has�been�to�set�criteria�and�minimums�and�allow�local�areas�to�go�about�how�they�want�to�engage�

with�their�communities�in�a�different�way.��London�is�a�world�in�a�city�and�just�having�a�one-size-fits-all�

approach�to�engagement�would�be�wrong.��In�my�own�borough,�they�have�taken�a�view�that�you�will�not�have�

just�a�borough�summit�but�you�will�go�through�into�local�neighbourhoods�and�have�meetings�in�libraries�and�so�

forth.��They�have�taken�a�very�localist�approach.��Everywhere�is�different.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��I�am�only�dealing�with�funding.��Other�Members�will�come�in.��We�have�had�and�

continue�to�have�concerns�about�the�level�of�activity�that�you�are�requiring�of�these�boards.��In�terms�of�

funding,�can�I�just�ask?��If�you�do�not�have�this�information�to�hand,�we�can�receive�it�later.��Do�you�know�how�

many�boroughs�did�not�use�their�full�funding�allocation�for�2014/15?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��When�you�say�‘their�full�funding�

allocation’�--�

Page 54



 

 

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��That�was�the�£5,200.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��I�do�not�know�how�many�boroughs�have�

not�accessed�their�£5,200.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��That�would�be�useful�information�to�have�because�that�would�then�beg�the�

question�of�why�they�have�not�--�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Absolutely.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��--�and�we�go�back�to�the�difficulty�in�access.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��I�would�have�thought�the�only�reason�they�

may�not�have�done�is�that�you�can�only�access�the�administrative�pot�when�you�are�fully�constituted�and�you�

have�a�bank�account.��There�may�be�a�delay�in�a�number�of�them�being�in�a�position�where�they�are�

constituted,�started�and�set�up�-�although�they�all�have�now,�including�Greenwich�-�and�have�a�bank�account.��

At�that�point,�they�can�have�the�£5,200.��It�may�be�just�a�question�of�timing.��There�is�no�real�bar�to�getting�

that.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��It�might�be�their�financial�structure?��

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��They�just�need�a�bank�account.��You�

clearly�cannot�just�hand�over�a�wad�of�notes�to�a�member�of�the�public�and�say,�“Here�it�is”.��An�organisation�

needs�a�bank�account.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Your�officers�will�be�evaluating�that.��Can�you�let�us�know�how�many�SNBs�have�

bank�accounts?���

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Sure.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��That�would�give�us�an�indication�because,�if�they�do�not�have�bank�accounts,�

they�would�not�be�able�to�access�the�funds.��That�would�be�an�indication�of�the�underspend.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Then�very�often�there�were�legacy�

organisations�that�would�have�had�bank�accounts�and,�therefore,�I�do�not�think�it�is�an�insurmountable�barrier.��

I�will�look�into�it,�Jennette.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��We�have�asked�this�question�previously.��You�talked�about�it�being�a�lot�of�

money.��We�have�worked�out�that�£5,200�is�the�equivalent�of�50�hours�a�month�at�the�London�Living�Wage.��

Did�your�officers�do�any�comparisons?��With�what�you�are�asking�the�SNBs�to�do,�are�other�organisations�doing�

similar�work�and�more�with�that�sort�of�support?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��It�is�a�question�of�judgment.��It�is�the�right�

thing�to�be�able�to�reduce�the�administrative�overhead.��It�is�a�small�amount�of�money.��They�can�draw�more�

money�from�other�sources�and�so�it�is�essentially�a�pump-prime�pot�to�be�able�to�organise�a�series�of�public�

meetings.��Then�they�have�a�pot�and�they�can�make�a�real�difference�in�their�communities.��The�larger�pot�of�

£2�million�is�what�they�need�to�draw�down�on.��What�is�very�exciting�is�that�we�have�over�160�SNB�projects�

that�really�look�like�they�are�making�a�difference�and�building�--�

Page 55



 

 

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Somebody�is�going�to�go�on�to�that.��I�was�just�trying�to�establish�the�funding�

issues�that�have�been�shared�with�us.��It�was�not�a�matter�--�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��On�the�£5,200?�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��It�was�not�a�matter�of�reducing�that�amount;�it�was�the�matter�of�asking�if�your�

officers�have�done�any�work�to�be�sure�that�this�amount�of�money�was�similar�to�other�organisations�who�were�

doing�this�sort�of�work�with�volunteers.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��A�lot�of�organisations�in�the�voluntary�

sector�do�not�get�any�state�support�at�all.��You�know�that�as�well,�Jennette.���

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Your�officers�have�not�done�that?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��I�do�not�think�there�is�any�easy�way�to�

benchmark�what�is�right,�but�effectively�these�are�volunteers�and�we�are�asking�them�to�set�up,�at�a�minimum,�

one�public�meeting�a�year.��Many�are�setting�up�many�more�than�that�and�they�have�access�to�-�provided�they�

fill�in�a�fairly�simple�form�-�a�significant�amount�of�money�to�be�able�to�do�further�work�and�engagement.��That�

is�reasonable.�

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��The�question�was�what�work�your�officers�have�done�and�it�is�clear�they�have�not�

done�any.��The�only�thing�that�we�have,�then,�is�the�response�from�the�SNBs.��When�a�good�few�of�them�are�

saying�that�the�funding�is�not�enough,�is�it�reasonable�to�accept�that�and�to�ask�your�officers�to�work�more�

with�those�SNBs�that,�for�instance,�have�not�opened�bank�accounts?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Certainly�I�will�take�away�the�issue�that�

you�raise,�which�is�that�for�any�organisation�where�we�have�made�an�offer�of�administrative�support,�they�have�

accessed�that�money.��My�understanding�is�that�they�largely�have�but,�where�there�is�a�barrier,�we�need�to�sort�

that�out�because�it�is�there�for�them�to�have.���

�

Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM:��Thank�you.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��Stephen,�back�to�the�thorny�issue�of�SNB�meeting�in�public.��I�know�because�you�have�said�

this�to�us�before�that�it�is�your�desire�that�they�should�meet�in�public�but�not�all�of�them�are�doing�that.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��It�is�a�minimum�of�one�public�meeting�a�

year�but�they�can�hold�many�more�if�they�choose�to.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��What�about�the�ones�that�are�not�meeting�in�public?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��The�guidance�is�very�clear�that�they�have�

to�have�at�least�one�meeting�a�year�in�public.��If�not,�then�they�are�not�following�the�guidance�and�then�we�

would�have�to�look�at�whether�we�can�continue�to�fund�them.��We�are�setting�a�minimum,�not�a�maximum.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��You�are�saying�if�they�do�not�follow�the�guidance,�you�will�not�continue�to�fund�them?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��We�have�to�recognise�it�is�guidance.��It�is�

light-touch�guidance�but�certainly�we�want�them�to�be�public-facing.��We�want�them�to�be�the�voice�of�the�

Page 56



 

 

public�and�consistently�holding�meetings�in�private�is�not�in�line�with�the�guidance.��Where�you�have�specific�

cases�of�an�SNB�not�following�the�guidance�and�not�even�hitting�the�minimum,�we�need�to�be�aware�of�that.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��I�appreciate�the�guidance�is�light-touch�but�there�are�some�things�I�do�not�think�you�can�

afford�to�be�light-touch�about�and�this�is�probably�one�of�them.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Given�that�we�want�to�have�public�

engagement,�the�minimum�is�a�fairly�low�bar.��If�a�group�whose�mission�is�to�increase�the�engagement�of�the�

public�on�public�safety�issues�is�not�even�having�one�meeting�in�public,�it�is�a�cause�of�considerable�concern.���

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��All�right.��That�sends�a�pretty�clear�message�to�the�people�who�are�not�doing�that.��What�

about�raising�awareness�of�the�work�that�SNBs�do?��What�guidance�are�you�providing�for�them�to�do�that?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��We�have�our�own�way�of�being�able�to�

help�and�promote�in�the�MOPAC�website,�which�helps�to�publicise�the�work�that�SNBs�are�doing.��We�are�

hopefully�using�the�projects�that�they�do�themselves:�the�work�that�they�are�doing�in�Neighbourhood�Watch�in�

Barnet�or�some�projects�that�Wandsworth�and�Croydon�are�doing�to�tackle�youth�violence�and�sexual�violence.��

The�projects�in�themselves,�for�their�communities,�are�what�should�draw�attention�to�what�they�do,�not�the�

meetings�themselves,�although�they�may�be�extremely�exciting.��They�are�the�things�that�we�need�to�publicise.��

We�need�essentially�to�do�a�suite�of�publicity�of�the�very�best�projects�and�how�they�have�benefited�the�

communities�that�they�serve.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��You�are�right�that�the�more�relevant�the�work�they�are�doing�is�to�their�community,�the�

more�likely�they�are�to�get�meaningful�involvement.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Yes.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��How�do�you�ensure�that�they�are�representative�of�the�communities�they�serve?��We�had�

this�concern�that�the�same�people�who�were�involved�before�would�just�transfer�forward�to�the�new�structure�

and�you�would�have�a�new�structure�but�the�same�old�people.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��We�have�taken�the�same�approach�as�we�

have�with�holding�public�meetings.��We�would�like�them�to�hold�them�all�in�public�but�at�least�one,�and�then�

we�would�like�to�have�one�public�event�at�least,�one�crime�summit.��Membership,�again,�is�not�prescriptive:�it�

just�says�we�need�to�have�a�voice�of�the�victim,�we�need�to�have�a�voice�of�a�young�person,�we�need�a�voice�of�

an�elected�member�and�we�need�a�voice�of�the�wider�community.��Provided�we�get�a�sense�that�we�have�

people�there�who�are�representing�some�of�the�constituencies�of�a�borough,�then�the�guidance�has�been�met.��

It�has�been�very�different�across�London.��Sometimes�we�have�seen�wholesale�sweeping�changes�and�new�

groups�of�people�have�moved�in;�in�others,�it�has�been�pretty�much�a�similar�group�of�people.���

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��Would�it�be�appropriate�for�MOPAC�to�provide�advice,�maybe,�if�some�of�the�SNBs�are�

struggling�or�if�the�work�they�are�doing�is�not�as�relevant�to�their�community�as�it�might�be,�to�help�them�to�

open�up�and�to�find�the�right�people�to�serve�in�that?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��It�would�be.��Certainly�we�have�been�here�

when�we�have�guidance�to�the�SNBs.��We�give�them�a�picture�of�the�kinds�of�things�they�could�do,�we�give�

them�some�ideas�and�also�we�would�give�them�information�about�public�safety�and�crime�issues�in�their�space.��

Clearly,�we�can�give�advice�but�we�want�them�to�be�self-standing�and�sovereign�rather�than�just�‘do�what�we�

Page 57



 

 

say’�agencies�of�MOPAC.��They�are�there�to�do�what�they�think�is�best�for�their�community,�but�advice�we�can�

always�offer�and�you�guys�can�offer�advice�as�well.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��I�am�sure�we�will.��One�of�my�ongoing�concerns�here�is�around�online�crime�and�I�know�

some�of�the�SNBs�have�suggested�they�would�like�more�information�about�this�because�they�regard�it�as�a�

worrying�issue�too.��What�is�MOPAC�doing�to�support�them�in�what�is�quite�a�complex�and�specialist�area�of�

crime?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��It�is.��You�have�done�some�great�work�on�

this,�Roger.��I�would�say�it�is�the�sort�of�crime�where�we�need�much�better�information.��The�information,�as�

you�know,�first�and�foremost�sits�for�London�with�the�City�of�London�Police.��We�have�tried�to�unpack�and�get�

the�information�about�fraud�packages�and�how�they�are�disseminated�and�get�clearer�information�about�how�

many�fraudsters�are�convicted.��Getting�that�information�has�been�slow.��Now�that�we�have�information�

through�the�Business�Crime�Strategy,�we�are�updating�our�data�packs�to�provide�the�fraud�information�that�is�

relevant�for�particular�boroughs.��It�is�an�issue�-�we�hear�this�all�the�time�-�where�we�want�to�give�more�

information�so�that�they�can�do�something�with�that.���

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��You�would�be�able�to�alert�them�about�new�scams�as�they�appear?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��Correct.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��Certainly,�talking�to�my�own�safer�neighbourhood�people,�that�is�the�sort�of�thing�they�feel�

they�would�find�useful.�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��We�can�certainly�give�them�an�idea�of�the�

general�threats�and�scams.��There�is�also�a�very�useful�book�which�not�enough�people�have�seen,�The�Book�of�

Scams.��Yes,�we�can�also�provide�intelligence.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��I�do�not�think�I�have�seen�that.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��It�is�a�very�good�one.��It�is�a�hundred�

scams.��I�am�not�sure�if�it�is�up-to-date�but�it�is�still�interesting�reading.��Also,�the�scams�are�changing�all�the�

time.��We�are�now�refining�our�data�pack�to�provide�and�cover�online�data.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��Thank�you.���

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):I�have�been�contacted�by�one�SNB�that�says�there�is�some�lack�of�clarity�

about�whether�it�can�ask�questions�and�hold�local�authority�‘parks�police’�-�they�are�not�police�officers�but�are�

termed�‘parks�police’�-�to�account.��Is�there�any�guidance�or�you�aware�of�some�SNBs�where�local�authorities�

do�allow�that�level�of�scrutiny�of�their�own�community�safety�teams,�wardens�and�other�sorts,�or�is�that�not�

something�that�is�in�the�guidance�at�the�moment?�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��The�ambition,�I�would�say,�is�for�a�group�

of�people�concerned�about�public�safety�and�it�would�make�sense�to�be�able�to�not�just�hold�the�police�to�

account,�although�that�is�important,�but�also�wider�public�safety�agencies�as�well.���

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��I�suspect�there�would�be�quite�a�lot�of�resistance�from�some�local�

authorities,�but�it�might�be�something�you�want�to�consider�when�you�are�developing�this.�

�

Roger�Evans�AM:��Parking�wardens?�

Page 58



 

 

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��It�all�has�an�impact.�

�

Stephen�Greenhalgh�(Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime):��This�is�all�iterative,�but�the�reality�is�also�

that�community�safety�departments�will�reduce�in�scope.��That�is�one�of�the�big�concerns.�

�

One�of�the�areas�SNBs�will�need�to�focus�on�is�to�what�extent�CCTV�is�working�in�their�boroughs.��That�is�an�

issue�that�they�need�to�be�concerned�on.��The�whole�community�safety�role�is�something�that�is�important�and�

how�that�works�hand-in-hand�with�neighbourhood�policing�is�something�worthy�of�scrutiny.�

�

Joanne�McCartney�AM�(Chair):��Thank�you.��We�have�no�further�questions.��Thank�you�for�your�time�this�

morning.�

�

�

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                      

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk


 

Subject:
Summary
List
of
Actions


�

Report
to:
 Police
and
Crime
Committee




Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat�



Date:
22
October
2015




This
report
will
be
considered
in
public�







1.
 Summary



�

1.1 This�report�sets�out�for�noting�actions�arising�from�previous�meetings�of�the�Committee.�

�

�

2.
 Recommendation




2.1 That
the
Committee
notes
the
outstanding
actions
arising
from
previous
meetings
of
the


Committee,
as
listed
in
the
report.









Meeting
of
24
September
2015





Minute

item


Subject
and
action
required
 Status
 Action
by




9� Question
and
Answer
Session
with
the


Mayor’s
Office
for
Policing
and
Crime


(MOPAC)
and
the
Metropolitan
Police


Service
(MPS).





During�the�discussion,�the�Commissioner,�MPS,�

undertook�to�provide�the�Committee�with:�

• An�update�on�the�shortfall�in�the�budget�

of�£1.6�million�related�to�transport�

policing;�and�

• An�analysis�of�how�the�various�strands�of�

Operation�Omega�contribute�to�tackling�

violence.�

�

The�Committee�will�meet�informally�with�the�

Commissioner�and�the�Deputy�Commissioner�to�

receive�a�briefing�on�the�options�that�the�MPS�is�

considering�to�deal�with�a�potential�reduction�in�

its�future�funding.��




�

�

�

�

�

In�progress�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

MPS�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Continued�…�

�

Agenda Item 4

Page 61



Minute

item


Subject
and
action
required
 Status
 Action
by




� During�the�discussion,�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�

Policing�and�Crime�undertook�to:��

• Find�out�and�inform�the�Committee�as�to�

why�the�Community�Development�

Foundation�has�been�engaged�to�

support�boroughs�on�implementing�

Shield;��

• Provide�the�Committee�with�the�number�

of�Safer�Neighbourhood�Boards�(SNBs)�

that�have�bank�accounts;��

• Examine�and�report�back�to�the�

Committee�on�the�issues�raised�

regarding:�(a)�the�level�of�core�funding�

for�SNBs;�and�the�difficulties�SNBs�had�

experienced�in�accessing�available�

funding;�and�

• Report�back�to�the�Committee�about�the�

reasons�for�the�collective�enforcement�

undertaken�in�Lambeth.��

�

In�progress� MOPAC�







Meeting
of
10
September
2015





Minute

item


Subject
and
action
required
 Status
 Action
by




5.� Gangs
and
Serious
Youth
Violence


�

During�the�discussion,�Commander�Ball,�MPS,�

undertook�to�provide�the�Committee�with:�

• A�breakdown�of�the�number�of�police�

officers�in�borough�gangs�teams;�

• A�copy�of�the�operational�impact�

assessment�done�for�the�Shield�pilot;�and�

• The�evaluation�date�for�Shield.�

�

During�the�discussion,�the�Committee�agreed�to�

write�to�the�MPS�to�seek�further�information�on�

the�database,�being�developed�by�the�MPS,�on�

people�who�were�vulnerable�to�gangs�and�was�

asked�to�provide�responses�to�the�following�

questions:��

�

• What�criteria�are�used�for�identifying�a�

gang�member?�

�

�

In�progress�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

MPS�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Continued�…�

�

Page 62



Minute

item


Subject
and
action
required
 Status
 Action
by




• Do�all�Borough�Operation�Command�

Unit�Gang�teams�use�the�same�criteria�

for�identifying�who�are�included�in�the�

Gangs�Matrix?�

• What�information�and�evidence�

threshold�is�needed�before�an�individual�

is�placed�on�the�Matrix?�How�is�evidence�

corroborated�(for�example�is�evidence�

from�more�than�one�partner�agency�

required)?�

• Who�authorises�and�monitors�the�data�

on�the�Gangs�Matrix?�Please�include�

Police�ranking�if�applicable.�

• Who�has�access�to�the�Gangs�Matrix?�

• Do�any�civilian�agencies�have�access�to�

view�the�information�on�the�Gangs�

Matrix?�

• Will�potential�employers�or�universities�

be�able�to�see�if�individuals�appear�on�

the�Gangs�Matrix�when�conducting�a�

Disclosure�Barring�Service�Check?�

• When�will�an�individual�be�taken�off�the�
Matrix?��Please�give�details�of�the�
criteria�used�in�this�assessment.�
�

Following�reports�that�Haringey�and�Lambeth�

have�pulled�out�of�Shield,�Commander�Ball�was�

also�asked�to�provide�details�of�concerns�and�

where�that�left�Shield.�

�







Meeting
of
21
July
2015





Minute

item


Subject
and
action
required
 Status
 Action
by




5.� Question
and
Answer
Session
with
the


Mayor's
Office
for
Policing
and
Crime
and


the
Metropolitan
Police
Service


�

During�the�discussion,�the�Deputy�

Commissioner,�MPS,�undertook�to�provide�the�

Committee�with:�

• The�number�of�Metropolitan�Police�officers�

who�had�visited�Northern�Ireland�for�water�

cannon�training�and�the�number�of�officers�

�

�

�

�

In�progress�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

MPS�

�

�

�

�

Continued�…�

�

Page 63



Minute

item


Subject
and
action
required
 Status
 Action
by




from�the�Northern�Ireland�Police�Service�

who�had�travelled�to�London�and�the�

frequency�of�the�visits;�

• Confirmation,�once�it�is�known,�as�to�

whether�national�guidance�on�Taser�use�

will�be�amended�as�a�result�of�the�Begley�

case;�

• Whether�there�were�plans�to�publish�the�

minutes�of�the�Taser�Reference�Group�in�

order�to�aid�transparency;�

• Which�two�London�boroughs�had�increased�

their�number�of�Taser�trained�officers;�

• Data�illustrating�whether�the�number�of�

emotionally�vulnerable�people�affected�by�

Taser�usage�had�risen�in�2015;��

• The�report�on�Operation�Strong�Tower�

once�it�is�published;�

• The�resources�and�costs�arising�from�

Operation�Omega;�

• How�the�14�languages�in�the�MPS’s�

month-long�recruitment�pilot�were�chosen;�

and�

• The�report�of�the�MPS’s�month�long-

recruitment�pilot�to�MOPAC,�once�

complete.�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

6.� Responses�to�Scrutiny�Report:�




Breaking
the
Cycle:
Reducing
youth


Reoffending
in
London�

�

�

In�progress�for�

receiving�

responses�to�the�

report.��

�

�

�

MOPAC�

�

�

�

Continued�…�

�







Page 64



Meeting
of
9
July
2015





Minute

item


Subject
and
action
required
 Status
 Action
by




5.� Question
and
Answer
Session
with
the


Mayor
of
London,
Deputy
Mayor
for


Policing
and
Crime,
Commissioner
and


Deputy
Commissioner
of
the
Metropolitan


Police
Service�

�

During�the�discussion,�the�Commissioner�of�

Police�of�the�Metropolis�undertook�to�share�the�

MPS’s�three-year�financial�plan�with�the�

Assembly�as�soon�as�possible.�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

In�progress.�

�

�

�

�

�

�

MPS�

�

�

�

�







Meeting
of
25
June
2015





Minute

item


Subject
and
action
required
 Status
 Action
by




8.� Question
and
Answer
Session
with
the


Mayor's
Office
for
Policing
and
Crime
and


the
Metropolitan
Police
Service
-
Part
2


 

During�the�discussion�the�Chief�Operating�

Officer,�MOPAC,�undertook�to�provide�

information�about�the�cost�of�procuring�body�

worn�video�cameras�once�the�procurement�

process�had�concluded.�




�

�

�

�

In�progress�

�

�

�

�

�

�

MOPAC�

�

�

�

�










Meeting
of
26
March
2015





Minute

item


Subject
and
action
required
 Status
 Action
by




5.� Question
and
Answer
Session
with
the


Mayor's
Office
for
Policing
and
Crime
and


the
Metropolitan
Police
Service


�

During�the�discussion,�Lord�Carlile�CBE�QC�

agreed�to�share�the�work�programme�of�the�

London�Policing�Ethics�Panel�(LPEP),�which�

would�be�produced�after�the�general�election.�
�
The�LPEP�now�has�its�own�website:�
http://www.policingethicspanel.london/�

�

�

�

�

�

In�progress�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Lord�Carlile�CBE�QC�

�

�

�

�

�

Continued�…�

�




Page 65



Complaints
about
the
Mayor’s
Office
for
Policing
and
Crime
and
the
Deputy
Mayor
for


Policing
and
Crime
(DMPC)





Minute


item


Subject
and
action
required
 Status
 Action
by





Deadline,
if


applicable



5.� Complaints
about
the
Mayor's


Office
for
Policing
and
Crime
and


the
Deputy
Mayor
for
Policing
and



Crime
(DMPC)


� � �

� The�Committee�agreed,�inter�alia,�to�

delegate�to�the�Monitoring�Officer�all�

of�the�powers�and�functions�conferred�

on�it�by�the�Elected�Local�Policing�

Bodies�(Complaints�and�Misconduct)�

Regulations,�with�the�exception�of�the�

functions�set�out�at�Part�4�of�the�

Regulations�which�may�not�be�

delegated;�and�guidance�on�the�

handling�of�complaints�which�requires�

the�Monitoring�Officer�to�report,�on�a�

regular�basis,�the�summary�details�

(such�as�can�be�reported�in�public),�on�

the�exercise�of�any�and�all�of�these�

functions�to�the�Committee�for�

monitoring�purposes.�

�

No�disclosures�to�report�

for�the�period��

29�September�2015�to�

13�October�2015.��

�

Monitoring�

Officer�

n/a�

6.� Transparency
Procedure
 � � �

� The�Committee�agreed�Members�

disclose�to�the�Executive�Director�of�

Secretariat�or�his�nominated�

representative�(within�28�days�of�the�

contact)�details�of�any�significant�

contact�with�the�MPS�and/or�MOPAC�

which�they�consider�to�be�relevant�to�

the�work�of�the�Committee;�and�such�

disclosures�be�reported�to�the�next�

meeting�of�the�Committee.�




No�disclosures�to�report�

for�the�period��

29�September�2015�to�

13�October�2015.��

�

Executive�

Director�of�

Secretariat�

n/a�







Appendices
to
this
report:




None�

�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�None�

Contact�Officer:� Joanna�Brown�and�Teresa�Young,�Senior�Committee�Officers��

Telephone:� 020�7983�6559�

E-mail:� joanna.brown@london.gov.uk;�and�teresa.young@london.gov.uk�

��

Page 66



 

                                                                      

City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk


 

Subject:
Question
and
Answer
Session
with
the

Mayor’s
Office
for
Policing
and
Crime
and
the

Metropolitan
Police
Service


 

Report
to:
 Police
and
Crime
Committee




Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat 



Date:
22
October
2015�



This
report
will
be
considered
in
public�
 





1.
 Summary




1.1 This�report�serves�as�a�background�paper�to�the�monthly�question�and�answer�session�with�the�

Mayor’s�Office�for�Policing�and�Crime�(MOPAC)�and�the�Metropolitan�Police�Service�(MPS).��

�

�

2.
 Recommendations�



2.1 That
the
Committee
notes,
as
background
to
the
question
and
answer
session
with
the


Deputy
Mayor
for
Policing
and
Crime
and
the
Metropolitan
Police
Service,
the
monthly


report
from
MOPAC
attached
at
Appendix
1.






2.2 That
the
Committee
notes,
as
background
to
the
question
answer
session
with
the
Deputy


Mayor
for
Police
and
Crime
and
the
Metropolitan
Police
Service,
a
summary
table


(attached
at
Appendix
2)
setting
out
the
impact
of
the
recommendations
in
the


Committee’s
report,
Tightening
the
Net.





2.3 That
the
Committee
notes
the
report
and
the
answers
given
by
the
Deputy
Mayor
for


Policing
and
Crime
and
the
MPS
to
the
questions
asked
by
Members.







3.
 Background




3.1 The�Committee�has�agreed�that�it�will�hold�monthly�question�and�answer�sessions�with�the�head�of�

MOPAC�and�invite�representation�from�the�MPS.���

�

3.2 MOPAC�produces�a�monthly�report�providing�an�update�on�policing�operational�and�financial�

performance,�as�well�as�the�activities�and�decisions�of�MOPAC.�The�report�is�used�to�inform�

questions�to�MOPAC�and�the�MPS�at�monthly�question�and�answer�sessions.�The�latest�report�is�

attached�at�Appendix
1.�

�

Agenda Item 5

Page 67



        

4.
 Issues
for
Consideration�
�

4.1� The�Committee�will�explore�topical�issues�of�importance�to�policing�and�crime�in�London.���




4.2� The�question�and�answer�session�with�Stephen�Greenhalgh,�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�

Crime�and�Craig�Mackey�QPM,�Deputy�Commissioner,�MPS,�is�likely�to�cover�the�following�topics:�

• Progress�against�the�Committee’s�recommendations�in�its�report,�Tightening�the�net,�

published�on�the�GLA’s�website�here1�(a�summary�table�of�the�recommendations�is�attached�

at�Appendix
2);�

• Stop�and�Search;�and�

• Custody�arrangements.�

�

�

5.
 Legal
Implications




5.1� The�Committee�has�the�power�to�do�what�is�recommended�in�this�report.








6.
 Financial
Implications

�

6.1� There�are�no�financial�implications�to�the�GLA�arising�from�this�report.�

�

�

List
of
appendices
to
this
report:




�

Appendix�1
–�MOPAC�Monthly�report�

Appendix�2�–�Summary�of�responses�to�the�recommendations�contained�in�the�Committee’s�report,�

Tightening�the�net.�

�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�There�are�none.�

�

Contact�Officer:� Matt�Bailey,�Assistant�Scrutiny�Manager�

Telephone:� 020�7983�4014�

E-mail:� matt.bailey@london.gov.uk��
 

                                                 
1�https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Tightening%20the%20net.pdf�

 

Page 68



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monthly Report to the  
Police and Crime Committee 
 
 
Thursday, 22 October 2015 
10am 
City Hall 
 
 
Stephen Greenhalgh 
Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 
 
 

 

 Page 69



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

This report is provided to the Police and Crime Committee (PCC) for its 24 September 2015 meeting to 
assist the Committee to exercise its function in scrutinising and supporting the Mayor’s Office for 
Policing And Crime (MOPAC) and to hold it to account. 
 
This report covers the period 12 September to 9 October 2015. 
 
In addition to my range of regular meetings and briefings with key stakeholders including senior MPS 
officers, below are the main activities I have been involved in and or MOPAC has been represented.  
 
 
2. MOPAC ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
London Crime Reduction Board 

 On 15 September, the Mayor chaired a meeting of the London Crime Reduction Board (LCRB). We 
discussed the impact of financial changes predicted in November’s Comprehensive Spending Review 
(CSR). All members of the LCRB outlined how they were planning to move forward after savings are 
announced and we agreed to work together to minimise the impact of reduced budgets. There was also 
a discussion on gangs and serious youth violence and an update on the Strategic Ambitions work that 
provides prevention, intervention and enforcement against gangs.  
 
On 29 September, I chaired the LCRB Gangs Panel. At the meeting, we reviewed an analysis of current 
crime data. The focus of the session was on prevention, with a review of progress against existing 
commitments and a discussion about how to link prevention partnership work.  
 
 
Meeting with Tony Lloyd 
On 22 September, the Mayor and I met with Tony Lloyd, the Interim Mayor of Greater Manchester and 
the Greater Manchester Police and Crime Commissioner. We discussed fiscal devolution to cities, 
criminal justice devolution and Police funding.  
 
 
Meetings with officials  
On 29 September, MOPAC was represented at a meeting with Dave Allen, Director Public Spending, 
Her Majesty Treasury (HMT). The meeting was held to discuss how to improve efficiency and 
effectiveness of the criminal justice system in London.  
 
On 1 October, MOPAC was represented at a regular meeting with HMIC Steve Otter. At this meeting, 
the findings from recent HMIC inspections was discussed. An overview of future planned inspections 
was also provided. 
 
 
Youth meetings 
On the 18 September, I gave a key note speech at the annual Youth Against Crime not Crime Against 
You (YACnCAY) summit held at City Hall. This local project which was set up five years ago in South 
London, provides intervention and prevention services for young people affected by and vulnerable to 
gangs and serious youth violence. The event was well attended by over 200 young people.  
 
On 23 September, I had my regular meeting with the Chair and Chief Executive of the Youth Justice 
Board (YJB). We discussed the Youth Justice Review that was recently announced by the Secretary of 
State and how we can work together in the context of significant budget challenges. 

 

 Page 70



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

 
On 29 September, I met with Baroness Lola Young to discuss the implementation of the 
recommendations from the Young Review Report. The Young Review works with government to 
improve outcomes for young black and Muslim men (aged 18-24) in the criminal justice system in 
England and Wales. I commended the work the Young Review are doing and agreed with Baroness 
Young that reducing re-offending is a key priority.  
 
On 7 October, I met with the Director of Move for Life. Move for Life is a social networking site, which 
enables charities to reach out to a wider audience, and lets young people know what help and activities 
are available to them.  We discussed a proposed campaign for reducing knife crime and agreed that 
knife crime continues to be a top priority. We spoke about the activity that MOPAC and the MPS are 
doing to combat knife crime, spending £6.8 million this year and undertaking almost 10,000 weapon 
searches in the last 9 months. 
 
On 7 October, the Commissioner and I facilitated a MOPAC/MPS schools conference which was 
attended by over 300 head teachers, teachers and school pastoral staff. The aim of the day was to 
explore how we could work collectively with teachers to keep our young people safe inside and 
outside of school. The event featured a range of speakers including Ofsted and the MsUnderstood 
Partnership and highlighted prevention work being undertaken in three London schools. Over the 
coming weeks we will be assessing feedback from teachers who attended and determining how we 
will build on the engagement to date and continue to work with schools.  
 
 
Devolved Criminal Justice Services  
On 23 September, I delivered a key note speech on Devolved Criminal Justice Services at the National 
Initiative for Leadership and Empowerment (NILE) event. NILE is a not-for-profit national organisation 
which is a consortium of BAME staff organisations in the Criminal Justice System (CJS). Its membership 
includes; the National Black Police Association and the Association of Black Probation Staff.  I outlined 
the benefits of greater devolution to London.  I also addressed some of the comments the audience 
had expressed in an online survey NILE had run to garner the views of BAME CJS staff on the issue of a 
devolved CJS in London. 
 
 
Meeting with staff associations 
On 23 September, I met with the Chair and Deputy Chair of the MPS Federation as part of our regular 
quarterly meetings. The meeting was an opportunity to listen to their concerns and update them with 
relevant information. 
 
 
Social Enterprise unit 
On 30 September, I went to visit Blue Sky, a social enterprise that solely employs ex-offenders. In 
partnership with Amey, Blue Sky has employed over 1000 ex-offenders. I spoke to some of the ex-
offenders employed by Blue Sky and saw first-hand the great work they are doing by offering ex-
offenders 6 months paid employment alongside support with rehabilitation.  
 
 
London Digital Security Centre 
On 1 October, I launched the new London Digital Security Centre (LDSC). The centre will be the “go 
to” resource providing the latest cyber industry guidance for all sizes of business but providing 
particular support to the Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) market. The model for the LDSC has been 
built around the Scottish Business Resilience Centre and the Director of SBRC, Mandy Haeburn-Little, 
is assisting London to establish a similar model for London. 

 

 Page 71



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

 
 
 
Undercover policing  
On 1 October, I met with Commander Richard Martin and Det. Superintendent Frankie Flood.  This was 
part of a series of meetings at which I am briefed on undercover policing.  In particular, at this meeting 
the recent report from the Office of Surveillance Commissioners was discussed. 
 
 
Crime Museum Uncovered 
On 9 October, The Mayor and I attended the new ‘Crime Museum Uncovered’ exhibition at the 
Museum of London. This is a fantastic exhibition showcasing some of the most important artefacts 
from the Crime Museum in Scotland Yard. Using evidence from real-life criminal investigations the 
exhibition – created in partnership with the MPS and MOPAC examines the changing nature of crime 
and advances in detection over the last 140 years.  It also gives a voice to the real people behind the 
crimes; victims, offenders and police officers alike.  While at the museum, we announced plans to 
create a permanent public home for the MPS’ collection of objects. 
  
 
 
  

 

 Page 72



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

 
3. PERFORMANCE 

3.1 Data  

Police data is now fully updated on the London datastore. In addition, more police and crime data and 
information can be found at http://www.london.gov.uk/priorities/policing-and-crime/data-info. 

An overview of key crime types as are below.  Where performance is not going in the right direction, I 
will be addressing this through the quarterly performance MOPAC Challenge 

Crime Type 
Oct 2013 - 
Sep 2014 

Oct 2014 - 
Sep 2015 

Percentage 
Change 

TNO 696,918 724,756 3.99% 

MOPAC Priority Offences       

Violence with Injury 65,424 71,843 9.81% 

Robbery 23,884 21,968 -8.02% 

Burglary 79,308 71,541 -9.79% 

Theft from the Person 33,371 34,098 2.18% 

Theft of motor vehicle 21,404 21,973 2.66% 

Theft from motor vehicle 56,347 49,909 -11.43% 

Criminal Damage 57,581 62,920 9.27% 

Rape Sanction Detections       

Rape SDs (absolute number) 717 648 -69 

Other Crime       

Property Portfolio 445,171 440,129 -1.13% 

Personal Robbery 22,219 20,278 -8.74% 

Residential Burglary 50,931 45,487 -10.69% 

Domestic Violence ‘Violence with Injury’ Offences 22,033 23,152 5.08% 

Knife Crime 9,518 10,013 5.20% 

Gun Crime 1,550 1,723 11.16% 

 

 

 Page 73



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

SUMMARY REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 
PERIOD 5 - 2015/16 

 
 
Corporate Overview 
 
The 2015/16 MOPAC budget was approved as part of the Mayor’s consolidated budget 23 February 
2015 and includes additional planned savings of £205.6m. This brings the total of budgeted savings to 
£572m between 2013/14 and 2015/16. 
 
 
Summary  
This report on the MOPAC/MPS finances for 2015/16 provides details of the forecast outturn financial 
position as at Period 5 for revenue and capital budgets.   
 
The Period 5 forecast is based on the Period 3 forecast adjusted only for significant changes.  A more 
detailed analysis will be provided as part of the Period 6 process and future quarterly reports. 
 
The revenue forecast shows an overspend of £39.6m. 
 
The major pressures and mitigations on this year‘s budget are: 
 

Pressures: £m 
Predominant explanation of variance 

Overtime 11.2 
Due to the workload in Specialist Crime & 
Operations (SC&O) 

Police and Staff Pay 7.9 Increased Agency staff costs 
Income 15.3 Delay in filling funded posts. 

Supplies and Services 
11.7 Higher than expected legal costs in relation 

to 3rd party provisions. 
   
Mitigations:   

PCSO 
(3.4) The numbers of PCSO staff are below the 

planned strength.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Page 74



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

 Revenue Financial Position – Period 5 
 
The annual forecast as at Period 5 is for a net overspend of £39.6m which is 1.7% of the Total Net 
Expenditure budget as detailed below.   

 

  Table 1 - Subjective comparison of year to date and forecast annual expenditure  

     and income to budget - Period 5 

Total 
Year 
to 

Date 
Budget  

£m 

Total 
Year to 

Date 
Actuals 

£m 

Total 
Year to 

Date 
Variance 

£m 

Period 5 - 2015/16 Revised 
Annual 
Budget 

£m 

Annual 
Forecast 

£m 

Total 
Annual 

Variance 
£m 

Total 
Annual 

Variance 
% 

733.5  731.8  -1.8  Police Officer Pay 1,777.2  1,777.1  -0.1  0.0% 

210.6  213.9  3.3  Police Staff Pay 509.9  517.8  7.9  1.5% 

28.5  28.4  -0.1  PCSO Pay 68.6  65.3  -3.4  -4.9% 

972.7  974.1  1.4  Total Pay 2,355.7  2,360.2  4.5  0.2% 

35.2  41.1  5.9  Police Officer Overtime 81.6  90.7  9.1  11.2% 

9.7  9.7  -0.1  Police Staff Overtime 23.4  25.5  2.1  9.1% 

0.1  0.1  -0.0  PCSO Overtime 0.3  0.3  -0.0  -0.5% 

45.1  50.8  5.7  Total  Overtime 105.3  116.5  11.2  10.7% 

1,017.8  1,024.9  7.1  Total Pay & Overtime 2,461.0  2,476.7  15.7  0.6% 

8.7  11.1  2.4  
Employee Related 
Expenditure 19.8  19.8  -0.0  -0.1% 

74.3  74.1  -0.2  Premises Costs 171.6  173.0  1.3  0.8% 

25.0  21.4  -3.6  Transport Costs 60.4  58.2  -2.2  -3.7% 

161.0  156.8  -4.2  Supplies & Services 406.1  417.8  11.7  2.9% 

269.1  263.5  -5.5  Total Running Expenses 658.0  668.7  10.7  1.6% 

21.1  21.1  -0.0  Capital Financing Costs 50.6  50.6  -0.0  0.0% 

14.9  14.0  -0.9  Discretionary Pension Costs 35.9  35.0  -0.9  -2.4% 

1,322.8  1,323.5  0.6  Total Gross Expenditure 3,205.5  3,231.0  25.5  0.8% 

-115.1  -104.4  10.7  Other Income -280.3  -265.0  15.3  -5.5% 

-203.2  -204.4  -1.1  Specific Grants -494.6  -495.9  -1.3  0.3% 

-4.6  -1.7  2.9  Transfers to/(from)Reserves -69.8  -69.9  -0.0  0.0% 

999.8  1,013.0  13.1  Total Net Expenditure 2,360.7  2,400.3  39.6  1.7% 

-974.2  -974.2  0.0  Funding (Grant & Precept) -2,360.7  -2,360.7  0.0  0.0% 

25.7  38.8  13.1  
Overall MPS & MOPAC 
Total -0.0  39.6  39.6  N/A 

 

  

 

 Page 75



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

Period 5 Commentary 

Summary of Key Issues  

Income 

There continues to be a forecast pressure of £15.3m. In the main this is due to not filling officer 
posts that are budgeted to be funded from external sources. The main areas of concern are Roads 
Policing and other unfilled and unsold posts.   

 

Supplies and Services 

The forecast outturn pressure remains at £11.7m; £7m of this relates to a top up to the MPS third 
party provision, in relation to claims made against MPS/MOPAC. The other forecast pressures are the 
additional cost of Forensic Medical Examiners (FMES’s) offset by reduced nurse pay, national 
Counter Terrorism Digital Policing costs, the additional volume of contracted forensics work, and 
various forecasted Digital Policing costs. These are offset by the reduced volume of demand on the 
Language Services contract.  

 

Police officer pay 

Projected police pay is within the agreed budget.   

 

Police staff pay 

There is a projected pressure this year of £7.9m which is as a result of the large number of temporary 
staff and the projected inability to lose staff at the rate required to balance the budget.  Business 
groups are required to manage police staff expenditure within the agreed budget. 

The 2015/16 pay award is currently being negotiated with the Trade Unions. The MPS’s offer will 
involve an additional unbudgeted cost of £1.5m in 2015/16 with savings in future years (as the pay 
awards proposed for 2015/16 and 2016/17 are non-consolidated).  The unbudgeted cost in 
2015/16 will be funded from the budget pressures reserve. The reserve will be replenished in 
2016/17 when the savings are made. 

 

Overtime 

Against current budgets there is an overall pressure of £11.2m, mainly on Police Officers (£9.2m). 
The majority of the overspend £5.3m is within Specialist Operations (SO) due to operational 
pressures, high level of vacancies and the threat level being increased to severe from August 2014. 
However this over spend should be funded by Protective Security and Counter Terrorism grants. 

Other pressures include £2.6m in SC&O due to the support for major operations provided by 
Specialist Firearms and Public Order and Resources, and £1.5m in regard to policing the Ecuadorian 
Embassy. 

The main pressures on the Police Staff Overtime budget are in Met Command and Control (£0.6m) 
and Forensics (£0.7m). 

 

PCSO pay 

PCSO pay is forecast to underspend by £3.4m at the end of the financial year. 

 

 Page 76



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

Capital  

The forecast spend is £258m which is £7m below the approved budget of £265m.  Gross capital 
receipts as at the end of August 2015 are £55m and the forecast remains £196m.   

 
  

 

 Page 77



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

5. CORRESPONDENCE AND MAYOR’S QUESTIONS MOPAC RESPONDED TO WITHIN 
AGREED TIMESCALES

 
MOPAC continues to manage and prioritise all correspondence and Mayor’s questions received, to 
ensure that it is meeting its obligation to respond to a high quality and in a timely manner. 
 
 
5.1 Mayor’s Questions (MQs)  
 
Mayor’s questions Total received Responded to 

within agreed 
timeframe 

In percentage 
terms 

April 2015 No MQs 
May 2015  92 83 90% 
June 2015 83 76 92% 
July 2015 112 90 80% 
August 2015 No MQs 
September 2015 178 151 85% 

Response rates are intrinsically linked to increases in volumes of correspondence and MQs received.  
In the month of September, MOPAC received a higher number of MQs, with some of them requiring a 
more detailed input from the MPS.  Despite this, MOPAC responded to 151 MQs within the agreed 
timeframe.  
 

 
Comparative data year on year MQs responded to. 

5.2 Correspondence received and responded to within 20 days 

MOPAC continues to receive a high volume of correspondence.   

Months Correspondence 
received 

Number responded to 
within 20 working days 

In percentage 
terms   

April 2015 197 190 96% 
May 2015 185 162 88% 
June 2015 261 247 95% 
July 2015 226 216 96% 
August 2015 160 146 91% 

 

 Page 78



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

Months Correspondence 
received 

Number responded to 
within 20 working days 

In percentage 
terms   

September 2015 162 160 99% 

Comparative data year on year of correspondence responded to.  

 

 Page 79



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

6. MOPAC BUSINESS AND MEETINGS 
In the last month, my office and I have had a range of meetings with key stakeholders, MPS officers, 
and in support of the Mayor.  
 
6.1 Regular meetings   

Meetings with the Mayor 

Bilateral with the Commissioner 

Meetings with MPS Management Board team members 

Meetings with MOPAC Senior Officers and Advisers 

Liaison meetings with Police and Crime Committee members. 

Meetings on Met Change and the Budget with the Deputy Commissioner  
and MPS Management Board 

Regular contact with the Home Office 

Regular contact with Crown Prosecution Service 
 
There are also frequent informal conversations with senior colleagues.  All meetings are covered in 
section 2 and 6.1.  
 
 
6.2  Decisions 
The following formal decisions have been made: 

Decision Number Formal Decisions made 

DMPCD 2015 30 Pension Forfeiture 

DMPCD 2015 84 MOPAC Budget Monitoring and Budget & Reserves Movements 
2015 - Period 3 

DMPCD 2015 86 CCTV Hub Relocation 

DMPCD 2015 101 Procurement requests August 2015  

DMPCD 2015 102 Mobility Programme – Mobile Devices  

DMPCD 2015 103 Body Worn Video Outline Business Case  

DMPCD 2015 104 Provision of Specialist Services  

DMPCD 2015 105 Secure Audit Software Agreement  

DMPCD 2015 107 Funding for Havens and Rape Crisis Centres in London  

DMPCD 2015 109 MOPAC Budget Monitoring 2015 – Period 4  

DMPCD 2015 112 Investment Requests September 2015  

DMPCD 2015 113 Pension Forfeiture  

 
 
6.3 Future MOPAC meetings are as below 

Date  MOPAC Meeting 

11 November 2015 MOPAC Challenge – Intrusive tactics 

9 December 2015 MOPAC Challenge -  Victims 

11 December 2015  MOPAC/MPS Audit Panel 

 

 Page 80



   MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 22 October 2015 

I regularly meet with my advisory panels including the Joint Investment Board (JIB) and Joint Asset 
Management Panel (JAMP). 
 
In addition, the London Policing Ethics Panel will meet on 3 November and 1 December 2015.  

 

 Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



Police and Crime Committee Online crime: impact tracker 

The Committee carried out a review of the Met’s approach to tackling online theft and fraud in 2014. A working group, chaired by Roger Evans AM, carried 

out the investigation on the Committee’s behalf and the Committee published its report in March 2015.  

The table below provides a summary of the impact of each of the recommendations and the extent to which they have been accepted by MOPAC and the 

Met using RAG (red, amber or green) status. RAG status provides a performance judgment: in this instance, red means the recommendation has not been 

accepted; amber means there has been some progress against the recommendation; and green means the recommendation has been implemented or 

substantively accepted.  

Committee’s recommendation Response Progress 

Recommendation 1:  

In the next year, MOPAC should 

commission criminologists and/or 

other academics to work with the Met 

to develop profiles of the different 

types of perpetrators of online crime 

that are based in London, in order to 

help the Met to tailor its response. The 

research should focus on low-level, 

high-volume online crimes; it should 

also pay particular attention to the 

extent to which perpetrators are 

currently involved in other forms of 

offending, or have been in the past. 

MOPAC says it is working with Operation Falcon from a crime 

prevention and target hardening viewpoint.  

MOPAC will work with the Operation Falcon team seconded 

to the London Digital Security Centre (LDSC) to assess 

whether there are particular archetypes of online offenders 

as seen through those prosecuted. There are currently eight 

Met Cyber Protect officers seconded into the LDSC team.  

The LDSC will work with MOPAC’s Evidence and Insight team 

of social researchers to assess whether there are any trends 

in offending patterns, for example using Police national 

computer data.  

This recommendation has been substantially 

accepted: MOPAC will take steps to get a 

better understanding of the profiles of 

offenders based in London. 

Recommendation 2:  

The Office for National Statistics 

should introduce specific questions 

into the Crime Survey for England and 

Wales to measure online victimisation. 

The Minister for Crime Prevention, in her response to the 

Committee’s report, stated that she agreed there is more to

do to ensure that crime statistics properly capture online 

crime. 

John Flatley, Head of Crime Statistics and Analysis at the 

There is some progress against this 

recommendation: both the Minister and the 

ONS accepted that we to ensure online 

crimes are capture in the statistics. 

It is yet to be seen, however, whether the 

P
age 83



Police and Crime Committee Online crime: impact tracker  
 

Committee’s recommendation Response Progress 

It should include these offences in the 

Crime Survey’s headline results from 

2016-17 onwards. 

Office for National Statistics, also responded to the 

Committee’s report. He said that the ONS has established a 

project to explore the feasibility of covering fraud and cyber-

crime in the main Crime Survey in the future. 

Crime Survey’s headline results will include 

online crimes such as cyber-fraud in the 

future. 

Recommendation 3:  

The Mayor’s Office for Policing and 

Crime should develop specific 

questions to capture individuals’ 

online victimisation in London, with a 

view to introducing them into its 

quarterly Public Attitudes Surveys 

from 2016-17 onwards. In addition, 

MOPAC should extend its Business 

Attitudes Survey to measure online 

victimisation among London’s 

businesses. It should publish the 

headline results from each survey on 

the London Datastore. 

MOPAC says its  analysts are assessing whether the new 

MyVoice survey of victims can include members of the public, 

and not just businesses.  

The Business Attitude Survey (BAS) asks businesses about 

online victimisation. It is in its second wave of interviews. 

MOPAC will publish its BAS results on the Business crime 

page of the MOPAC website.  

The PAS now includes questions about online 

crime/victimisation.  

 

This recommendation has been accepted. 

Recommendation 4:  

The Mayor, in partnership with the 

City of London Police and other key 

stakeholders, should lead a London-

wide campaign during 2015-16 to draw 

attention to the threat of online crime 

and raise awareness of Action Fraud to 

improve reporting of crime by 

MOPAC says it is working through the LDSC with a number of 

partners on a series of masterclass briefings for businesses 

on cyber-crime and fraud.  

The first was held on 26 May in City Hall, opened by the 

Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and London Chairman 

of the Federation of Small Businesses, with talks from Sophos 

and City of London Police, who are promoting Action Fraud 

and the law enforcement response to fraud in these 

There is some progress against this 

recommendation: MOPAC is attempting to 

raise awareness about Action Fraud among 

businesses. 

However, MOPAC’s response did not explain 

what it is doing to raise awareness among 

the public. And it not comment on whether it 

would use the Mayor to raise the profile of 

P
age 84



Police and Crime Committee Online crime: impact tracker  
 

Committee’s recommendation Response Progress 

individuals and businesses. presentations through the LDSC.  

The LDSC is also actively engaged with Barclays and the Royal 

Bank of Scotland and presenting at their events for SMEs, and 

are promoting Action Fraud there too.  

its campaign. 

Recommendation 5:  

 MOPAC should help Safer 

Neighbourhood Boards (SNBs) to raise 

awareness about online crime and the 

role of Action Fraud. It should provide 

SNBs with borough-level fraud and 

online crime statistics to help them to 

identify vulnerable groups in their area. 

To begin with, MOPAC should pilot 

events at meetings for two Safer 

Neighbourhood Boards. It should then 

collect findings from these meetings 

and feed these back to all other boards 

across London by the end of 2015-16. 

MOPAC says it will take the activity of the LDSC to SNBs after 

its initial tranche of roadshows are complete later in 2015. 

LDSC will work on a programme of engagement on digital 

issues through the SNBs.  

 

This recommendation has been substantially 

accepted: MOPAC intends to engage with 

SNBs as the Committee suggested. 

Recommendation 6:  

To help the Met to avoid viewing 

cyber-crime in isolation, MOPAC 

should commit that its future 

strategies across all themes will 

directly address pertinent internet 

risks. 

MOPAC says it is already considering how the digital 

environment can enable stalking and harrassment. These 

risks have been written into the Hate Crime Strategy.  

MOPAC ensures that all its strategies cover the online nature 

of crime and abuse.  

 

This recommendation has been accepted. 

Recommendation 7:  The Commissioner, in his formal response to the report, said This recommendation has been substantially 

P
age 85



Police and Crime Committee Online crime: impact tracker  
 

Committee’s recommendation Response Progress 

Before the Met expands the FALCON 

command to phase three, it should 

assess whether it would be more 

beneficial to operate with a higher 

proportion of expert civilian staff 

relative to warranted officers. 

that FALCON has embarked on a Police Staff Investigator 

programme to explore the Met’s ability to recruit and retain 

non-warranted staff, enabling them to work alongside 

detectives to combat cyber-crime. Currently nine staff 

members are undertaking the programme. 

accepted: the Met recognises that civilian 

staff, as well as, police officers will be an 

important resource to help tackle online 

theft and fraud. 

Recommendation 8:  

MOPAC should develop and publish an 

online crime performance dashboard 

on a quarterly basis from 2016-17 

onwards. Once the data is available, 

the dashboard should include the 

headline levels of online victimisation 

reported in its public and business 

attitudes surveys. The dashboard 

should also include the number of 

referrals that the Met receives through 

Action Fraud, as well as the proportion 

of positive and negative outcomes. 

And it should include suitable 

performance indicators that 

demonstrate the work that the Met is 

doing to prevent online crime and 

disrupt cyber-criminals. 

In its response, MOPAC stated that it already hears about the 

impact of fraud on businesses through its Business Crime 

Change Board which the Deputy Mayor for Policing and 

Crime chairs jointly with the Deputy Commissioner, including 

the number of positive outcomes of National Fraud 

Investigation Bureau referrals from Operation Falcon.  

 

MOPAC is launching a fraud dashboard after the July Business 

Crime Change Board. This is about positive outcomes of fraud 

reports from Action Fraud.  

 

This recommendation has been accepted in 

part: MOPAC says it is launching a fraud 

dashboard.  

Recommendation 9:  

The Met should identify a senior 

The Commissioner, in his formal response to the report, 

stated that he has appointed Commander Duncan Ball to be 

This recommendation has been accepted in 

full. 

P
age 86



Police and Crime Committee Online crime: impact tracker  
 

Committee’s recommendation Response Progress 

ranking officer (ACPO level), to be 

responsible for mainstreaming cyber-

crime across the whole of the force. 

the ACPO lead for mainstreaming cyber-crime across the 

Met. 

Recommendation 10 

In August 2015, once the FALCON 

command has been operating for a 

year, the Met should extend FALCON’s 

buddying system outside of the 

command. For example, police officers 

and staff based in borough teams 

could be buddied with those based in 

FALCON’s Volume Fraud Teams. 

The Commissioner, in his formal response to the report, 

explained that the Met has taken steps to establish informal 

support outside of the command, including a formalised 

support mechanism between FALCON Volume Fraud Teams 

and borough teams. This will include “investigation surgeries” 

where advice on specific enquiries outside of FALCON’s remit 

can be sought. The response did not include a specific 

commitment to introduce a buddying system, however. 

This recommendation has been accepted in 

part: the Met is taking some steps to help to 

integrate the FALCON command with the rest 

of the organisation. 

Recommendation 11 

The Met should set a deadline for when 

it wants all staff with public contact 

and/or investigative duties to have 

undertaken the cyber-crime e-learning 

programme. It should also assess 

whether it needs to extend Mainstream 

Cyber-Crime training to officers and 

staff outside of the FALCON command 

and, if so, by when. 

The Commissioner, in his formal response to the report, 

stated that the Met expects all staff that have contact with 

the public and/or investigative duties to have undertaken 

relevant cyber-crime training. 

This recommendation has been accepted. 

 

P
age 87



P
age 88

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                    

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk


 

Subject:�Police
and
Crime�Committee
Work

Programme
�




Report
to:
 Police
and
Crime
Committee




Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat�



Date:
22
October
2015


This
report
will
be
considered
in
public�






1.
 Summary




1.1 This�report�sets�out�the�work�programme�for�the�Police�and�Crime�Committee.��

�

�

2.
 Recommendation

�

2.1�� That
the
Committee
notes
its
work
programme,
as
set
out
in
paragraph
4.1
of
this
report.








3.
 Background




3.1 The�Committee’s�work�programme�is�intended�to�enable�the�Committee�to�effectively�fulfil�its�roles�

of�holding�the�Mayor’s�Office�for�Policing�and�Crime�(MOPAC)�to�account�and�investigating�issues�

of�importance�to�policing�and�crime�reduction�in�London.�The�Committee’s�work�involves�a�range�of�

activities,�including�formal�meetings�with�MOPAC,�the�Metropolitan�Police�Service�(MPS)�and�other�

stakeholders,�site�visits,�written�consultations�and�round�table�meetings.��

�

3.2 The�Committee�will�usually�meet�twice�a�month.�One�of�the�monthly�meetings�is�usually�used�to�hold�

a�question�and�answer�session�with�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Policing�and�Crime.�The�Commissioner�of�

the�MPS�has�been�invited�to�these�meetings.�The�Committee�will�primarily�use�question�and�answer�

(Q&A)�meetings�to�investigate�topical�issues�and�review�MPS�performance,�including�consideration�

of�MOPAC’s�approach�to�holding�the�MPS�to�account.��

�

3.3 The�Committee’s�other�monthly�meeting�is�used�to�consider�a�particular�topic�or�aspect�of�policing�

and�crime�in�greater�detail.�These�investigations�will�be�conducted�either�by�the�full�Committee�or�

working�groups.�Working�groups�will�have�delegated�authority�to�prepare�reports�on�the�

Committee’s�behalf�in�consultation�with�party�Group�Lead�Members.�Final�reports�will�be�approved�

and�published�by�the�full�Committee.�Where�possible,�working�groups�will�make�use�of�the�dates�

schedules�for�the�Committee’s�‘thematic’�meetings.��

�

�

�

Agenda Item 6

Page 89



        

4.
 Issues
for
Consideration�

� 


4.1 The�work�programme�has�been�designed�to�proactively�examine�issues�of�interest�but�also�allows�for�

flexibility�to�respond�to�topical�issues�and�for�the�Committee�to�react�to�MOPAC’s�work�programme.�

Topics�will�be�added�to�the�timetable�for�Q&A�meetings�as�they�arise.�The�Committee’s�work�

programme�currently�includes:��

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

� Preventing
extremism


4.2 The�Committee’s�current�investigation�is�examining�the�application�of�the�Government’s�Prevent�

Strategy�in�London,�and�the�ways�in�which�London�works�to�prevent�extremism.�Prevent�is�one�of�

four�elements�of�the�Government’s�counter-terrorism�strategy,�CONTEST�(the�others�are�Pursue,�

Protect�and�Prepare).�It�provides�a�framework�and�funding�to�tackle�extremism�at�a�local�level.�The�

Committee�has�received�evidence�from�a�range�of�guests,�including�academics,�London�boroughs,�

and�the�former�independent�reviewer�of�terrorism�legislation,�Lord�Alex�Carlile.�Members�visited�

Birmingham�on�22�July�2015�to�hear�from�Birmingham�City�Council,�West�Midlands�Police�and�other�

partners�on�their�approach�to�preventing�extremism.��

�

4.3 The�Committee�is�also�investigating�crime�on�public�transport�in�London.�While�crime�across�the�

public�transport�network�remains�relatively�low,�challenges�exist,�such�as�the�rise�in�sexual�offences�

across�the�public�transport�network.�The�investigation�will�consider�how�to�reduce�crime�and�improve�

safety�on�public�transport,�and�how�the�Mayor�is�working�with�key�partners�to�achieve�these�goals.�





5.
 Legal
Implications




5.1� The�Committee�has�the�power�to�do�what�is�recommended�in�this�report.






6.
 Financial
Implications

�

6.1� There�are�no�financial�implications�to�the�GLA�arising�from�this�report.�

�

�

List
of
appendices
to
this
report:

None


November

 Thursday�12�November�2015�

Thematic�meeting�–�Transport�

crime�

Thursday�26�November�2015�

Q&A�meeting�

December
 Thursday�3�December�2015�

Thematic�meeting�–�tbc�

Thursday�17�December�2015�

Q&A�meeting�

Page 90



        

�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�None.�

�

Contact�Officer:� Janette�Roker,�Scrutiny�Manager�

Telephone:� 020�7983�6562�

E-mail:� janette.roker@london.gov.uk�




Page 91



Page 92

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Appendix 1 - Transcript  -  Police and Crime Committee

	4 Summary List of Actions
	5 Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service
	Appendix 1 - monthly MOPAC report
	Appendix 2 - Online crime - impact tracker

	6 Police and Crime Committee Work Programme

